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PARTI
Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that involve risks and uncertainties, including statements regarding our capital needs, business strategy,

expectations and intentions. Statements that use the terms believe, do not believe, anticipate, expect, plan, estimate, intend and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and

because our business is subject to numerous risks, uncertainties and other factors, our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated

in the forward-looking statements, including those set forth below under Item 1. Business, Item 1A. Risk Factors, Item 7. Management s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and elsewhere in this report. Actual results will most likely differ

from those reflected in these statements, and the differences could be substantial. We disclaim any obligation to publicly update these

statements, or disclose any difference between our actual results and those reflected in these statements. The information constitutes

forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The factors set forth below under Item

1. Business, Item 1A. Risk Factors, Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and other
cautionary statements made in this report should be read and understood as being applicable to all related forward-looking statements wherever

they appear in this report.

Item 1. Business
Overview

Through our 80% owned MSV Investors, LLC subsidiary ( MSV Investors Subsidiary ), we are an active participant in Mobile Satellite Venture

LP joint venture ( MSV Joint Venture ), a joint venture that also includes TMI Communications, Inc. ( TMI ), Motient Corporation ( Motient ) and
certain other investors (collectively, the Other MSV Investors ). The MSV Joint Venture is currently a provider of mobile digital voice and data
communications services via satellite in the United States and Canada, while pursuing plans to develop, build and operate a next-generation

satellite system complemented by an ancillary terrestrial component ( ATC ). Our MSV Investors Subsidiary owns approximately 23% of the

limited partnership interests of the MSV Joint Venture. In addition, our MSV Investors Subsidiary owns approximately 17% of TerreStar

Networks Inc. ( TerreStar ), which is also pursuing plans to develop, build and operate a next-generation satellite system complemented by an

ATC in the 2 GHz band.

Historically, we have operated our business through a group of complementary companies in the telecommunications industry. These companies
include: (i) the MSV Joint Venture; (ii) Hughes Network Systems, LLC ( HNS ), a leading developer, manufacturer, installer and provider of
advanced satellite based networking solutions and services for businesses, governments and consumers worldwide; (iii) Electronic System
Products, Inc. ( ESP ), formerly a product development and engineering services firm which is currently focusing on maximizing the license
revenues from its intellectual property portfolio and (iv) AfriHUB, LLC ( AfriHUB ), an early stage company that provides a limited amount of
satellite based Internet access and domestic and international calling services through exclusive partnerships with certain Nigerian based
universities while it actively pursues opportunities to provide technical training in the Nigerian market.

On February 21, 2006, we completed the distribution (the Distribution ) of all of the common stock of Hughes Communications, Inc. ( Hughes ),
formerly a wholly-owned subsidiary, which held our interests in HNS, ESP and AfriHUB, among other things, to our security holders.

Following the Distribution, Hughes will be considered the divesting entity and treated as the accounting successor to us for financial reporting
purposes, and we will be treated as if we had been distributed by Hughes. As such, we have included unaudited pro forma financial information

in Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations under Item 7 of this Form 10-K which presents our
results of operations for the years ended
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December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 assuming the Distribution occurred on January 1, 2003 and our financial position assuming the Distribution
occurred on December 31, 2005.

For nearly a year, we have been and are continuing to pursue discussions with Motient and the other partners in the MSV Joint Venture and the
other stockholders of TerreStar regarding a variety of potential structures to effect the consolidation of the ownership of each of the MSV Joint
Venture and TerreStar. Consummation of any consolidation transactions will require successful completion of due diligence, negotiation and
execution of definitive documentation and various regulatory approvals, and may also require the approval of the stockholders of one or more of
the parties to the transactions. We can provide no assurances that any or both consolidations transaction will be consummated, or that the
required corporate or regulatory approvals will be obtained.

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1985 as International Cogeneration Corporation.
MSYV Joint Venture

Through our MSV Investors Subsidiary, we are an active participant in the MSV Joint Venture, a joint venture that also includes TMI, Motient,
and the Other MSV Investors. The MSV Joint Venture is currently a provider of mobile digital voice and data communications services via
satellite in the United States and Canada while pursuing plans to develop, build and operate a next-generation satellite system complemented by
an ATC, enabling it to reach rural areas via satellite and function in urban settings and indoors through the terrestrial component. We have
designated three members of the 13-member board of directors of the MSV Joint Venture s corporate general partner.

Formation and Structure of MSV Joint Venture

The MSV Joint Venture was formed in June 2000 as a subsidiary of Motient. In November 2001, following the receipt of regulatory and other
governmental approvals, including approvals under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act, by the Federal Communications
Commission (the FCC ) and by Canadian regulatory authorities, Motient and TMI, a subsidiary of Bell Canada Enterprises, contributed their
respective satellite assets to the MSV Joint Venture. The assets and authorizations of the satellite business formerly owned by Motient that were
contributed to the MSV Joint Venture included a satellite with coverage of most of the United States and Canada and its surrounding waters and
the associated existing FCC licenses and authorizations. The assets and authorizations of the satellite business contributed to the MSV Joint
Venture by TMI included a second satellite (technologically identical to the satellite contributed to the MSV Joint Venture by Motient) with
similar geographic coverage, as well as the associated Canadian satellite licenses and authorizations.

Following the approvals described above and consistent with the terms of an agreement that we entered into in October 2001 with the MSV Joint
Venture and certain other investors (the MSV Joint Venture Agreement ), on November 26, 2001, through our MSV Investors Subsidiary, we
purchased a $50.0 million interest in the MSV Joint Venture in the form of a convertible note. Immediately prior to the purchase of the
convertible note, we contributed $40.0 million to the MSV Investors Subsidiary and a group of unaffiliated third parties collectively contributed
$10.0 million. The note yielded interest at a rate of 10% per year, had a maturity date of November 26, 2006, and was convertible at any time at
our option into equity interests in the MSV Joint Venture.

On August 13, 2002, the MSV Joint Venture completed a rights offering allowing its investors to purchase their pro rata share of an aggregate of
$3.0 million of newly issued convertible notes with terms similar to the convertible note already held by our MSV Investors Subsidiary. Our
MSYV Investors Subsidiary exercised its basic and over subscription rights and purchased approximately $1.1 million of these additional
convertible notes.

On November 12, 2004, the MSV Joint Venture raised $145.0 million in cash by selling partnership units for $29.45 per unit and exchanged or
converted approximately $84.9 million of debt securities and accrued
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interest. In connection with this financing, the convertible notes held by our MSV Investors Subsidiary converted into approximately 23% of the
limited partnership interests of the MSV Joint Venture on an undiluted basis, at their original conversion price of $6.45 per unit. As a result of
these transactions, our MSV Investors Subsidiary also received approximately $17.1 million in cash from the MSV Joint Venture to pay the
accrued interest on the convertible notes. Our MSV Investors Subsidiary distributed approximately $13.6 million of this cash to us and $3.4
million of cash to the unaffiliated third parties who own the 20% minority interest.

MSYV Joint Venture s Current Business

The MSV Joint Venture is currently a provider of mobile digital voice and data communications services via satellite in the United States and
Canada.

Satellite Voice and Data Services. The MSV Joint Venture s satellite phone service supports two-way circuit-switched voice, facsimile and data
communication services. The MSV Joint Venture markets satellite telephone and data services to businesses that have nationwide coverage
requirements, particularly those operating in geographic areas that lack significant terrestrial coverage, such as natural resource companies,
utilities and telecommunications companies that require backup and restorable support, and public safety organizations.

Satellite Dispatch Service. The MSV Joint Venture s satellite dispatch service allows voice communications among users in a customer-defined
group using a push-to-talk device. This service facilitates team-based, contingency-driven operations of groups over wide and/or remote areas.
The MSV Joint Venture s targeted customer groups for satellite dispatch service include oil and gas pipeline companies, utilities and
telecommunications companies with outside maintenance fleets, state and local public safety organizations, and public service organizations who
need to seamlessly link resources on a nationwide basis.

Bulk Satellite Capacity. The MSV Joint Venture provides wholesale satellite capacity to customers who implement their own networks. These
customers typically purchase channels of specified bandwidth and power. The channels are dedicated to the customer once purchased and paid
for, and are not subject to other sale, or to preemption except for emergency purposes as provided in the authorizations of the MSV Joint
Venture from the FCC and Industry Canada.

Competition

The current products and services of the MSV Joint Venture compete with a number of communications services, including existing satellite
services offered by Iridium, Globalstar and Inmarsat, terrestrial air-to-ground services, and terrestrial land-mobile and fixed services and may
compete with new technologies in the future.

Inmarsat s primary offerings consist of maritime voice, facsimile and data services. Because Inmarsat s current North American service offerings
operate at a lower power level than the MSV Joint Venture s network, its mobile terminals must be equipped with antenna systems that are much
larger and more expensive than those required for the MSV Joint Venture s satellite system. The Inmarsat system also has per minute charges
higher than those charged by the MSV Joint Venture for comparable service. While less powerful than the MSV Joint Venture s system
architecture, Inmarsat s next generation of satellites, Inmarsat-4, are more powerful than the MSV Joint Venture s current operating business. One
of Inmarsat s next generation satellites is currently in orbit over North America but Inmarsat is not authorized at this time to provide a full range
of services in the United States with that satellite.

Iridium and Globalstar provide voice, data, and paging services via constellations of LEO satellites that cover the globe. The Iridium and
Globalstar systems are more complex and expensive than the MSV Joint Venture s satellite network and offer some advantages over the MSV
Joint Venture s voice services such as smaller handheld telephones, global coverage, and in certain circumstances, reduced transmission delay.
However, neither company currently offers a commercial satellite dispatch service.
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MSV Joint Venture s Strategy

The MSV Joint Venture plans to develop, build and operate a next-generation satellite system complemented by an ATC. Such a system would
combine some of the advantages of satellite systems and of terrestrial wireless systems. While satellite systems can provide communications
where it is difficult or impossible to provide communications coverage via terrestrial base stations, such as rural areas, such systems are
susceptible to signal blockage in urban areas and inside buildings. By contrast, terrestrial systems do not serve significant remote areas, but
function well in urban areas because of their ground network. The MSV Joint Venture intends to operate a satellite system with an ATC,
enabling it to reach rural areas via satellite and function in urban settings and indoors through the terrestrial component.

Incorporation of an ATC into the MSV Joint Venture s service offering will require significant planning and capital. The MSV Joint Venture s
development plan will require compliance with the parameters set forth by the FCC rulings, as described below. In addition, development plans
will entail, at a minimum, finalizing technical specifications for satellites, handsets and signal repeater equipment and selecting manufacturers

for these components, other than the satellites for which the MSV Joint Venture has selected and contracted with Boeing Satellite Systems, Inc.

( Boeing ) as manufacturer. Moreover, other manufacturing, supply, launch and installation contracts will need to be negotiated and executed, and
final development of network protocols and software will need to be completed.

Build out of an ATC-enhanced network will require installation of a ground network in any given metropolitan area to enable in-building signal
penetration. Because of the time and expense required to acquire and incorporate these components, we anticipate that an ATC will be phased in
over time in various metropolitan areas. The FCC also requires geostationary orbit satellite systems like the MSV Joint Venture s to maintain a
spare satellite either on the ground or in orbit.

FCC s ATC Orders and Approval of the MSV Joint Venture s Application

On February 10, 2003, the FCC released an order (the February 2003 ATC Order ), which greatly expanded the scope of the MSV Joint Venture s
business by permitting the incorporation of an ATC into its mobile satellite network. In the February 2003 ATC Order, the FCC determined that

it would serve the public interest to permit MSS providers to incorporate an ATC into their satellite systems in three frequency bands: Big LEO
(where Globalstar and Iridium operate), L-band (where the MSV Joint Venture and Inmarsat operate) and S-band (where TMI and ICO are
licensed). Specifically, the February 2003 ATC Order allows MSS operators to seek authority to integrate an ATC into their satellite networks

for the purpose of enhancing their ability to offer high-quality, affordable mobile services on land, in the air and over oceans without using any
additional spectrum resources beyond spectrum already allocated and authorized by the FCC for MSS in these bands. A similar application to

the February 2003 ATC Order was approved by Industry Canada, the FCC s counterpart in Canada, on May 22, 2004.

The FCC s authorization of an ATC for these MSS bands was subject to conditions that are designed to ensure the integrity of the underlying
MSS offering and to prevent these services from becoming stand-alone terrestrial offerings. Specifically, to include an ATC in their satellite
systems, the FCC required that the MSV Joint Venture and other MSS operators:

launch (or have launched) and operate their own satellite facilities;

provide substantial satellite service to the public;

demonstrate compliance with geographic and temporal satellite coverage requirements;

demonstrate that the satellite system s ATC will operate only within the licensee s core MSS spectrum;

limit ATC operations only to the satellite system s authorized footprint;
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provide an integrated MSS and ATC service;

not offer a terrestrial only service to consumers; and

obtain handset certification for MSS ATC devices under the equipment authorization process in accordance with FCC rules.
Accordingly, under the February 2003 ATC Order, ATC operations of the MSV Joint Venture or other MSS providers were not permitted until
such licensee has filed an application with the FCC demonstrating compliance with these requirements. Once the FCC approves such an
application, terrestrial operations may commence. In November 2003, the MSV Joint Venture submitted its application.

In November 2004, the FCC granted the MSV Joint Venture s application to operate an ATC in the L-Band, subject to certain conditions (the
November 2004 Application Approval ). The authorization was the first license for ATC operation granted by the FCC, allowing the MSV Joint

Venture to offer an ATC with its commercial service. In addition, the FCC approved several of the MSV Joint Venture s waiver requests,

providing the MSV Joint Venture more flexibility with respect to operating an ATC than previously provided in the February 2003 ATC

Order. However, the FCC deferred ruling on certain of the MSV Joint Venture s other waiver requests until it acted on certain other pending

petitions related to the February 2003 ATC Order. The FCC s order was subject to reconsideration and included various limitations and

conditions necessary for the implementation of an ATC operation.

In February 2005, the FCC released its new rules for the deployment and operation by the MSV Joint Venture of an ATC for its service, which
provided the MSV Joint Venture with substantial additional flexibility in its system implementation (the February 2005 Order ). This additional
flexibility provided by the FCC s decision is expected to allow the MSV Joint Venture to offer users affordable and reliable voice service from
virtually anywhere in the United States. In addition, the MSV Joint Venture expects to be able to offer a cost effective high-speed data
communications service in the United States and Canada through its integrated satellite/terrestrial service system.

The FCC s February 2005 Order rejected arguments that would have limited ATC flexibility. Instead, the FCC reaffirmed the fundamental
underpinnings of the February 2003 ATC Order and removed many constraints that would have limited the spectral efficiency and
communications efficacy of an ATC. The FCC s decision recognized the essential nature of an ATC in providing spectral efficiency to MSS
users in populous areas, and that it can do so at an insignificant cost of interference potential to other systems.

Terrestrial wireless providers strenuously opposed the FCC s proposal to grant ATC, claiming, among other things, that the spectrum held by the
MSS licensees is worth billions of dollars if authorized for exclusive terrestrial wireless use and, therefore, should be auctioned. Many of these
same terrestrial wireless providers filed court challenges to the February 2003 ATC Order, which could result in changes to the terms of the
February 2003 ATC Order or the February 2005 Order that are unfavorable to the MSV Joint Venture or completely preclude the incorporation
of an ATC in MSS networks, though we do not expect such an outcome. Inmarsat which offers mobile satellite service in the U.S. using the
L-band spectrum, vigorously opposed the grant of ATC in the L-band claiming it would cause unacceptable interference to its satellites.
However, recently Inmarsat reconsidered its position now that ATC has been authorized and has announced that it will seek approval to
incorporate an ATC into its satellite service in the United States, which could further increase competition in the provision of satellite services
incorporating an ATC.

In January 2006, the MSV Joint Venture announced that it entered into a contract with Boeing for the construction and delivery of three next
generation L-band satellites. These satellites are expected to be among the most powerful commercial satellites ever built and, if successfully
launched, to form an integral part of the advanced commercial telecommunications network being developed by the MSV Joint Venture. The
network will be based on the patented ATC technology of the MSV Joint Venture.
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The contract provides for the delivery of MSV-1 and MSV-2, which will replace and expand upon the current MSAT satellite system operated
by the MSV Joint Venture. Like the MSAT satellites, the MSV-1 and MSV-2 satellites will cover Canada, the United States, including Alaska,
Hawaii, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and the Caribbean Basin, as well as Mexico. The third satellite, MSV-SA, would, if successfully
deployed, introduce the MSV Joint Venture s services into South America. The spacecraft will also be equipped with a qualified digital
channelizer that maximizes spectrum allocation. With the constellation of MSV-1, MSV-2 and MSV-SA, Boeing will provide the technology
that will enable the MSV Joint Venture to offer their customers advanced mobile services using small, handheld terminals interoperable with
terrestrial terminals. The satellites are expected to be launched beginning in 2009 and 2010.

As aresult of the FCC s authorizations, the value of the MSV Joint Venture has significantly increased; however, even with ATC authority, the
ability of the MSV Joint Venture to succeed is subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including the ability of the MSV Joint Venture to
raise the capital necessary for the implementation of a satellite system including an ATC or to identify and reach an agreement with one or more
strategic partners. Additional risks include the ability of the MSV Joint Venture to attract and retain customers, as well as increased potential
competition from other satellite and wireless service providers.

TerreStar Networks

TerreStar was established as a wholly owned subsidiary of the MSV Joint Venture in February 2002 to develop business opportunities related to
the proposed receipt of certain licenses in the 2 GHz, or S , band. TMI, one of our partners in the MSV Joint Venture, holds the approval issued
by Industry Canada for a 2 GHz space station authorization and related spectrum licenses for the provision of MSS in the 2 GHz band, as well as
an authorization from the FCC for the provision of MSS in the 2 GHz band ( MSS Authorization ). These authorizations are subject to FCC and
Industry Canada milestones relating to construction, launch, and operational date of the system. TMI plans to transfer the Canadian
authorizations to an entity that is eligible to hold the Canadian authorizations and in which TerreStar and/or TMI will have an interest, subject to
obtaining the necessary Canadian regulatory approvals. In order to satisfy the milestone requirements included within the authorizations,
TerreStar and TMI entered into an agreement in which TerreStar agreed to enter into a non-contingent satellite procurement contract for the
construction and delivery to TMI of a satellite that is consistent with the Canadian and FCC authorizations. Further, TMI agreed that at

TerreStar s election, TMI will transfer the 2 GHz assets to the entity described above, subject to any necessary Canadian and U.S. regulatory
approvals. In December 2002, TMI and TerreStar jointly applied to the FCC for authority to transfer TMI s MSS Authorization to TerreStar.

In August 2002, Industry Canada advised the MSV Joint Venture that this arrangement met the requirement that TMI demonstrate that it is

bound to a contractual agreement for the construction of the proposed satellite. However, certain wireless carriers had urged the FCC to cancel
TMI s MSS Authorization. A similar group also filed a petition in January 2003 asking the FCC to dismiss the application to transfer TMI s MSS
Authorization to TerreStar. In February 2003, the FCC adopted an order canceling TMI s MSS Authorization due to an alleged failure to enter
into a noncontingent satellite construction contract before the specified first milestone date.

In June 2004, the FCC agreed to waive aspects of the first milestone requirement applicable to TMI s MSS Authorization and, therefore,
reinstated that authorization, along with the application to transfer TMI s MSS Authorization to TerreStar. The FCC also modified the milestone
schedule applicable to TMI s MSS Authorization. TMI certified to the FCC its compliance with the second milestone under its MSS
Authorization. The FCC is currently reviewing that certification for compliance with the requirements. The application to transfer TMI s MSS
Authorization to TerreStar is still pending before the FCC.

In December 2004, the MSV Joint Venture issued rights (the TerreStar Rights ) to receive all of the shares of common stock of TerreStar, then a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the MSV Joint Venture, to the limited partners of the MSV Joint Venture, including our MSV Investors Subsidiary,
pro rata in accordance with each limited
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partner s percentage ownership. The TerreStar Rights were to automatically be exchanged for shares of TerreStar common stock on May 20,
2005. In connection with the distribution of the TerreStar Rights, TerreStar issued warrants to purchase shares of its common stock representing
3% of the outstanding equity for an exercise price of $0.21 per share to certain of the Other MSV Investors. These warrants were exercised in
March 2005. On May 11, 2005, the TerreStar Rights were exchanged for shares of TerreStar common stock in connection with the sale by
TerreStar of $200.0 million of its common stock to Motient at a purchase price of $24.42 per share (the TerreStar Private Placement ), increasing
Motient s ownership of TerreStar to approximately 61% on an undiluted basis. Following these transactions, our MSV Investors Subsidiary owns
5,303,315 shares of TerreStar common stock, or approximately 17% of TerreStar on an undiluted basis.

In connection with the TerreStar Private Placement, the minority shareholders of TerreStar, including our MSV Investors Subsidiary, TMI and
the Other MSV Investors, entered into certain agreements with TerreStar and Motient providing the MSV Investors Subsidiary (and the other
minority shareholders) with certain protections, including tag along rights, pre-emptive rights and representation on the TerreStar Board of
Directors. In addition, the TerreStar shares held by the minority shareholders, including the MSV Investors Subsidiary, under certain conditions,
may be subject to drag along rights of Motient. In connection with the TerreStar Private Placement, the MSV Joint Venture licensed TerreStar
certain intellectual property and agreed to provide TerreStar with certain services. Also, in connection with the transaction, Motient agreed,
subject to satisfaction of certain conditions, to waive certain rights in order to facilitate a transaction in which one of the minority shareholders in
TerreStar who also holds interests in the MSV Joint Venture acquires all of the interests in the MSV Joint Venture held by the other minority
shareholders in TerreStar, resulting in control of the MSV Joint Venture being held by such party. The minority shareholders have not agreed to
such a transaction or committed to consummate such a transaction.

The FCC released two public notices on June 29, 2005, the first announcing its intent to give ICO Satellite Services ( ICO ) and TerreStar 13 1/3
MHz of spectrum in the 2 GHz band and the second presenting three possibilities for the allocation of the remaining spectrum. These options
included allocating the spectrum to ICO and TerreStar, offering it to new MSS licensees, or reallocating it for a different use. Inmarsat,
Globalstar, and numerous other parties lobbied against allocating the spectrum to ICO and TerreStar. On December 9, 2005, the FCC issued two
orders related to the 2 GHz band, the first of which modified the spectrum reservations of TMI and ICO such that each is assigned a total of 20
MHz of spectrum, increasing TMI s spectrum from 13 1/3 MHz. The second order, filed in conjunction with the first order, dismissed a Petition
for Declaratory Ruling submitted by Inmarsat. The availability of 20 MHz is expected to allow TerreStar to better compete against existing
wireless providers while affording them the ability to support next-generation interfaces such as WiMax. The December 9, 2005 orders mark an
end to the FCC s process of determining how to best allocate the 24 MHz of spectrum in the 2 GHz band surrendered by Iridium, Celsat, and
Boeing earlier in 2005. The FCC determined that it was in the best interest of the public to give ICO and TerreStar the spectrum. While the
orders were effective upon their release, petitions for reconsideration were filed by each of Globalstar and Inmarsat prior to a January 8, 2006
deadline.

For additional information on the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar, refer to the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto of
the MSV Joint Venture included in Item 15 of this Form 10-K.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we and our consolidated subsidiaries had 83 employees. We believe our relationship with our employees is good, and
none are represented by a union. Generally, our employees are retained on an at-will basis. We have entered into employment agreements,
however, with certain of our key employees. Certain of our employees have non-competition agreements that prohibit them from competing
with us for various periods following termination of their employment.
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Government Regulation

Currently, we are not subject to any direct governmental regulation other than the securities laws and regulations applicable to all publicly
owned companies and laws and regulations applicable to businesses generally. However, the mobile satellite communications business of the
MSV Joint Venture is subject to extensive government regulation in the United States and Canada.

The ownership and operation of the MSV Joint Venture s mobile satellite communications business is subject to the rules and regulations of the
FCC, which acts under the authority established by the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, and related federal laws, as well as Industry
Canada. Among other things, the FCC and Industry Canada allocate portions of the radio frequency spectrum to certain services and grant
licenses to and regulate individual entities using that spectrum. The MSV Joint Venture operates pursuant to various licenses granted by the FCC
and Industry Canada.

In response to the applications by the MSV Joint Venture and certain other MSS providers, the FCC issued the February 2005 Order permitting

the incorporation of an ATC into mobile satellite services in various frequency bands, subject to a set of conditions being met. In July 2003,

certain terrestrial wireless providers petitioned the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia to review the FCC s decision to grant ATC.
The petition was held in abeyance until the FCC rules on the request for reconsideration filed by the MSV Joint Venture. Since the FCC s grant

of the MSV Joint Venture s application to operate a MSS system with an ATC in November 2004 and the FCC s issuance of its reconsideration
order in February 2005, the petition in the Court of Appeals is expected to proceed. If the Court of Appeals invalidates the February 2003 ruling,

the MSV Joint Venture s ability to implement its business strategy and compete effectively would be harmed, which would cause our joint

venture interest in the MSV Joint Venture to depreciate in value and would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. See Risk
Factors Risks Associated with the MSV Joint Venture s Next Generation Business Plan and Risk Factors Regulatory Risks under this Item 1.

Financial Information

For additional information regarding the revenues, profits and losses and assets of the reportable segments of the Company, refer to the
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto for each of the Company, the MSV Joint Venture and HNS included in Item 15 of this
Form 10-K.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks described below in evaluating our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the
only ones we and our principal business, the MSV Joint Venture, face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us may also
impair our operations and business, and in particular the MSV Joint Venture. If neither we nor the MSV Joint Venture successfully address any
of the risks described below, there could be a material adverse effect on our financial condition, operating results and business, and the trading
price of our common stock may decline. We cannot assure you that either we or the MSV Joint Venture will successfully address these risks.

Risks Associated with the MSV Joint Venture s Next Generation Business Plan

MSYV needs substantial further financing to develop and construct its next generation integrated network, but such financing might not be
available.

The MSV Joint Venture has estimated that the total cost to develop and construct the two satellite components of its integrated network in the
United States and Canada, including the costs of the satellites, their launch, launch insurance and associated ground segment will be
approximately $1.1 billion. This estimate does not include approximately $250 million to construct a spare satellite that would not be launched
(' ground spare ) but is required by its FCC authorization.
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In addition, the MSV Joint Venture will require significant funds to construct the terrestrial component of its network. The MSV Joint Venture
has stated that it plans to pursue a top 50 market terrestrial footprint and expects that each market could require between $20 million and

$60 million to establish terrestrial coverage. The MSV Joint Venture has estimated that the total cost to deploy the terrestrial portion of the
network could range between $500 million and $2.6 billion, depending on the choice of air interface technology, the number of markets
deployed, the scope of the terrestrial build within each market and the targeted service offering (limited mobile, portable or fully mobile).

The MSV Joint Venture s plan for a South American satellite, for which the MSV Joint Venture has also contracted with Boeing, may cause it to
incur additional expenditures of approximately $540 million, depending upon how such a plan is pursued.

The MSV Joint Venture s costs could be greater than its current estimates. For example, if the MSV Joint Venture elects to defer payments under
its satellite construction contract, and/or if it exercises certain options to buy additional satellites or other equipment or services, its costs for the
satellite component of its network will increase, possibly significantly. The cost to build the terrestrial component of its network could be

greater, perhaps significantly, than the MSV Joint Venture s current estimates, depending on changing costs of supplies, market conditions, and
other factors over which we and/or the MSV Joint Venture will have no control.

The MSV Joint Venture s projections assume that a portion of the remaining costs associated with constructing the satellite and terrestrial
components of its next generation integrated network will be borne in part by one or more technology and strategic partners. If the MSV Joint
Venture is not able to enter into agreements with third parties to cover such costs, or if such funding sources are not able to cover such costs, the
MSV Joint Venture s funding requirements will be significantly greater than the MSV Joint Venture currently anticipates. The MSV Joint
Venture has not yet entered into any such agreements, and we cannot assure you if and when it will enter into such agreements.

In addition to financing from technology and strategic partners, the MSV Joint Venture has stated that it plans to raise future funds by selling
debt and equity securities, and by obtaining loans or other credit lines from banks or other financial institutions. The type, timing and terms of
financing it may select will depend upon its cash needs, the availability of other financing sources, the prevailing conditions in the financial
markets and the restrictions contained in any future indebtedness. We cannot assure you that the MSV Joint Venture will be able to find any
such sources at any given time on favorable terms, if at all. If the MSV Joint Venture fails to obtain any necessary financing on a timely basis,
then each of the following could occur:

the MSV Joint Venture s satellite construction, launch, or other events necessary to conduct their business could be materially delayed,
or their costs could materially increase;

the MSV Joint Venture could default on its commitments to its satellite construction or launch contractors, creditors or
other third parties, leading to termination of construction or inability to launch their satellites; and

the MSV Joint Venture may not be able to launch its next generation integrated network as planned and may have to discontinue
operations or seek a purchaser for its business or assets.
As a result of these factors, the MSV Joint Venture could lose its FCC or Industry Canada licenses or its international rights if it fails to achieve
required performance milestones.

If the MSV Joint Venture is successful in raising additional financing, it has stated that it anticipates that a significant portion of future financing
will consist of debt securities. As a result, the MSV Joint Venture will be highly leveraged. If additional funds are raised through the incurrence
of indebtedness, the MSV Joint Venture may incur significant interest charges and become subject to various restrictions and covenants that
could limit its ability to respond to market conditions, provide for unanticipated capital investments or take advantage of business opportunities.
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The market for the MSV Joint Venture s service is new and unproven and the success of the MSV Joint Venture s next generation business
will depend on market acceptance.

Other than satellite radio, we are not aware of any integrated (i.e., combined satellite and terrestrial) wireless service in commercial operation.
Neither the MSV Joint Venture, nor any other company, has developed an integrated next generation network. The MSV Joint Venture s business
plan contemplates that a significant portion of its revenues will be derived from strategic partners. To date, the MSV Joint Venture has not

entered into any strategic partnerships with respect to distribution of its next generation integrated network. As a result, the MSV Joint Venture
can estimate only with a partial level of certainty the potential demand for such services and the degree to which it will meet that demand.
Furthermore, there may not be sufficient demand to enable the MSV Joint Venture, or additional costs that do not allow the MSV Joint Venture,
to earn sufficient revenues, achieve sufficient cash flow or record a profit. Among other things, end user acceptance of the MSV Joint Venture s
next generation integrated service will depend upon:

whether the MSV Joint Venture provides integrated wireless services consistent with market demand;

the relative attractiveness of its service offerings to its anticipated partners;

the cost and availability of user equipment whose form factor is little different from standard wireless devices, but incorporates the
new technology required to operate on the MSV Joint Venture s network;

federal, state, local and international regulations affecting the operation of satellite networks and wireless systems;

whether competitors develop new and alternative next generation technologies; and

general and local economic conditions.
If the MSV Joint Venture cannot gain market acceptance for its planned products and services, its business will be significantly harmed. The
MSV Joint Venture has made, and will continue to make, significant capital investments to generate demand for its services. Accordingly, any
material miscalculation with respect to its operating strategy or business plan will harm the MSV Joint Venture s business.

The MSYV Joint Venture will depend on one or more third parties to incorporate its technology into their consumer offerings, and such third
parties may not be successful or effective in their use of the MSV Joint Venture s technology.

The MSV Joint Venture has adopted a wholesale carrier s carrier business model and does not have plans to manufacture or sell end-user devices
to consumers. The success of its network will depend on partnerships with third parties that incorporate its technology into their service and

product offerings. In particular, the MSV Joint Venture will not produce transparent wireless handsets for sale to wireless consumers but instead

will need to identify and work with its partners and customers to apply its technology to standard wireless handsets and devices that they in turn
market. If its partners are not successful in incorporating its technology or marketing devices compatible with its network, the MSV Joint

Venture s revenues would be less than expected, and its business would suffer.

The MSYV Joint Venture will depend on one or more third party contractors to construct the terrestrial base station component of its next
generation integrated network.

The MSV Joint Venture currently plans to contract with one or more third parties to construct the terrestrial component of its next generation
integrated network. The MSV Joint Venture s success in implementing its next generation integrated network and in penetrating its targeted
vertical markets will depend, to a large extent, on the efforts of these third party contractors. The development and rollout of the terrestrial
network by these third parties may be subject to unforeseen delays, cost overruns, regulatory changes, engineering and technological
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changes and other factors, some of which may be outside of the control of both MSV Joint Venture and us. If the MSV Joint Venture is not able
to enter into contracting relationships and construct the terrestrial component of its next generation integrated network, it may not be able to
implement its business plan.

Failure to develop and supply terminals to customers in a timely manner will delay the MSV Joint Venture s revenues.

The MSV Joint Venture will rely on third party manufacturers and their distributors to manufacture and distribute transparent devices.
Transparent devices are not yet available, and the MSV Joint Venture and third party vendors may be unable to develop and produce enough
affordable transparent devices in a timely manner to permit the widespread introduction of its service. If the MSV Joint Venture, its customers
and its manufacturers fail to develop devices that are completely transparent for timely commercial sale at affordable prices, the launch of its
next generation service would be delayed, its revenues would be less than expected, and its business will suffer.

The MSYV Joint Venture s integrated wireless network will depend on the development and integration of complex technologies in a satellite
configuration that might not work.

The MSV Joint Venture s next generation integrated network will require new applications of existing technology, complex integration of
different technologies and the development of new technologies. The MSV Joint Venture will have to integrate a number of sophisticated
satellite and other wireless technologies that typically have not been integrated in the past, and some of which are not yet fully developed, before
it can begin offering its next generation service. In order for the MSV Joint Venture s service to be received by traditional consumer devices,
additional components and software will need to be added to such devices to adjust for the L-band frequencies as well as satellite
communications. Although the MSV Joint Venture intends to test the components of its next generation integrated network, it cannot ultimately
confirm the ability of the system to function until it has actually deployed a substantial portion of their next generation integrated network. For
example, the MSV Joint Venture s ground-based beam formation capabilities and the size of the reflectors on its next generation satellites cannot
be fully tested until its next generation satellites are launched. Hardware or software errors in space or on the ground may limit or delay its next
generation service, and therefore reduce anticipated revenues and the viability of its services. There could also be delays in the planned
development, integration and operation of the components of the MSV Joint Venture s next generation integrated network. If the technological
integration of the MSV Joint Venture s next generation integrated network is not completed in a timely and effective manner, its business would
be harmed.

In the MSV Joint Venture s next generation integrated network, it will seek to develop and deploy network management techniques so that
mobile devices used on its network will be able to seamlessly transition between satellite mode and terrestrial mode. The MSV Joint Venture has
stated that it intends to develop such techniques primarily by adapting existing techniques used in PCS/cellular systems and digital/analog
systems. However, such techniques have not been deployed before in a combined satellite/terrestrial system, and there can be no assurances that
the MSV Joint Venture will be successful in developing such techniques or deploying them in its next generation integrated network in a cost
effective or timely manner. If the MSV Joint Venture is not able to develop or deploy such techniques, mobile devices used on its network may
not be able to seamlessly transition between satellite and terrestrial modes, and this may make the MSV Joint Venture s next generation
integrated network less attractive to potential partners and end-user customers.

The MSYV Joint Venture s next generation satellites are subject to possible construction and delivery delays, the occurrence of which could
materially and adversely affect its business.

The MSV Joint Venture s next generation satellites are subject to possible construction and delivery delays. The manufacture of such satellites is
technically complex, and delays could result from a variety of causes, including failure of third-party vendors to perform as anticipated and
changes in the technical specifications of the satellite. There can be no assurance that delivery of its next generation satellites will be timely,
which may
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hinder the introduction of the MSV Joint Venture s planned next generation integrated network. Any delay could also make it more difficult for it
to secure desired distribution partnerships.

During any period of delay, the MSV Joint Venture would continue to have significant cash requirements that could materially increase the
aggregate amount of funding it needs. The MSV Joint Venture may not be able to obtain additional financing on favorable terms, or at all,
during periods of delay. A delay could also require rescheduling of the anticipated launch date, and another launch slot may not be available
within a reasonable period of time. In addition, a delay in satellite system operations could also result in revocation of the MSV Joint Venture s
frequency and orbital slot authorizations and its international rights.

The MSYV Joint Venture s satellites could be damaged or destroyed during launch or deployment, fail to achieve their designated orbital
location after launch or experience significant launch delays.

A percentage of satellites never become operational because of, among other factors, launch failure, satellite destruction or damage during
launch, improper orbital placement and/or the failure of antennas to fully deploy. Launch failure rates vary depending on the particular launch
vehicle and contractor. Even launch vehicles with good track records experience some launch failures, and there can be no assurance that the
MSV Joint Venture will be able to launch its satellites on vehicles with higher success rates. If one or more launches or deployments fail, the
MSV Joint Venture will suffer significant delays that will be damaging to its business, the MSV Joint Venture will incur significant additional
costs associated with the failed launches, and its revenue generating activities will be delayed. We cannot assure you that the MSV Joint
Venture s satellite launches or deployments will be successful. The deployment of large antennas, such as the antennas on its next generation
satellites, which are larger than most commercial satellites, pose additional risks during deployment. Even if launched into orbit, a satellite may
fail to enter into its designated orbital location, or the MSV Joint Venture may use more fuel than planned to place a satellite into its orbital
location and, as a result, may reduce the overall useful life of the satellite.

Satellites have a limited useful life and premature failure of the MSV Joint Venture s satellites could damage its business.

During and after their launch, all satellites are subject to equipment failures, malfunctions and other problems. If one of the MSV Joint Venture s
satellites were to fail prematurely, it likely would affect the quality of its service, substantially delay the commencement or interrupt the
continuation of its service and harm the MSV Joint Venture s business and could impact its licenses. This harm to the MSV Joint Venture s
business would continue until it either extended service to their customers on another satellite or built and launched additional satellites. Each of
the MSV Joint Venture s MSAT-1 and MSAT-2 satellites has in the past experienced malfunctions and neither operates at full capacity. The
MSV Joint Venture s satellites could experience future malfunctions at any time, which could damage their ability to serve its customers, harm
the MSV Joint Venture s reputation in the marketplace, reduce the expected useful life of the satellites and possibly adversely affect their
government approvals. There can be no assurance that the MSV Joint Venture s existing satellites will remain operational until such time as it
launches its next generation satellites. Any gap could have a material adverse effect on its business and could result in the loss of licenses.

The MSV Joint Venture s ability to generate revenue depends on the lives of its existing and next generation satellites. Each satellite has a limited
useful life. A number of factors could decrease the useful lives of the MSV Joint Venture s satellites to less than what is currently expected,
including, without limitation:

defects in construction;

faster than expected degradation of solar panels;

durability of component parts;

loss of fuel on board;
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higher than anticipated use of fuel to maintain the satellite s orbital location or higher than anticipated use of fuel during orbit raising
following launch;

random failure of satellite components that are not protected by back-up units;

electromagnetic storms; and

collisions with other objects in space.
Damage to the MSV Joint Venture s satellites may not be fully covered by insurance.

The MSV Joint Venture intends to purchase launch and in-orbit insurance policies for its next generation satellites from global space insurance
underwriters. If certain material adverse changes in market conditions for full in-orbit insurance were to make it commercially unreasonable for
the MSV Joint Venture to maintain full in-orbit insurance, the MSV Joint Venture could forego such insurance. Other adverse changes in
insurance market conditions may substantially increase the premiums the MSV Joint Venture will have to pay for such insurance or may
preclude the MSV Joint Venture from fully insuring its loss. If the launch of its next generation satellite system is a total or partial failure, the
MSV Joint Venture s insurance may not fully cover its losses, and these failures may also cause insurers to include additional exclusions in the
MSV Joint Venture s insurance policies when they come up for renewal. There can be no assurance that additional financing will be available to
construct, launch and insure a replacement satellite or, if available, will be available on terms favorable to the MSV Joint Venture. The MSV
Joint Venture does not expect to buy insurance to cover, and would not have protection against, business interruption, loss of business or similar
losses. Also, any insurance the MSV Joint Venture obtains will likely contain certain customary exclusions and material change conditions that
would limit its coverage. The MSV Joint Venture does not have insurance with respect to its existing satellites.

Delays in deployment of the MSV Joint Venture s terrestrial network due to limited tower availability, local zoning approvals or adequate
telecommunications transport capacity would delay its revenues.

The MSV Joint Venture s business strategy includes the deployment of a terrestrial network. Tower sites and authorizations in some desirable
areas may be very costly and time intensive to obtain. If the MSV Joint Venture is unable to obtain tower space, local zoning approvals or
adequate telecommunications transport capacity to develop its network in a timely fashion, the launch of its next generation integrated network
would be delayed, the MSV Joint Venture s revenues would be less than expected and its business would suffer.

The MSYV Joint Venture s planned terrestrial network or other ground facilities could be damaged by natural catastrophes or man-made
disasters.

Since the MSV Joint Venture s planned terrestrial network will be attached to buildings, towers and other structures around the country, an
earthquake, tornado, flood or other catastrophic event or other man-made disaster or vandalism could damage its network, interrupt its service
and harm its business in the affected area. The MSV Joint Venture will not have replacement or redundant facilities that can be used to assume
the functions of its terrestrial network in the event of a catastrophic event. Any damage to its terrestrial network would likely result in
degradation of its service for some subscribers and could result in complete loss of service in some affected areas. Temporary disruptions could
also damage the MSV Joint Venture s reputation and the demand for its services.

The MSYV Joint Venture may be unable to achieve its business and financial objectives because the communications industry is highly
competitive.

In seeking market acceptance for its next generation services, the MSV Joint Venture will encounter competition from many sources, including:

existing satellite services from other operators;
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conventional terrestrial wireless services;

traditional wireline voice and high-speed data offerings;

terrestrial land-mobile and fixed services; and

next generation integrated services that may be offered in the future by other networks operating in the S-band, L-band or Big Low
Earth Orbiting ( LEO ) band.
The communications industry includes major domestic and international companies, many of which have financial, technical, marketing, sales,
distribution and other resources substantially greater than the MSV Joint Venture does and which provide a wider range of services than will be
provided by the MSV Joint Venture. While the MSV Joint Venture has stated that it believes its services will be complementary to terrestrial
wireless services, the MSV Joint Venture may be adversely affected by competition from companies that provide services using existing
wireless technologies.

The MSV Joint Venture may also face competition from companies using new technologies and new integrated networks in the future. For
instance, the FCC has authorized ICO and TMI to use radio frequencies for mobile satellite services within the S-band. TMI has agreed to
transfer its S-band authorizations to TerreStar. Although these potential competitors currently have no operations in this band, they are planning
to launch integrated networks similar to those envisioned by the MSV Joint Venture. Through the MSV Joint Venture s subsidiary, ATC
Technologies LLC, the MSV Joint Venture has also granted TerreStar a license to use its intellectual property for the development of its

network. TMI/TerreStar have announced plans to launch a S-band satellite in 2007, in advance of the launches of the MSV Joint Venture s
satellites. Failure to offer next generation integrated services that compete effectively with potential competitors such as TMI/TerreStar would
have an adverse impact on the MSV Joint Venture s revenues, profitability and liquidity. The MSV Joint Venture will also face competition with
respect to entering into strategic partnerships.

The MSYV Joint Venture and its partners must continue to identify, develop and market innovative products or enhance existing products on
a timely basis to maintain its profit margins and its competitive position.

The MSV Joint Venture s future growth may depend on its ability to gauge the direction of commercial and technological progress in key
markets and on its ability to fund and successfully develop and market products in its markets. The MSV Joint Venture s competitors may have
access to technologies not available to the MSV Joint Venture, which may enable them to provide communications services of greater interest to
end users, or at a more competitive cost. The MSV Joint Venture may not be able to develop new products or technology, either alone or with
third parties, or license any additional necessary intellectual property rights from third parties on a commercially competitive basis. The satellite
and wireless industries are both characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product innovations, changes in customer
requirements and expectations and evolving industry standards. If the MSV Joint Venture or its partners are unable to keep pace with these
changes, its business may be unsuccessful. Products using new technologies, or emerging industry standards, could make the MSV Joint
Venture s technologies obsolete. If the MSV Joint Venture or its partners fail to keep pace with the evolving technological innovations in its
markets on a competitive basis, its financial condition and results of operation could be adversely affected.

An economic downturn in the United States and Canada or changes in consumer spending could negatively affect the MSV Joint Venture s
results of operations.

The MSV Joint Venture expects that the primary customer base for its next generation integrated network will be composed of the customers of
its distribution partners and customers within certain vertical markets (for example, public safety, fleet management and consumer telematics).

In the event that the United States and Canada experience an economic downturn and spending by end customers drops, the MSV Joint Venture s
business may be negatively affected.
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Demand for the services the MSV Joint Venture plans to offer may not grow or be accepted generally, or in particular geographic markets, for
particular types of services, or during particular time periods. A lack of demand could adversely affect its ability to sell its services, enter into
strategic partnerships or develop and successfully market new services. In addition, demand patterns shift over time, and consumer preferences
may not favor the services the MSV Joint Venture plans to offer.

The MSYV Joint Venture may not be able to protect its proprietary information and intellectual property rights, which could limit the growth
of its business and impact its ability to compete.

As of March 1, 2006, the MSV Joint Venture has filed more than 100 patent applications (each application being filed in the United States and in
several countries abroad), acquired 13 patents and two pending patent applications from Celsat related to the provision of next generation
integrated network services, and have been issued 9 patents covering the fundamental principles of its next generation integrated technology.
There is no assurance that the patents for which the MSV Joint Venture has applied will be issued or, if issued, will be sufficient to fully protect
its technology. In addition, there can be no assurance that any patents issued or licensed to the MSV Joint Venture will not be challenged,
invalidated or circumvented. Litigation to defend and enforce their intellectual property rights could result in substantial costs and diversion of
resources and could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results of operations, regardless of the final outcome of such
litigation. Despite the MSV Joint Venture s efforts to safeguard and maintain its proprietary rights, there can be no assurance that the MSV Joint
Venture will be successful in doing so or that its competitors will not independently develop or patent technologies equivalent or superior to the
MSV Joint Venture s technologies. The MSV Joint Venture has stated that it believes that third parties may infringe upon its intellectual property
now and in the future.

The MSV Joint Venture also relies upon unpatented proprietary technology and other trade secrets. While it is the MSV Joint Venture s policy to
enter into confidentiality agreements with its employees and third parties to protect its proprietary expertise and other trade secrets, these
agreements may not be enforceable, or, even if legally enforceable, the MSV Joint Venture may not have adequate remedies for breaches of such
agreements. The failure of the MSV Joint Venture s patents or confidentiality agreements to protect its proprietary technology or trade secrets
could result in significantly lower revenues, reduced profit margins or loss of market share.

The MSV Joint Venture may be unable to determine when third parties are using its intellectual property rights without the MSV Joint Venture s
authorization. The undetected or unremedied use of the MSV Joint Venture s intellectual property rights or the legitimate development or
acquisition of intellectual property similar to the MSV Joint Venture s by third parties could reduce or eliminate any competitive advantage it has
as a result of its intellectual property, adversely affecting its financial condition and results of operations. If the MSV Joint Venture must take
legal action to protect, defend or enforce its intellectual property rights, any suits or proceedings could result in significant costs and diversion of
its resources and its management s attention, and the MSV Joint Venture may not prevail in any such suits or proceedings. A failure to protect,
defend or enforce the MSV Joint Venture s intellectual property rights could have an adverse effect on its business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Third parties may claim that the MSV Joint Venture s products or services infringe its intellectual property rights, which may cause the
MSYV Joint Venture to pay unexpected litigation costs or damages, or prevent the MSV Joint Venture from making, using, or selling its
products.

Other parties may have patents or pending patent applications relating to integrated wireless technology that may later mature into patents. Such
parties may bring suit against the MSV Joint Venture for patent or other infringement of intellectual property rights. Although the MSV Joint
Venture does not intend to, it may infringe on the intellectual property rights of others. If the MSV Joint Venture s products or services are found
to infringe or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of others, the MSV Joint Venture may need to obtain licenses from those parties

or substantially re-engineer its products or processes in order to avoid infringement. The MSV
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Joint Venture may not be able to obtain the necessary licenses on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, or be able to re-engineer its products
successfully. Moreover, if the MSV Joint Venture is found by a court of law to infringe or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of
others, the MSV Joint Venture could be required to pay substantial damages or be enjoined from making, using, or selling the infringing
products or technology. The MSV Joint Venture could also be enjoined from making, using, or selling the allegedly infringing products or
technology, pending the final outcome of the suit.

The MSYV Joint Venture s business could be harmed if it cannot attract and retain key personnel.

The MSV Joint Venture s success depends, in large part, upon the continuing contributions of its key technical, marketing, sales and management
personnel. The MSV Joint Venture generally does not enter into employment agreements with its employees for fixed terms and does not

maintain key-man insurance on any of its employees. The loss of the services of several key employees within a short period of time could harm
the MSV Joint Venture s business and its future prospects. The MSV Joint Venture s future success will also depend on its ability to attract and
retain additional management and technical personnel required in connection with the growth and development of its business. Competition for
such personnel is intense, and if the MSV Joint Venture fails to retain or attract such personnel its business could suffer. The MSV Joint Venture
has entered into arrangements with certain executives which provide for payments upon a change of control, as defined in those agreements. The
MSV Joint Venture s Chief Executive Officer has such an agreement which currently would provide payments to him if he chooses to leave the
Company for any reason.

Regulatory Risks Associated with the MSV Joint Venture

The MSYV Joint Venture may not be able to coordinate successfully with other L-band satellite system operators to access and use the full
approximately 30 MHz of L-band spectrum.

The MSV Joint Venture is required to coordinate the use of its satellites as part of the satellite registration process of the International
Telecommunication Union ( ITU ). With respect to the primary frequencies used by commercial GEOs, the ITU rules grant rights to member
states (which are the national governments party to the ITU treaty) on a first-in-time, first-in-right basis and set forth a process for protecting
earlier-registered satellite systems from interference from later-registered satellite systems. To comply with these rules, the MSV Joint Venture
must coordinate the operation of its satellites with other satellites. The coordination process may require the MSV Joint Venture to modify its
proposed coverage areas, or satellite design or transmission plans, in order to eliminate or minimize interference with other satellites or
ground-based facilities. In addition, while the ITU s rules require later-in-time systems to coordinate their operations with the MSV Joint
Venture, the MSV Joint Venture cannot guarantee that other operators will conduct their operations so as to avoid transmitting any signals that
would cause harmful interference to the signals that the MSV Joint Venture, or its customers, transmit.

Since the MSV Joint Venture s system became operational in 1996, its spectrum access in North America has been governed by a multi-lateral
agreement referred to as the Mexico City Memorandum of Understanding ( Mexico City MoU ) and by bilateral agreements. There are five
national administrations, the United States, Canada, Mexico, Russia and the United Kingdom that are party to the Mexico City MoU. The MSV
Joint Venture operates under the auspices of the United States and Canada. Accordingly, the MSV Joint Venture must coordinate with operators
and their administrations to operate in the L-band and to reconfigure the L-band. Operators might not cooperate in these coordination
procedures. Since 1999, there has been no new spectrum sharing agreement among the satellite system operators represented by the five
administrations. The MSV Joint Venture has not completed coordination of its new satellites. International coordination could result in an
increase or decrease in the amount of spectrum available to the MSV Joint Venture.

Moreover, the initial international frequency coordination of the MSV Joint Venture s system was done for narrowband services and air
interfaces. Newer broadband services and air interfaces can take advantage of larger
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blocks of contiguous spectrum. While some of the MSV Joint Venture s L-band spectrum is already in sufficiently large contiguous blocks to
permit the offering of such new formats, the MSV Joint Venture is engaged in negotiations with other operators to reconfigure the L-band
spectrum to maximize and enhance the usability of such spectrum services. Other operators, however, could seek to delay such efforts to
reconfigure the L-band to maximize and enhance the use of the band for the provision of new services, including ATC services. For example,
Inmarsat recently announced its intention to pursue an MSS/ATC system in the L-band, yet Inmarsat has vigorously opposed the MSV Joint
Venture s ATC application. The failure to reconfigure the L-band into larger blocks of contiguous spectrum will prevent the MSV Joint Venture
from maximizing the efficiency and capacity of its next generation integrated network.

Moreover, the MSV Joint Venture cannot guarantee that the ITU will not change its rules in the future in a way that could limit or preclude the
MSV Joint Venture s use of some or all of its existing or future orbital locations or frequencies.

The MSYV Joint Venture may not be able to secure the return of certain spectrum it loaned to Inmarsat.

In 1999 and 2003, and consistent with the Mexico City MoU, the MSV Joint Venture loaned approximately 3 MHz of L-band spectrum to
Inmarsat for its temporary use. The MSV Joint Venture has initiated steps with the FCC and Industry Canada to confirm its rights to the
spectrum but there can be no guarantee that Inmarsat will comply with this effort. If the loaned spectrum is not returned before the deployment
of the ATC network, there could be a negative impact on service levels and the numbers of users the MSV Joint Venture s spectrum could
support. As such, over time it could impact the MSV Joint Venture s business plan.

The MSYV Joint Venture service may cause or be subject to interference.

As a satellite provider, the MSV Joint Venture is required to provide its satellite and ATC service without causing harmful interference to most
other spectrum users and the MSV Joint Venture must accept some interference from certain other spectrum users. While the MSV Joint Venture
views this as remote, this requirement may potentially hinder the satellite portion of the operation of its system and may, in certain cases, subject
its users to a degradation in service quality. Moreover, Inmarsat currently operates satellites that have not been coordinated with the MSV Joint
Venture s and, thus, may interfere with the MSV Joint Venture s satellites. The MSV Joint Venture is working to minimize the risk of
interference, but there is no guarantee it will be successful.

The ultimate resolution of pending FCC proceedings could materially affect the MSV Joint Venture s ability to develop and offer ATC
services and have a material adverse effect on the MSV Joint Venture s next generation business plans.

Inmarsat has challenged two FCC orders that may impact the MSV Joint Venture s ability to maximize the efficiency of its ATC in the L-band,
including the November 2004 Application Approval which granted the MSV Joint Venture s ATC license and the February 2005 Order
establishing revised rules for ATC. Inmarsat has objected to the MSV Joint Venture s pending 2005 application for a modified ATC license to
take advantage of the new ATC rules. Inmarsat has consistently asked the FCC to impose technical restrictions on the MSV Joint Venture s ATC
service. These challenges remain pending at the FCC. If these challenges are decided unfavorably to MSV, it may impede or preclude the MSV
Joint Venture s ability to deploy and operate its proposed next generation integrated network.

The MSYV Joint Venture needs additional regulatory approvals before it can operate ATC.

The MSV Joint Venture has an application pending at the FCC to modify its ATC authorization to provide the MSV Joint Venture additional
flexibility, including authority for ATC deployments based on Frequency Division Duplex ( FDD ) and Time Division Duplex ( TDD ) using
OFDM and OFDMA air interfaces such as
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WiMax and Flash-OFDM. Inmarsat has challenged certain elements of the modification application, including the request for authority to deploy
TDD-based air interfaces. In addition, the MSV Joint Venture will need further regulatory approvals before it can operate ATC, including a
blanket license for its user terminals and FCC certification of its user terminals and base stations. The MSV Joint Venture will also need to
construct a satellite as a ground spare or receive a waiver from the FCC of its ground spare requirement. The MSV Joint Venture has stated that

it intends to request such a waiver based on its plan to use MSV-1 and MSV-2 as in-orbit spares for each other. Any difficulty in obtaining these
approvals or such a waiver may delay the commencement of operation of the MSV Joint Venture s new system. The MSV Joint Venture does not
yet have authority from Industry Canada to operate an ATC in Canada. Neither we nor the MSV Joint Venture can provide any assurance if or
when it will obtain any of these approvals.

A 2002 decision could be construed to limit a portion of the MSV Joint Venture s operations to using no more than 20 MHz of L-band
spectrum.

In a 2002 decision, the FCC granted the MSV Joint Venture s subsidiary, Mobile Satellite Ventures Subsidiary LLC ( MSV Sub ), a license to use
up to 20 MHz of L-band spectrum on MSAT-2. That decision also states that spectrum acquired under a future merger between Motient and

TMI would be included within the 20 MHz limit. The MSV Joint Venture filed a petition for clarification and partial reconsideration of that
decision because the MSV Joint Venture had already been established pursuant to an FCC order in 2001 that had authorized the MSV Joint
Venture to use TMI s spectrum without imposing such spectrum limitations. The MSV Joint Venture has coordinated less than 20 MHz of
L-band spectrum for the United States satellites. The MSV Joint Venture believes that, even if it were limited to 20 MHz of spectrum on the
United States satellites, it would continue to be able to use all the coordinated spectrum (approximately 30 MHz) on its Canadian satellite and on
its integrated network, as well as up to 20 MHz of coordinated spectrum on the United States satellite. The MSV Joint Venture cannot be sure
how or when the FCC will dispose of its petition, but subsequent FCC decisions suggest that spectrum licensed to the MSV Joint Venture
Canada is not included within the 20 MHz limit. If the FCC decides adversely to the MSV Joint Venture, its United States licensed L-band
satellites (MSAT-2 and MSV-1) could be limited to a maximum of 20 MHz, which could reduce the MSV Joint Venture s ability to offer certain
new satellite services.

Failure to comply with FCC and Industry Canada rules and regulations could damage the MSV Joint Venture s business.

FCC and Industry Canada rules and regulations, and the terms of the MSV Joint Venture s satellite authorizations and the MSV Joint Venture s
ATC license from the FCC, require the MSV Joint Venture to meet certain conditions, such as satellite construction and launch milestones,
maintenance of satellite coverage of all fifty states, Puerto Rico, and the United States Virgin Islands and the provision of an integrated service
offering. Non-compliance by the MSV Joint Venture with these or other conditions, including other FCC or Industry Canada gating criteria,
could result in fines, additional license conditions, license revocation, or other adverse FCC or Industry Canada actions.

If the supply of available mobile licensed spectrum increases, the value of the MSV Joint Venture s spectrum assets may decrease.

The FCC or Industry Canada could allocate large amounts of additional mobile licensed spectrum that could be used to compete with the MSV
Joint Venture, or that could decrease the perceived market value of the MSV Joint Venture s wireless capacity. The FCC, for example, recently
scheduled an auction of 90 MHz of spectrum in the 1.7/2.1 GHz range for June 2006. Additional spectrum auctions may be scheduled in the
future. In addition, incremental allocations of spectrum may make it easier for new competitors to enter the market, and could further diminish
the value of the MSV Joint Venture s spectrum assets.
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Technical challenges or regulatory requirements may limit the attractiveness of the MSV Joint Venture s spectrum for providing mobile
services.

The MSV Joint Venture has stated that it believes its L-band spectrum with ATC capability will be attractive to potential partners if its spectrum
is at least functionally equivalent to PCS/cellular spectrum. The FCC and Industry Canada require the MSV Joint Venture to provide substantial
satellite service throughout the United States and Canada. This requirement may limit the availability of some of the MSV Joint Venture s
spectrum for terrestrial service in some markets at some times. In addition, the MSV Joint Venture must give priority and pre-emptive access to
certain other users of the L-band, for example, for safety-related transmissions in the Global Maritime Distress and Safety System and the
Aeronautical Mobile Satellite (Route) Service. PCS/cellular spectrum is not constrained by any such requirement. If the MSV Joint Venture is
not able to develop technology that allows its partners to use its spectrum in a manner comparable to PCS/cellular operators, it may not be
successful in entering into partnership arrangements.

The MSYV Joint Venture s ability to offer a primarily fixed service may be limited by the policies of the FCC.

The FCC has permitted the MSV Joint Venture to provide fixed services on a non-interference basis, which means that such operations are not
permitted to cause interference to various other users of the band and are not permitted to claim protection from such other users. The FCC also
has required the MSV Joint Venture fixed services to be offered on an incidental or ancillary basis, conditions which the FCC has not defined in
this context.

The MSYV Joint Venture may face difficulties in obtaining regulatory approvals for provision of telecommunications services and may face
changes in regulation, each of which could adversely affect its operations.

The provision of telecommunications services is highly regulated. The MSV Joint Venture may be required to obtain additional approvals from
national and local authorities in connection with the services that it currently provides or may wish to provide in the future, including in
connection with services associated with the MSV Joint Venture s next generation integrated network. As a provider of communications services
in the United States and Canada, the MSV Joint Venture is subject to the regulatory authority of both the United States and Canada. Violations

of laws or regulations may result in various sanctions including fines, loss of authorizations and the denial of applications for new authorizations
or for the renewal of existing authorizations

Moreover, the MSV Joint Venture may be required to obtain additional approvals from national and local regulatory authorities in connection
with the services that it currently provides or wishes to provide in the future. From time to time, governmental entities may impose new
conditions on the MSV Joint Venture s authorizations which could have an effect on its ability to generate revenue and conduct its current and
next generation business as currently planned. For example, from time to time, the United States federal government has considered whether to
impose fees on the use of frequencies such as the ones the MSV Joint Venture uses to provide its service. If the MSV Joint Venture is required to
pay such fees, the MSV Joint Venture may be subject to substantially increased costs.

Export control and embargo laws may preclude the MSV Joint Venture from obtaining necessary satellites, parts or data or providing certain
services in the future.

United States companies and companies located in the United States must comply with United States export control laws in connection with any
information, products, or materials that they provide to the MSV Joint Venture relating to satellites, associated equipment and data and with the
provision of related services. If these entities cannot or do not obtain the necessary export or re-export authorizations from the United States
government, the MSV Joint Venture will be required to obtain such authorizations. It is possible that, in the future, they and the MSV Joint
Venture may not be able to obtain and maintain the necessary authorizations, or existing authorizations could be revoked.

19

21



Edgar Filing: SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form 10-K

If the MSV Joint Venture s manufacturers and the MSV Joint Venture cannot obtain and maintain the necessary authorizations, this failure could
adversely affect the MSV Joint Venture s ability to:

procure new United States-manufactured satellites;

control its existing satellites;

acquire launch services;

obtain insurance and pursue its rights under insurance policies; or

conduct its satellite-related operations.
In addition, if the MSV Joint Venture does not properly manage its internal compliance processes and violates United States export laws, the
terms of an export authorization, or embargo laws, the violation could make it more difficult, or even impossible, to maintain or obtain licenses
and could result in civil or criminal penalties.

The MSYV Joint Venture s contractual relationship with potential partners that may operate ATC facilities in the MSV Joint Venture s next
generation integrated network must comply with FCC and Industry Canada rules that require ATC to be integrated with the satellite service
and require the MSV Joint Venture, as the license holder, to control ATC operations.

The MSV Joint Venture must ensure compliance with the ATC rules of the FCC and Industry Canada. This may require agreements with some
partners that provide for a degree of control by the MSV Joint Venture in the operation of its business that may be difficult to negotiate.

In addition, the Communications Act and the FCC s rules require the MSV Joint Venture to maintain legal as well as actual control over the
spectrum for which it is licensed. The MSV Joint Venture s ability to enter into partnering arrangements may be limited by the requirement that
the MSV Joint Venture maintains de facto control of the spectrum for which it is licensed. If the MSV Joint Venture is found to have
relinquished control without approval from the FCC, the MSV Joint Venture may be subject to fines, forfeitures, or revocation of its licenses.

Rules relating to Canadian ownership and control of the MSV Joint Venture Canada are subject to interpretation and change.

The MSV Joint Venture Canada is subject to foreign ownership restrictions imposed by the Telecommunications Act (Canada) and the
Radiocommunication Act (Canada) and regulations made pursuant to the these Acts. Although the MSV Joint Venture believes that MSV
Canada is in compliance with the relevant legislation, there can be no assurance that a future determination by Industry Canada or the Canadian
Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission, or events beyond its control, will not result in MSV Canada ceasing to comply with the
relevant legislation. If such a development were to occur, the ability of MSV Canada to operate as a Canadian carrier under the
Telecommunications Act (Canada) or to maintain, renew or secure its Industry Canada authorizations could be jeopardized and the MSV Joint
Venture s business could be materially adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock Generally
Fluctuations in our operating results could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

Our operating results may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control, including:

risks and uncertainties affecting the current and proposed business of the MSV Joint Venture and the mobile satellite services industry;
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increased competition in the mobile satellite services industry; and

general economic conditions.
As a result of these possible fluctuations, period-to-period comparisons of our financial results may not be reliable indicators of future
performance.

As a result of our distribution of Hughes Communications, Inc. to our stockholders, our sole businesses are the MSV Joint Venture and
TerreStar.

Our business has been significantly changed as a result of our distribution to our shareholders of Hughes Communications, Inc. which held all of
our assets other than the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar. The result is that our success is currently tied solely to our ability as an active
participant in the MSV Joint Venture to make it, and to a lesser extent TerreStar, successful.

The price of our common stock has been volatile.

The market price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, volatile, experiencing wide fluctuations. In recent years, the
stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices of equity securities of
many companies in the technology sector. Future market movements may materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock,
particularly in light of the diminished liquidity of our common stock as a result of our delisting from the Nasdaq National Market.

Our common stock is quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board, which limits the liquidity and could negatively affect the value of our common
stock.

Since January 30, 2003, following our delisting from the Nasdaq National Market, price quotations have been available on the OTC Bulletin
Board. Delisting from the Nasdaq National Market resulted in a reduction in the liquidity of our common stock. This lack of liquidity may also
make it more difficult for us to raise additional capital, if necessary, through equity financings. In addition, the delisting of our common stock
from the Nasdaq National Market resulted in an event of non-compliance under the provisions of our preferred stock. As we have not obtained a
waiver of this event of non-compliance, the holders of our preferred stock are entitled to elect a majority of the members of our board of
directors.

We do not intend to pay dividends on shares of our common stock in the foreseeable future.

We currently expect to retain our future earnings, if any, for use in the operation and expansion of our business. We do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends on shares of our common stock in the foreseeable future.

The issuance of preferred stock or additional common stock may adversely affect our stockholders.

Our board of directors has the authority to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of our preferred stock and to determine the terms, including voting
rights, of those shares without any further vote or action by our common stockholders. The voting and other rights of the holders of our common
stock will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any preferred stock that may be issued in the future.
Similarly, our board may issue additional shares of common stock without any further vote or action by our common stockholders, which would
have the effect of diluting common stockholders. An issuance could occur in the context of another public or private offering of shares of
common stock or preferred stock or in a situation where the common stock or preferred stock is used to acquire the assets or stock of another
company. The issuance of common stock or preferred stock, while providing desirable flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions,
investments and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control.
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Anti-takeover provisions could make a third-party acquisition of our company difficult.

We are a Delaware corporation. The Delaware General Corporation Law contains provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to
acquire control of our company. In addition, the holders of our preferred stock have certain rights which could prevent or impair the ability of a
third party to acquire control of the company.

Shares eligible for future sale could cause our stock price to decline.

The market price of our common stock could decline as a result of future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock, or the perception
that such sales could occur. Furthermore, our preferred stock and Series 1-A and 2-A warrants have the right to require us to register the shares
of common stock underlying these securities, which may facilitate their sale of shares in the public market. The future sale of substantial
amounts of our common stock pursuant to any such registration statements could have an adverse impact on our stock price.

We may suffer adverse consequences if we are deemed to be an investment company.

We may suffer adverse consequences if we are deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940. A company
may be deemed to be an investment company if it owns investment securities with a value exceeding 40% of its total assets, subject to certain
exclusions. Some investments made by us may constitute investment securities under the Investment Company Act of 1940. If we were to be
deemed an investment company, we would become subject to registration and regulation as an investment company under the Investment
Company Act of 1940. If we failed to do so, we would be prohibited from engaging in business or issuing our securities and might be subject to
civil and criminal penalties for noncompliance. In addition, certain of our contracts might be voidable, and a court-appointed receiver could take
control of our company and liquidate our business. If we registered as an investment company, we would be subject to restrictions regarding our
operations, investments, capital structure, governance and reporting of our results of operations, among other things, and our ability to operate as
we have in the past would be adversely affected.

Although we believe that our investment securities currently do not comprise more than 40% of our total assets, this view is dependent upon our
belief that our largest asset, our stake in the MSV Joint Venture, is not an investment security. Should that interest be deemed to be an
investment security, then unless an exclusion or safe harbor were available to us, in certain circumstances, we would have to either attempt to
purchase operations or business sufficiently large to offset such treatment or, alternatively, reduce our ownership of the MSV Joint Venture as a
percentage of our total assets in order to avoid becoming subject to the requirements of the Investment Company Act of 1940. There can be no
assurances that such transactions, to the extent necessary, could be consummated on satisfactory terms, if at all, and that such transactions would
not have an adverse effect on us and the price of our common stock. In addition, contractual or legal restrictions could impair our ability to
consummate such a transaction. Moreover, we could incur significant tax liabilities in connection with any such actions.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure may result in additional expenses.

Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, is
creating uncertainty for companies such as ours. We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure.
As a result, we intend to invest reasonably necessary resources to comply with evolving standards, and this investment may result in increased
general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management time and attention from assisting the MSV Joint Venture in
revenue-generating activities to compliance activities, which could harm our business prospects.
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The Apollo Stockholders beneficially own a large percentage of our voting stock.

As of December 31, 2005, Apollo Investment Fund IV, L.P., Apollo Overseas Partners IV, L.P., AIF IV/RRRR LLC and AP/RM Acquisition
LLC (collectively, the Apollo Stockholders ) owned an aggregate of 1,745,375 shares of our voting common stock, all of the 8,990,212 shares of
our non-voting common stock, all of the 1,199,007 outstanding shares of our preferred stock and all of our outstanding Series 1-A and Series

2-A warrants. Assuming that all outstanding shares of our preferred stock are converted and all Series 1-A warrants and Series 2-A warrants are
exercised, as of December 31, 2005, the Apollo Stockholders would beneficially own approximately 63% of our outstanding common stock and
35% of our outstanding voting power on a fully diluted basis. As long as the Apollo Stockholders own at least 100,000 shares of the preferred
stock, we are precluded from taking various corporate actions and entering into various transactions without the Apollo Stockholders consent. In
addition, voting as a separate class, the Apollo Stockholders have the right to elect two of the members of our board of directors and have certain
approval rights with respect to additional members of our board of directors in the event that the size of our board of directors is increased.
Furthermore, the delisting of our common stock from the Nasdaq National Market resulted in an event of non-compliance under the provisions

of our preferred stock. As a result, the Apollo Stockholders have the right to elect the majority of our board of directors.

Because of the Apollo Stockholders large percentage of ownership and their rights as holders of preferred stock, including being entitled to
975,000 votes with respect to the preferred stock, the Apollo Stockholders have significant influence over our management and policies, such as
the election of our directors, the appointment of new management and the approval of any other action requiring the approval of our

stockholders, including any amendments to our certificate of incorporation and mergers or sales of all or substantially all of our assets. In
addition, the level of the Apollo Stockholders ownership of our shares of common stock and these rights could have the effect of discouraging or
impeding an unsolicited acquisition proposal.

The Apollo Stockholders are entitled to quarterly cash dividends.

In accordance with the terms of our preferred stock, the Apollo Stockholders are entitled to receive quarterly cash dividends at an annual rate of
4.65% of the then current face value to be paid quarterly in arrears commencing with the three months ended September 30, 2004. While we had
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of approximately $28.0 million as of December 31, 2005, $15.5 million of such cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments was contributed to Hughes pursuant to the separation agreement. The dividend payment will be
approximately $5.6 million per year through the mandatory redemption on June 30, 2012 or such earlier time as the terms of the preferred stock
are renegotiated. There can be no assurance that we will be able to meet these quarterly dividend obligations from existing cash, cash equivalents
and short-term investments. Even if we are able to satisfy these obligations, the effect of such payments on our cash position may adversely
affect our ability to meet our operational payment obligations. We may be required to raise additional capital to meet these obligations or to
otherwise reach an agreement with the Apollo Stockholders to modify the terms of these obligations.

Item 2. Properties
Our principal office is located in New York, New York, where we lease approximately 2,300 square feet of space. We routinely evaluate our
facilities for adequacy in light of our plans for the future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We and certain of our subsidiaries (along with the Engelhard Corporation) were parties to an arbitration relating to certain agreements that

existed between or among the claimant and ICC Technologies, Inc., our former name, and the Engelhard/ICC ( E/ICC ) joint venture arising from
the desiccant air conditioning business that we and our subsidiaries sold in 1998. The claimant sought $8.5 million for (a) its alleged out of

pocket losses in investing in certain of E/ICC s technology, (b) unjust enrichment resulting from the reorganization of E/ICC in
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1998, and (c) lost profits arising from the fact that it was allegedly forced to leave the air conditioning business when the E/ICC joint venture
was dissolved. On December 30, 2005, the parties to the arbitration executed a definitive binding settlement agreement. Pursuant to the
settlement agreement, our codefendant in the arbitration, the Engelhard Corporation, agreed to pay the claimant $0.7 million. In return, we and
Engelhard exchanged general releases with the claimants, settling the arbitration. In connection with the settlement, we agreed to reimburse
Engelhard for approximately $0.2 million of the settlement payment, and exchanged a general release with them as well.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None.

PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Since January 30, 2003, our common stock has been listed on the OTC Bulletin Board. Our common stock has traded under the symbol SKYT
since our name change on September 24, 2003. The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated, the high and low sales prices per
share as reported on the OTC Bulletin Board:

High Low

Year ended December 31, 2004

First quarter $ 4.80 $ 1.50
Second quarter 7.45 3.05
Third quarter 8.00 6.05
Fourth quarter 27.40 6.95
Year ended December 31, 2005

First quarter $41.50 $24.20
Second quarter 41.60 26.40
Third quarter 37.00 32.00
Fourth quarter 39.40 23.05

The above quotations reported by the OTC Bulletin Board reflect interdealer prices, which may not include retail mark-ups, mark-downs or
commissions and may not necessarily represent actual transactions. On March 27, 2006, the last sale price for our common stock as reported by
the OTC Bulletin Board was $19.34 per share.

As of March 27, 2006, we had approximately 750 recordholders of our common stock. This number was derived from our stockholder records,
and does not include beneficial owners of our common stock whose shares are held in the names of various dealers, clearing agencies, banks,
brokers, and other fiduciaries. Holders of our common stock are entitled to share ratably in dividends, if and when declared by our board of
directors.

We have not paid a cash dividend on our common stock for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, and it is unlikely that we will pay any
cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. The payment of cash dividends on our common stock will depend on, among
other things, our earnings, capital requirements and financial condition, and general business conditions. Under the terms of the purchase
agreement we entered into with the holders of our preferred stock, for so long as such holders beneficially own not less than 100,000 shares of
preferred stock, we are prohibited from declaring or paying, and may not permit any of our subsidiaries to declare or pay, any dividend or make
any other distribution in respect of any other shares of our capital stock without the prior written consent of such holders.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto and with
Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The selected

consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and the selected consolidated

balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 are derived from our consolidated financial statements which have been

audited by our independent registered public accounting firm. The presentation of the data for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

have been reclassified to reflect the accounting for the discontinued operations of AfriHUB. The presentation of data for the years ended

December 31, 2001 has been reclassified to reflect the accounting for discontinued operations of Rare Medium, Inc.

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands except share data)
Consolidated statements of operations data:

Revenues $ 615 $ 2,117 $ 699 $ $ 1,906
Cost of revenues (326) (2,036) 913) (1,337)
Gross margin 289 81 (214) 569
Selling, general and administrative expenses (9,588) (9,367) (6,733) (6,513) (24,214)
Loss from operations (9,299) (9,286) (6,947) (6,513) (23,645)
Interest income, net 1,436 10,548 6,304 5,602 9,189
Equity in earnings of Hughes Network Systems,

LLC 24,054

Equity in loss of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP (9,469) (1,020)

Loss on investments in affiliates (638) (1,336) (404) (385) (54,633)
Other income (expense), net 877 21,030 244 (14,716) (22,239)
Minority interest 1,925 (810) (1,126) (998) 97)

Income (loss) before taxes and discontinued

operations 8,886 19,126 (1,929) (17,010) (91,425)
Income tax benefit 50,334 350

Income (loss) from continuing operations 59,220 19,126 (1,929) (16,660) (91,425)
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations 105 (1,960) 1,211 12,632 (118,919)
Net income (loss) 59,325 17,166 (718) (4,028) (210,344)
Cumulative dividends and accretion of Series A

Preferred Stock to liquidation value (9,969) (9,918) (9,687) (10,937) (11,937)

Net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders $ 49,356 $ 7,248 $ (10,405) $  (14,965) $ (222,281)

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Continuing operations $ 2.79 $ 0.61 $ (0.76) $ (2.32) $ 1621
Discontinued operation 0.01 (0.13) 0.08 1.06 (18.66)
Net earnings (loss) per share $ 2.80 $ 0.48 $ (0.68) $ (1.26) $ (34.87)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Continuing operations $ 2.66 $ 0.58 $ (0.76) $ (2.32) $ (16.21)
Discontinued operation 0.01 (0.12) 0.08 1.06 (18.66)
Net earnings (loss) per share $ 2.67 $ 0.46 $ (0.68) $ (1.26) $ (34.87)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 17,614,474 15,115,895 15,341,518 11,865,291 6,374,020
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18,488,021 15,837,370 15,341,518 11,865,291
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Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands except share data)
Consolidated balance sheet data:

Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments $ 27,964 $ 94,507 $ 28,692 $ 39,492 $ 16,807
Investment in Hughes Network Systems, LLC 75,282

Investment in Mobile Satellite Ventures LP 42,761 50,098

Investment in XM Satellite Radio 91,800
Deferred income taxes 50,334

Notes receivable, net 65,138 56,823 50,486
Investments in affiliates 4,362 3,361 2,769 2,343 2,600
Total assets 205,337 154,570 98,099 100,346 163,716
Total liabilities 5,378 10,512 6,066 7,715 24,757
Minority interest 8,474 9,974 12,467 11,334 10,097
Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, net 93,100 88,706 80,182 70,495 59,558
Stockholders equity (deficit) 98,385 45,378 (616) 10,802 69,304
Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon financial statements which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and should each be read together with
our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those financial statements. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of the Distribution, our business has changed materially. Moreover, as described below,
notwithstanding the legal form of the Distribution, Hughes will be considered the divesting entity and treated as the accounting successor to
us for financial reporting purpose. Accordingly, our actual results will differ materially from those anticipated in those forward-looking
statements, which related to businesses that have been contributed to Hughes. Furthermore, for periods following the closing of the acquisition
of the remaining 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS in January 2006, Hughes, as accounting successor to us, will include the
financial position and operating results of HNS in its consolidated financial statements.

Overview

We are an active participant in the MSV Joint Venture, a joint venture that also includes TMI, Motient and the Other MSV Investors. The MSV
Joint Venture is currently a provider of mobile digital voice and data communications services via satellite in the United States and Canada,
while pursuing plans to develop, build and operate a next-generation satellite system complemented by an ancillary terrestrial component. We
have designated three members of the 13-member board of directors of the MSV Joint Venture s corporate general partner, and our MSV
Investors Subsidiary owns approximately 23% of the limited partnership interests of the MSV Joint Venture. In addition, our MSV Investors
Subsidiary owns approximately 17% of TerreStar, which is also pursuing plans to develop, build and operate a next-generation satellite system
complemented by an ATC in the 2 GHz band.
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Prior to the Distribution, we also operated our business through a group of additional companies in the telecommunications industry, including:

HNS, a leading provider of broadband satellite networks and services to the enterprise market and satellite internet access to the North
American consumer market. Since April 2005, when we completed the acquisition of 50% of the Class A membership interests of
HNS, we have served as the managing member of HNS. In January 2006, we acquired the remaining 50% of the Class A membership
interest of HNS;

ESP, formerly a product development and engineering services firm, now focused on maximizing the license revenues from its
existing intellectual property portfolio; and

AfriHUB, which provides a limited amount of satellite based Internet services through exclusive partnerships with certain Nigerian
based universities while also providing technical training in the Nigerian market. In December 2005, we signed a letter of intent to sell
our interests in AfriHUB.
Prior to the Distribution, we provided corporate resources, strategic direction, transactional assistance and financial support to enable each of
these companies to focus on and exploit opportunities within their lines of business.

In November 2004, the FCC granted the MSV Joint Venture s application to operate an ATC in the L-Band, subject to certain conditions. This
authorization was the first license for ATC operation granted by the FCC, allowing the MSV Joint Venture to commence terrestrial operations

by offering an ATC with its commercial service. In February 2005, the FCC issued the February 2005 Order which set forth new rules for the
deployment and operation of an ATC and provided the MSV Joint Venture with substantial additional flexibility in its system implementation.
This additional flexibility provided by the FCC s decision is expected to allow the MSV Joint Venture to offer users affordable and reliable voice
and high-speed data communications service through devices, including mobile phones, from virtually anywhere in the United States. In

addition, the service will operate inside of buildings and throughout urban environments, which is currently not possible with mobile satellite
systems due to terrain blockage from buildings and other urban structures that interrupt a satellite signal s path.

As aresult of the FCC s authorizations, the value of our stake in the MSV Joint Venture has significantly increased; however, even with ATC
authority, the ability of the MSV Joint Venture to succeed is subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including the ability of the MSV Joint
Venture to raise the capital necessary for the implementation of the next generation satellite system including ATC or to identify and reach an
agreement with one or more strategic partners. Additional risks include the ability of the MSV Joint Venture to attract and retain customers, the
increased potential competition from other satellite and wireless service providers, as well as the uncertainty with respect to the outcome of the
court challenges to the FCC s ATC orders.

During 2004, our consolidated revenues were primarily derived from fees generated from services performed by ESP. During the fourth quarter
of 2004, ESP experienced a significant decline in demand for its services, including from its existing customers. This decline resulted from the
decreased amount of outsourced development and engineering services contracted for by is traditional customer base. As a result, in January
2005, ESP reduced its workforce from 21 employees to four employees to compensate for the reduced cash inflows. ESP subsequently reduced
its headcount to one employee and has ceased performing services for clients. Instead, ESP is focusing on maximizing the licensing revenue
from its intellectual property portfolio and is expected to continue those efforts following the Distribution.

In April 2004, we acquired a controlling interest in AfriHUB. AfriHUB s plan was to provide instructor led and distance based technical training
and satellite based broadband Internet access and domestic and international calling services through exclusive partnerships with certain
Nigerian based universities. While establishing centers which provide these services on two university campuses during the fourth quarter of
2004, AfriHUB
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experienced significant unanticipated delays and costs in opening these facilities, as well as greater price sensitivity within the university
communities. As a result, AfriHUB recorded an impairment charge of approximately $0.8 million in December 2004 and suspended its planned
roll out of service to additional campuses. While AfriHUB is actively pursuing other opportunities to provide technical training in the Nigerian
market, including establishing a facility on a single additional campus, in August 2005, we decided to cease providing funding to AfriHUB.
Given the uncertainty with respect to AfriHUB s future prospects, we recorded an impairment charge of approximately $0.4 million during the
three months ended June 30, 2005 relating to the remaining value of AfriHUB s long-lived assets. In August 2005, AfriHUB s Nigerian
subsidiary received approximately $0.2 million of short-term financing from a Nigerian bank to fund the investment necessary to establish the
facility on the additional campus. In September 2003, the Nigerian subsidiary also received a $0.3 million grant from a charitable foundation to
further AfriHUB s efforts in providing technical training in Nigeria. The grant is payable in two equal annual installments with the first such
payment being received in September 2005. In December 2005, we made a decision to discontinue operating AfriHUB and signed a letter of
intent to sell our interests in AfriHUB for a promissory note with a principal amount of approximately $0.2 million and a maturity date one year
following the execution of definitive documentation. The sale of our ownership interest in AfriHUB will not have a material impact on our
financial position or results of operations. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets ( SFAS No. 144 ), the results of operations of AfriHUB have been classified as discontinued
operations on the statements of operations and prior period results have been reclassified.

From October 2004 through June 2005, Navigauge attempted to raise capital to expand its data measurement capabilities beyond the Atlanta
market. Other than an aggregate of $1.1 million of short-term promissory notes purchased by us and an aggregate of $1.1 million of short-term
promissory notes purchased by other existing investors during such time period, Navigauge was unsuccessful in raising capital. Accordingly, in
light of its prospects, Navigauge s board of directors determined to cease the operations of the company in July 2005. Accordingly, during the
three months ended June 30, 2005, we recognized a loss of $1.3 million relating to the impairment of the aggregate remaining carrying amount
of our equity interest in Navigauge and the short-term promissory notes. This loss is included in loss on investments in affiliates on the
consolidated statements of operations. In July 2005, Navigauge signed a non-binding letter of intent to sell substantially all of its assets. The sale
of the assets was subject to, among other things, completion of the buyer s due diligence and negotiation and execution of definitive
documentation satisfactory to the parties. In September 2005, the negotiations pursuant to the letter of intent were terminated. Navigauge is
pursuing other options with respect to selling its assets.

To execute its business plan, Miraxis needed to raise significant amounts of capital in order to launch several satellites. Other than an aggregate
of $0.1 million of promissory notes purchased by us from January 2004 through July 2005, Miraxis has been unsuccessful in raising capital.
Accordingly, the board of managers of Miraxis and the holders of the membership interests of Miraxis have approved the dissolution of the
company. The dissolution of Miraxis will not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In October 2005, we acquired Series A preferred shares from Hughes Systique Corporation ( Hughes Systique ) for $3.0 million, representing an
ownership of approximately 26% on an undiluted basis. Hughes Systique plans to provide software development services with technology
resources and expertise in wireless broadband communications for terrestrial and satellite applications. Hughes Systique will also support other
application areas such as wireless based networking, RFID enterprise applications and multimedia applications for in-home broadband
entertainment networks. The founders of Hughes Systique include the Chief Executive Officer and President of Hughes, as well as certain

current and former employees of HNS, including the Chief Executive Officer and President s brother.

Distribution

On February 21, 2006, we completed the Distribution and separated into two publicly owned companies: (i) Hughes, which consists of, among
other things, the assets, liabilities and operations associated with the HNS,
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ESP and AfriHUB businesses and certain minority investments in entities including Edmunds Holdings, Inc., Data Synapse, Inc. and Hughes
Systique, along with all of our cash, excluding $12.5 million, and certain other liabilities expressly allocated to Hughes; and (ii) us consisting of
the assets and liabilities associated with our interest in the MSV Joint Venture and our stake in TerreStar, $12.5 million in cash and the
obligations pursuant to the Series A Preferred Stock. Upon a change of control, including in connection with a consolidation of the ownership of
the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar, the remaining balance of the $12.5 million of cash at such time, if any, will be transferred to Hughes.

To effect the Distribution, we distributed to each of our stockholders one-half of one share of Hughes common stock for each share of our
common stock (or, in the case of our preferred stock and Series 1-A and 2-A warrants, in accordance with their terms, one-half of one share of
Hughes common stock for each share of our common stock issuable upon conversion or exercise of such preferred stock and warrants).

Pursuant to our 1998 Long Term Incentive Plan, the compensation committee of our board of directors is required to make an equitable
adjustment to the terms of options issued under that plan in the event a special, large and nonrecurring dividend or distribution affects our
common stock such that an adjustment is appropriate in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of the participants under such plan.
Our compensation committee has discretion to make such an adjustment to any option issued under the plan by adjusting the number and kind of
shares that may be issued in respect of outstanding options or the exercise price relating to such options. Pursuant to this provision, our
compensation committee determined that holders of stock options issued under the plan who were current members of our management and
board of directors, as well as a consultant and former directors who were involved with our acquisition of HNS, should receive an option to
purchase one share of Hughes common stock for each option to purchase two shares of our common stock that they held as of the date of the
Distribution. The issuance of such options to purchase Hughes common stock was in lieu of a larger adjustment to the exercise price of our
options that such holders would have been otherwise entitled had they not received options to purchase Hughes common stock. A reduction in
the exercise price (or in some cases, an increase in the number of shares) was the manner in which all of our other options outstanding under the
plan were adjusted. Options to purchase 435,836 shares of Hughes common stock were issued to holders of our options.

We and Hughes have entered into a separation agreement (the Separation Agreement ). The Separation Agreement effected, on December 31,
2005, the transfer, by way of contribution from us to Hughes, of the assets related to Hughes business, and the assumption by Hughes of certain
liabilities. The Separation Agreement and certain related agreements govern, among other things, certain of the ongoing relations between us and
Hughes following the Distribution.

In general, pursuant to the terms of the Separation Agreement, all of our assets and liabilities, other than those specifically relating to the MSV
Joint Venture and TerreStar, $12.5 million in cash and the obligations pursuant to the Series A Preferred Stock, became Hughes assets and
liabilities. Upon a change of control, the remaining balance of the $12.5 million of cash at such time, if any, will be transferred to Hughes. The
Separation Agreement also provides for assumptions of liabilities and cross-indemnities designed to allocate generally, effective as of the date of
the Distribution, financial responsibility for all liabilities arising out of or in connection with Hughes businesses to Hughes and all liabilities
arising out of or in connection with our interest in the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar to us. In addition, Hughes will indemnify us for
liabilities relating to certain litigation in which we or our subsidiaries were involved.

Notwithstanding the legal form of the Distribution, Hughes will be considered the divesting entity and treated as the accounting successor to us

for financial reporting purposes in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force ( EITF ) Issue No. 02-11, Accounting for Reverse Spin-offs, due
to, among other things, (i) the businesses transferred to Hughes generated all of our historical consolidated revenues and constituted a majority

of our assets and (ii) the businesses transferred to Hughes include our discontinued operating subsidiaries and all of the assets and liabilities

relating to such subsidiaries. Accordingly, our financial statements for periods ending
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subsequent to the date of the Distribution will include the results of operations and financial position of our remaining business, our MSV
Investors Subsidiary, as well as the historical carrying amount and related dividends and accretion attributable to the Series A Preferred Stock
which remains our obligation following the Distribution. See the unaudited pro forma financial information included elsewhere in this Item 7.

Proposed Consolidation of Ownership of the MSV Joint Venture

Both prior to and since September 22, 2005, when we executed a non-binding letter of intent with Motient, TMI and the other partners in the

MSV Joint Venture and the other stockholders of TerreStar, we have been in discussions that would result in the consolidation of the ownership

of each of the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar. These discussions have included a potential merger of us with and into Motient and, more
recently, a variety of other structures. The consummation of any such consolidation transaction is subject to, among other things, definitive
documentation, filing of the appropriate registration statements with the Securities and Exchange Commission ( SEC ) and the requisite approvals
from our board of directors.

HNS Transactions

On April 22, 2005, we acquired 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS from DTV Network Systems, Inc. (formerly known as

Hughes Network Systems, Inc., DTV Networks ), a wholly owned subsidiary of The DIRECTV Group, Inc. ( DIRECTV ), for $50.0 million in
cash and 300,000 shares of our common stock. The acquisition occurred pursuant to an agreement among us, DIRECTV, DTV Networks and
HNS, dated December 3, 2004, as amended. Immediately prior to the acquisition, DTV Networks contributed substantially all of the assets and
certain liabilities of its very small aperture terminal, mobile satellite and carrier businesses, as well as the certain portions of its SPACEWAY
Ka-band satellite communications platform that is under development, to HNS, which at the time was a wholly-owned subsidiary of DTV
Networks. In consideration for the contribution of assets by DTV Networks, HNS paid DTV Networks $190.7 million of cash. This payment
represented the $201.0 million stated in the agreement less an estimated purchase price adjustment of $10.3 million, which was subject to further
adjustment depending principally upon the closing value of HNS working capital (as defined in the agreement). On January 3, 2006, HNS paid
DTV Networks $10.0 million in final satisfaction of all purchase price adjustments.

On January 1, 2006, through Hughes, we consummated the acquisition of the remaining 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS from
DTV Networks for $100.0 million in cash. In order to fund the purchase price, Hughes borrowed $100.0 million from certain of the Apollo
Stockholders. The loan bears interest at a rate of 8% per annum and has a final maturity date of January 1, 2007. The loan was repaid in March
2006 following the consummation of a rights offering conducted by Hughes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. These
accounting principles require us to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of income and expense during the periods presented. Although these estimates are
based on our knowledge of current events and actions we may undertake in the future, actual results may differ from estimates. The following
discussion addresses our most critical accounting policies, which are those that are most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and
results from operations, and that require judgment. Also, see the notes accompanying the consolidated financial statements, which contain
additional information regarding our accounting policies.

Consolidation

We consolidate the operating results and financial position of subsidiaries in which we own a controlling financial interest, which is usually
indicated by ownership of a majority voting interest of over 50% of the
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outstanding voting shares. Because we own approximately 80% of the voting interests in our MSV Investors Subsidiary, 78% of the voting
interests of ESP and 70% of the voting interests of AfriHUB, these entities have been included in our consolidated financial statements as of and
for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.

We account for minority owned subsidiaries in which we own greater than 20% of the outstanding voting shares but less than 50% and possess
significant influence over their operations under the equity method, whereby we record our proportionate share of the subsidiary s operating
results. Because we own approximately 39% of the voting interests of Navigauge and 26% of the voting interests of Hughes Systique, our
proportionate share of each of these companies operating results has been included in loss on investments in affiliates on our consolidated
statements of operations. Following the conversion of our notes receivable from the MSV Joint Venture into approximately 23% of the voting
interests of the MSV Joint Venture, we recognized our proportionate share of the MSV Joint Venture s operating results, subject to certain
adjustments, in equity in loss of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP on our consolidated statements of operations. Prior to the conversion of the notes
receivable, we did not record our proportionate share of the MSV Joint Venture s operating results.

As discussed below in Recently Issued Accounting Standards, we adopted FIN No. 46R on January 1, 2004. FIN No. 46R requires companies to
consolidate variable interest entities (as defined below) for which we are the primary beneficiary, irrespective of the voting interest held. As
HNS is a variable interest entity and we are not the primary beneficiary, we account for our interest in HNS under the equity method. For
periods following the closing of the January 2006 acquisition of the remaining 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS, our
consolidated financial statements will include the financial position and operating results of HNS.

We have determined that we meet the definition of the primary beneficiary with respect to Miraxis and, therefore, have included the accounts of
Miraxis in our consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. Prior to the adoption of FIN

No. 46R, we recognized our proportionate share of Miraxis operating results in loss on investment in affiliates on our consolidated statements of
operations.

Notes Receivable

‘We value our notes receivable based on the face amount, net of a valuation reserve for unrealized amounts. We review the net balance of our
notes for changes to the reserve, either increases or decreases, whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount differs from
its expected recovery.

As of December 31, 2003, as a result of the uncertainty with respect to the ultimate collection on the note receivable from Motient, we
maintained a reserve for the entire amount of the note and unpaid interest accrued thereon. During 2004, Motient paid us approximately $23.1
million representing all outstanding principal and accrued interest due on the note. Accordingly, the reserve was adjusted resulting in the
recognition of $23.1 million of income which is reflected in our consolidated statements of operations as $19.0 million in other income
(expense), net and $4.1 million in interest income, net.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are derived primarily from fees generated from (i) contracts for product development, consulting and engineering services performed
by ESP, including reimbursable travel and other out-of pocket expenses and (ii) licensing the right to use certain intellectual property owned by
ESP. Revenues from services performed by ESP are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method for fixed price contracts and as time
is incurred for time and materials contracts, provided the collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Revenues from licensing
the right to use intellectual property are recognized as the licensee manufactures products incorporating or using the licensed intellectual
property. Licensees typically pay a nonrefundable license issuance fee which is recognized as revenue upon receipt.
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A handling and finance charge is added to materials and equipment purchased for certain product development engagements. These charges, as
well as those relating to reimbursement of other out-of-pocket expenses billed to clients, are included in revenues. The costs of these
reimbursable items are included in cost of revenues.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004
Revenues

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005 decreased to $0.6 million from $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, a decrease
of $1.5 million. This decrease was due to a significant decline in demand for ESP s services in the fourth quarter of 2004. Currently, ESP is
focusing exclusively on exploiting its intellectual property portfolio.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues includes the salaries and related employee benefits for ESP employees that provide billable product development, consulting
and engineering services, as well as the cost of reimbursable expenses. Cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005 decreased to $0.3
million from $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, a decrease of $1.7 million. This decrease was due to the reduction in ESP s
workforce in January 2005.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expense includes facilities costs, finance, legal and other corporate costs, as well as the salaries and related
employee benefits for those employees that support such functions. Selling, general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31,
2005 increased to $9.6 million from $9.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, an increase of $0.4 million. This increase relates
primarily to the $2.9 million increase in professional fees related primarily to the registration of the common stock sold in the December 2004
private placement, several transactions which were not consummated, the special dividend distribution and the contemplated merger with
Motient, a $0.3 million increase in non-cash compensation expense related to an option to purchase our common stock issued to a consultant in
June 2004 and a $0.3 million increase in bonuses for our executive officers for services provided in connection with these transactions. Partially
offsetting these increases were a $2.4 million decrease in non-cash compensation expense related to the 2002 and 2001 repricing of certain stock
options and a decrease in expenses incurred by ESP of $0.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2004.

Interest Income, Net

Interest income, net for the year ended December 31, 2005 is comprised primarily of the interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents, and
short-term investments. Interest income, net for the year ended December 31, 2004 is comprised primarily of the interest earned on our cash,
cash equivalents, and short-term investments and on our notes receivable from the MSV Joint Venture, Verestar and Motient. Interest income,
net for the year ended December 31, 2005 decreased to $1.4 million from $10.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, a decrease of
$9.1 million. This decrease relates primarily to the conversion of our notes receivable from the MSV Joint Venture in November 2004 and the
collection of all amounts due under the notes receivable from Motient and Verestar in 2004.

Equity in Earnings of Hughes Network Systems, LLC

Following our April 2005 acquisition of a 50% interest in HN'S, we account for our interest in HNS under the equity method in accordance with
FIN 46R, as HNS is a variable interest entity as defined in FIN 46R and we
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are not the primary beneficiary as defined in FIN 46R. Accordingly, we record income relating to our proportionate share of HNS net income.
For the period following the April 22, 2005 acquisition through December 31, 2005, we recorded income of approximately $24.0 million. For
additional information regarding HNS, refer to the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto of HNS included in Item 15 of this
Form 10-K.

Equity in Loss of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP

In November 2004, our notes receivable from the MSV Joint Venture converted into approximately 23% of the outstanding limited partnership
interests in the MSV Joint Venture. Following the conversion, we accounted for our interest in the MSV Joint Venture under the equity method.
For the year ended December 31, 2005 and the period from November 12, 2004 through December 31, 2004, we recorded expense of
approximately $9.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively, relating to our proportionate share of the MSV Joint Venture s net loss. We do not
expect the MSV Joint Venture to be profitable in the near future. For additional information regarding the MSV Joint Venture, refer to the
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto of the MSV Joint Venture included in Item 15 of this Form 10-K.

Loss on Investment in Affiliates

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded a loss on investments in affiliates of approximately $0.6 million consisting of $1.3 million
relating to the impairment of the short-term promissory notes purchased from Navigauge, $0.3 million relating to our proportionate share of
Navigauge s net loss, $0.2 million relating to the impairment of the investment in a company in which we invested in 2000 as part of our former
venture investment strategy and $0.1 million relating to our proportionate share of Hughes Systique s net loss, partially offset by a $1.3 million
gain relating to the sale of our interests in two companies in which we invested in 1999 as part of our former venture investment strategy. For the
year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded a loss on investments in affiliates of approximately $1.3 million relating to our proportionate share
of Navigauge s net loss. We will continue to monitor the carrying value of our remaining investments in affiliates.

Other Income, Net

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded other income, net of approximately $0.9 million relating primarily to the management fees
received from HNS following the April 2005 acquisition. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded other income, net of
approximately $21.0 million relating primarily to one-time items, including the $19.0 million adjustment to the reserve for the note receivable
from Motient, the $1.5 million settlement with Verestar s parent company in connection with the termination of the August 2003 securities
purchase agreement, and the approximately $0.4 million representing a break-up fee in connection with the termination of the March 2004
Verestar asset purchase agreement.

Minority Interest

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded minority interest of approximately $1.9 million relating to the proportionate share of the net
loss of the MSV Joint Venture that is attributable to the group of unaffiliated third parties who own approximately 20% of our MSV Investors
Subsidiary. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded minority interest of approximately $0.8 million relating primarily to the interest
income earned on the convertible notes from the MSV Joint Venture that is attributable to the group of unaffiliated third parties who own
approximately 20% of our MSV Investors Subsidiary.

Income Tax Benefit

Based on a private letter ruling issued by the Internal Revenue Service ( IRS ) and a closing agreement entered into by the IRS and the Company
with respect to whether an ownership change as defined by
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Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code occurred during the period from June 5, 1999 through December 31, 2004, we believe that our loss
carryforwards are not subject to limitation under Section 382 and, therefore, are available to offset future taxable income of us and our affiliates
unless subject to other limitation. As the Distribution did not qualify as a tax-free spin-off, we expect to generate significant taxable income in
2006 for Federal and state income tax purposes. Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized a $50.3 million income tax
benefit related to the reversal of the valuation allowance related to the loss carryforwards which are expected to be utilized to offset the Federal
taxable income on the Distribution.

Gain (Loss) from Discontinued Operations

We have two operations which are classified as discontinued in accordance with SFAS No. 144: AfriHUB and Rare Medium, Inc. In December
2005, we made a decision to cease operating AfriHUB and signed a letter of intent to sell our interests in AfriHUB. At the end of the third
quarter of 2001, a decision to discontinue the operations of Rare Medium, Inc. and its LiveMarket subsidiary was made in light of their
performance and prospects. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized a gain of approximately $0.1 million from discontinued
operations consisting of a $1.1 million gain from the settlement of Rare Medium, Inc. liabilities at amounts less than their recorded amounts,
partially offset by a $1.0 million loss from operations of AfriHUB. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recognized a loss from
discontinued operations of approximately $2.0 million consisting of the loss from operations of AfriHUB.

Net Income Attributable to Common Stockholders

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we recorded net income attributable to common stockholders of approximately $49.4 million
and $7.2 million, respectively. Included in net income attributable to common stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
was $10.0 million and $9.9 million, respectively, of dividends and accretion related to our Series A Preferred Stock. Dividends were accrued
related to amounts payable quarterly on our Series A Preferred Stock and to the accretion of the carrying amount of the Series A Preferred Stock
up to its $100 per share face redemption amount over 13 years.

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003
Revenues

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 increased to $2.1 million from $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, an increase
of $1.4 million. This increase was due to the acquisition of ESP on August 25, 2003, and accordingly, our inclusion of ESP s operating results
from that date. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 were primarily derived from fees generated from contracts for product
development, consulting and engineering services performed by ESP.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues includes primarily the salaries and related employee benefits for ESP employees that provide billable product development,
consulting and engineering services, as well as the cost of reimbursable expenses. Cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004
increased to $2.1 million from $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, an increase of $1.2 million. This increase was due to the
acquisition of ESP on August 25, 2003, and accordingly, our inclusion of ESP s operating results from that date.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expense includes facilities costs, finance, legal and other corporate costs, as well as the salaries and related
employee benefits for those employees that support such functions. Selling, general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31,
2004 increased to $9.4 million from $6.7
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million for the year ended December 31, 2003, an increase of $2.7 million. This increase relates primarily to the recognition of non-cash expense
in the year ended December 31, 2004 for the following items:

approximately $2.8 million related to the repricing of certain options in 2002 and 2001;

approximately $0.3 million related to an option to purchase our common stock issued to an unaffiliated consultant; and

approximately $0.3 million related to the issuance of an option to purchase a less than one percent ownership interest in our MSV
Investors Subsidiary to an unaffiliated consultant.
For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized $0.1 million of non-cash expense relating to the option repricing.

Other factors contributing to the increase include the approximately $0.4 million related to incremental costs resulting from the inclusion of a
full year of ESP s operating results for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to only for the period following the August 25, 2003
acquisition in 2003. Partially offsetting this increase is the $0.5 million of professional fees related to the August 2003 Verestar transaction
which were expensed in the year ended December 31, 2003, as well as the approximately $0.7 million charge recognized in the year ended
December 31, 2003 relating to bonuses for certain executive officers for services provided during the year ended December 31, 2002 and the
severance and benefits for our former Controller and former Treasurer

Interest Income, Net

Interest income, net is comprised of the interest earned on the notes receivable from the MSV Joint Venture, Motient and Verestar and on our
cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments. Interest income, net for the year ended December 31, 2004 increased to $10.5 million from
$6.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, an increase of $4.2 million. This increase relates primarily to the adjustment of the reserve
for the unpaid interest on the note receivable from Motient in the year ended December 31, 2004. The reserve was adjusted because Motient paid
approximately $0.5 million of outstanding interest in April 2004 and approximately $22.6 million representing the entire outstanding principal
and remaining interest due under the note receivable in July 2004. As there was no longer any uncertainty with respect to the ultimate collection
on the principal or interest due, we recognized approximately $4.1 million in interest income in the year ended December 31, 2004, representing
all interest earned from the May 2002 issuance of the note through the July 2004 repayment.

Equity in Loss of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP

In November 2004, our notes receivable from the MSV Joint Venture converted into approximately 23% of the outstanding limited partnership
interests in the MSV Joint Venture. Following the conversion, we accounted for our interest in the MSV Joint Venture under the equity method
and recorded expense of approximately $1.0 million relating to our proportionate share of the MSV Joint Venture s net loss. For additional
information regarding the MSV Joint Venture, refer to the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto of the MSV Joint Venture
included in Item 15 of this Form 10-K.

Loss on Investment in Affiliates

For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded a loss on investments in affiliates of approximately $1.3 million relating to our
proportionate share of Navigauge s net loss. For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded a loss on investments in affiliates of
approximately $0.4 million for our proportionate share of each of Miraxis and Navigauge s respective net loss.

Other Income, Net

For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded other income, net of approximately $21.0 million relating primarily to one-time items,
including the $19.0 million adjustment to the reserve for the note
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receivable from Motient, the $1.5 million settlement with Verestar s parent company in connection with the termination of the August 2003
securities purchase agreement, and the approximately $0.4 million representing a break-up fee in connection with the termination of the March
2004 Verestar asset purchase agreement.

Minority Interest

For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we recorded minority interest of approximately $0.8 million and $1.1 million, respectively,
relating primarily to the interest income earned on the convertible notes from the MSV Joint Venture which is attributable to the group of
unaffiliated third parties who own approximately 20% of our MSV Investors Subsidiary.

(Loss) Gain from Discontinued Operations

We have two operations which are classified as discontinued in accordance with SFAS No. 144: AfriHUB and Rare Medium, Inc. In December
2005, we made a decision to cease operating AfriHUB and signed a letter of intent to sell our interests in AfriHUB. At the end of the third
quarter of 2001, a decision to discontinue the operations of Rare Medium, Inc. and its LiveMarket subsidiary was made in light of their
performance and prospects. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recognized a loss from discontinued operations of approximately $2.0
million consisting of the loss from operations of AfriHUB. For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized a gain of approximately $1.2
million from discontinued operations consisting of the settlement of Rare Medium, Inc. liabilities at amounts less than their recorded amounts.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Common Stockholders

For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded net income attributable to common stockholders of approximately $7.2 million. For the
year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded a net loss attributable to common stockholders of approximately $10.4 million. Included in net
income (loss) attributable to common stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $9.9 million and $9.7 million,
respectively, of dividends and accretion related to our Series A Preferred Stock. Dividends were accrued related to amounts payable quarterly on
our Series A Preferred Stock and to the accretion of the carrying amount of the Series A Preferred Stock up to its $100 per share face redemption
amount over 13 years.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had approximately $28.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments as of December 31, 2005. Pursuant to the Separation
Agreement, we contributed $15.5 million of our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments to Hughes. We expect that the remaining
$12.5 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash requirements through at least
the next twelve months. Upon a change of control, including in connection with a consolidation of the ownership of the MSV Joint Venture and
TerreStar, the remaining balance of the $12.5 million of cash at such time, if any, will be transferred to Hughes.

Cash used in operating activities from continuing operations was approximately $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and resulted
primarily from the cash used for general corporate overhead including payroll and professional fees. Cash used by discontinued operations was
approximately $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and resulted from cash used by Rare Medium, Inc. for the settlement of
vendor liabilities and legal and advisory fees and by AfriHUB for the operation of the centers which provide its services on two university
campuses.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, cash used in investing activities from continuing operations, excluding purchases and sales of short-term
investments, was $54.6 million and resulted primarily from the $50.0
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million used to purchase 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS in April 2005, the $3.6 million used to purchase interests in each of
Hughes Systique and Navigauge and the $3.1 million deposited in a restricted cash account to collateralize the surety bond securing our license
application for a satellite orbital slot. Partially offsetting these uses was the $1.9 million of cash we received from the sale of our interests in two
companies in which we invested in 1999 as part of our former venture investment strategy. Other than the $100.0 million paid in January 2006
for the remaining 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS, we do not have any future funding commitments with respect to any of our
investments.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, cash used in financing activities from continuing operations was approximately $5.4 million, consisting
primarily of the payment of the dividend on our Series A Preferred Stock, as described below.

Interests in MSV Joint Venture

Through our 80% owned MSV Investors Subsidiary, we are an active participant in the MSV Joint Venture. On November 26, 2001, through our
MSYV Investors Subsidiary, we purchased a $50.0 million interest in the MSV Joint Venture in the form of a convertible note. Immediately prior
to the purchase of the convertible note, we contributed $40.0 million to the MSV Investors Subsidiary and a group of unaffiliated third parties
collectively contributed $10.0 million. The note yielded interest at a rate of 10% per year, had a maturity date of November 26, 2006 and was
convertible at any time at the option of our MSV Investors Subsidiary into equity interests in the MSV Joint Venture.

On August 13, 2002, the MSV Joint Venture completed a rights offering allowing its investors to purchase their pro rata share of an aggregate
$3.0 million of newly issued convertible notes with terms similar to the convertible note already held by our MSV Investors Subsidiary. The
MSYV Investors Subsidiary exercised its basic and over subscription rights and purchased approximately $1.1 million of the convertible notes.
The group of unaffiliated third parties collectively contributed $0.2 million to the MSV Investors Subsidiary in connection with the MSV Joint
Venture rights offering.

On November 12, 2004, the MSV Joint Venture raised $145.0 million in cash by selling partnership units for $29.45 per unit and exchanged or
converted approximately $84.9 million of debt securities and accrued interest. In connection with this financing, the convertible notes held by
the MSV Investors Subsidiary converted into approximately 23% of the limited partnership interests of the MSV Joint Venture on an undiluted
basis, at their original conversion price of $6.45 per unit. As a result of these transactions, the MSV Investors Subsidiary also received
approximately $17.1 million in cash from the MSV Joint Venture to pay the accrued interest on the convertible notes. The MSV Investors
Subsidiary distributed approximately $13.6 million of this cash to us and $3.4 million of cash to the unaffiliated third parties who own the 20%
minority interest.

Our MSV Investors Subsidiary and the other partners of the MSV Joint Venture have agreed that the disposition by the MSV Joint Venture of all
or substantially all of its assets, certain acquisitions or dispositions of a limited partner s interest in the MSV Joint Venture, subsequent
investment into the MSV Joint Venture by any person, and any merger or other business combination of the MSV Joint Venture, are subject to
the control restrictions contained in the Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement and the Amended and Restated Stockholders
Agreement. The control restrictions include, but are not limited to, rights of first refusal, tag along rights and drag along rights. Certain of these
actions cannot occur without the consent of the majority of the ownership interests of the MSV Joint Venture. In addition, our MSV Investors
Subsidiary and two of the three other joint venture partner groups have entered into a voting agreement pursuant to which three of the four joint
venture partner groups must consent to certain transactions involving the MSV Joint Venture or the partners or none of the parties to the voting
agreement will support such actions.

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the MSV Joint Venture had revenues of approximately $29.4 million, $29.0 million and
$27.1 million, respectively, and a net loss of approximately $41.0
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million, $33.5 million and $28.0 million, respectively. For additional information regarding the results of operations and financial position of the
MSYV Joint Venture, refer to the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto of the MSV Joint Venture included in Item 15 of this
Form 10-K. Following the conversion of our notes receivable in November 2004, we accounted for our interest in the MSV Joint Venture under
the equity method. For the year ended December 31, 2005 and the period from November 12, 2004 through December 31, 2004, we recorded
expense of approximately $9.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively, relating to our proportionate share of the MSV Joint Venture s net loss.

Hughes Network System Transactions

As discussed above, on April 22, 2005, we acquired 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS for $50.0 million in cash and 300,000
shares of our common stock. In consideration for the contribution of assets by DTV Networks, HNS paid DTV Networks $190.7 million of cash.
This payment represented the $201.0 million stated in the agreement less an estimated purchase price adjustment of $10.3 million, which was
subject to further adjustment depending principally upon the closing value of HNS working capital (as defined in the agreement). On January 3,
2006, HNS paid DTV Networks $10.0 million in final satisfaction of all purchase price adjustments.

On January 1, 2006, through Hughes, we consummated the acquisition of the remaining 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS from
DTV Networks for $100.0 million in cash. In order to fund the purchase price, Hughes borrowed $100.0 million from certain of the Apollo
Stockholders. The loan bears interest at a rate of 8% per annum and has a final maturity date of January 1, 2007. The loan was repaid in March
2006 following the consummation of a rights offering conducted by Hughes.

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, HNS had revenues of approximately $806.9 million, $789.4 million and $751.1
million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2005, HNS had net income of approximately $24.1 million, and for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, HNS had a net loss of $1,433.5 million and $157.0 million, respectively. For additional information regarding the
results of operations and financial position of HNS, refer to the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto of HNS included in
Item 15 of this Form 10-K. Following the acquisition of 50% of the Class A membership interests in April 2005, we accounted for our interest in
HNS under the equity method and recorded income of approximately $24.1 million relating to our proportionate share of HNS net income.

Motient Promissory Note

On May 1, 2002, to mitigate the risk, uncertainties and expenses associated with Motient s then pending plan of reorganization, we cancelled the
outstanding amounts due under the original promissory notes issued by Motient in 2001 and accepted a new note in the principal amount of
$19.0 million (the New Motient Note ) that was issued by MSV Holding, Inc., a new, wholly-owned subsidiary of Motient that owns 100% of
Motient s interests in the MSV Joint Venture. The New Motient Note was due on May 1, 2005 and yielded interest at a rate of 9% per annum.
Although the New Motient Note was unsecured, there were material restrictions placed on the use of MSV Holdings Inc. s assets, and MSV
Holdings Inc. was prohibited from incurring or guarantying any debt in excess of $21.0 million (including the New Motient Note). Additionally,
there were events of default (e.g., a bankruptcy filing by Motient) that would have accelerated the due date of the New Motient Note. As a result
of the uncertainty with respect to the ultimate collection on the remaining amounts due on the New Motient Note, a reserve was maintained for
the entire principal amount of the note and unpaid interest accrued thereon.

On April 7, 2004, as a result of a payment received by Motient pursuant to a promissory note from the MSV Joint Venture, Motient paid us
approximately $0.5 million of interest accrued on the New Motient Note. Following several successful financings by Motient, on July 15, 2004,
Motient paid us approximately $22.6 million representing all outstanding principal and accrued interest due on the New Motient Note.
Accordingly, the reserve was adjusted resulting in the recognition of $23.1 million of income.
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Verestar Transactions

On August 29, 2003, we signed a securities purchase agreement to acquire, through a newly formed subsidiary, approximately 67% (on a
fully-diluted basis) of Verestar. Concurrent with the signing of the securities purchase agreement, we purchased a 10% senior secured note with
a principal balance of $2.5 million and a due date of August 2007. We terminated the securities purchase agreement on December 22, 2003.
Subsequently, Verestar filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code.

On March 8, 2004, we executed an agreement to acquire, through a newly formed subsidiary, substantially all of the assets and business of
Verestar pursuant to Section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code. The transaction was subject to a number of contingencies, including an auction on
March 30, 2004 at which Verestar considered higher and better offers. At the auction, a bid was accepted from a strategic buyer at a price higher
than we were willing to offer.

In connection with the Verestar bankruptcy, we entered into a stipulation with Verestar pursuant to which the parties agreed to, among other
things, the validity and enforcement of the obligation under the senior secured note and our security interest in Verestar s assets. On April 30,
2004, Verestar repaid the $2.5 million principal amount of the senior secured note, along with an additional approximately $0.4 million
representing a break-up fee in connection with the termination of the March 2004 asset purchase agreement.

On July 9, 2004, we settled our dispute with Verestar s parent company regarding the break-up fee in connection with the termination of the
August 2003 securities purchase agreement. As consideration for the settlement, Verestar s parent company paid us $1.5 million.

On July 29, 2004, we entered into a stipulated settlement with Verestar and its Creditor Committee pursuant to which Verestar agreed to pay us
approximately $0.4 million representing certain amounts owed, including unpaid accrued interest, in connection with the senior secured note. On
August 13, 2004, the Bankruptcy Court approved the stipulated settlement.

AfriHUB Transactions

In August 2005, AfriHUB s Nigerian subsidiary borrowed approximately $0.2 million of short-term financing from a Nigerian bank under a term
loan to fund the investment necessary to establish a facility on an additional university campus. The short-term borrowing, which is denominated
in Nigerian Naira, is due in August 2006 and bears interest at an annual rate of 19% as of December 31, 2005. The interest rate is subject to
change based on fluctuations of the bank s money market rate. We have not guaranteed any amounts owed under the short-term borrowing.

In December 2005, we made a decision to discontinue operating AfriHUB and signed a letter of intent to sell our interests in AfriHUB for a
promissory note with a principal amount of approximately $0.2 million and a maturity date one year following the execution of definitive
documentation. The sale of our ownership interest in AfriHUB will not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

Tender Offer

On March 13, 2003, we commenced a cash tender offer at a price of $1.00 per share for up to 2,500,000 shares of our outstanding voting
common stock. The tender offer expired on April 23, 2003 with 968,398 shares purchased by us for an aggregate cost, including all fees and
expenses applicable to the tender offer, of approximately $1.2 million. The primary purpose of the tender offer was to provide our public
stockholders with additional liquidity for their shares of common stock, particularly in light of decreased liquidity arising from the decision of
Nasdagq to delist our common stock, and to do so at a premium over the stock price before the tender offer and without the usual transaction costs
associated with open market sales. The holders of our preferred stock did not sell any shares of common stock in the tender offer.
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Issuance of Common Stock

On December 23, 2004, we sold 2,000,000 shares of our common stock for gross proceeds of $36.5 million (net proceeds of $35.1 million) in a
private placement to a group of institutional investors. In connection with this sale, we entered into a registration rights agreement with the
investors requiring that, among other things, we register the resale of the shares. If we do not meet certain deadlines between June 30, 2005 and
December 31, 2005 with respect to making the registration effective, then warrants, which were issued to the investors in connection with the
transaction, to purchase up to an additional 600,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $18.25 per share will vest and be exercisable
at any time through December 23, 2009. The number of warrants that vest, if any, will depend on when the registration statement becomes
effective. If we meet the June 30, 2005 deadline and otherwise comply with certain registration obligations, none of the warrants will vest. In
connection with the transaction, we also issued a warrant to purchase 110,000 shares at an exercise price of $18.25 per share to the placement
agent, which is exercisable at any time through December 23, 2009.

Series A Preferred Stock Dividend

In accordance with the terms of our Series A Preferred Stock, the holders are entitled to receive quarterly cash dividends commencing on July 1,
2004. The quarterly payment of approximately $1.4 million, for the three months ended December 31, 2004, was declared and paid on

January 13, 2005. The quarterly payment of approximately $1.4 million, for the three months ended March 31, 2005, was declared on April 18,
2005 and paid on April 22, 2005. The quarterly payment of approximately $1.4 million, for the three months ended June 30, 2005, was declared
and paid on July 22, 2005. The quarterly payment of approximately $1.4 million, for the three months ended September 30, 2005, was declared
and paid on November 7, 2005. The quarterly payment of approximately $1.4 million, for the three months ended December 31, 2005, was
declared on January 30, 2006 and paid on February 2, 2006. The aggregate annual dividend payment will be approximately $5.6 million through
the mandatory redemption on June 30, 2012 or such earlier time as the terms of the preferred stock are renegotiated.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statements of operations presents our results of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2005 assuming the Distribution occurred on January 1, 2005. The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance
sheet presents our financial position assuming that the Distribution occurred on December 31, 2005.

Notwithstanding the legal form of the Distribution, Hughes will be considered the divesting entity and treated as the accounting successor to the
Company for financial reporting purposes in accordance with EITF Issue No. 02-11, Accounting for Reverse Spin-offs, due to, among other
things, (i) the businesses transferred to Hughes generated all of our historical consolidated revenues and constituted a majority of the book value
of our assets and (ii) the businesses transferred to Hughes include our discontinued operating subsidiaries and all of the assets and liabilities
relating to such subsidiaries. The Distribution will be accounted for pursuant to Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 29,
Accounting for Non-monetary Transactions. Accordingly, the Distribution will be accounted for based upon the recorded amounts of the net
assets to be divested. Following the Distribution, we will report the historical results of operations (subject to certain adjustments) of the assets
of which we retain ownership and control in our consolidated financial statements.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements set forth below should be read in conjunction with our historical financial
statements and the related notes thereto and the MSV Joint Venture s historical financial statements and the related notes thereto, all of which are
included in Item 15 of this Form 10-K. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements do not purport to represent what
our results of operations or financial condition would actually have been had the Distribution in fact occurred as of such date or to project our
results of operations for any future period or as of any future date.
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SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except share data)

For the Year December 31, 2005

SkyTerra
Pro Forma
SkyTerra Adjustments Pro Forma
Revenues $ 615 $ (615)(1) $
Cost of revenues (326) 326 (1)
Gross margin 289 (289)
Selling, general and administrative expenses (9,588) 7,603 (1) (1,985)
Loss from operations 9,299) 7,314 (1,985)
Interest income, net 1,436 (1,436)(1)
Equity in earnings of Hughes Network Systems, LLC 24,054 (24,054)(1)
Equity in loss of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP (9,469) (9,469)
Loss on investments in affiliates (638) 638 (1)
Other income, net 877 &77)(1)
Minority interest 1,925 1,925
Income from continuing operations before taxes 8,886 (18,415) (9,529)
Income tax benefit 50,334 46,773)(2) 3,561
Income from continuing operations 59,220 (65,188) (5,968)
Cumulative dividends and accretion of Series A Preferred Stock to
liquidation value (9,969) (9,969)
Income from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders $ 49,251 $ (65,188) $ (15,937)
Basic earnings from continuing operations per common share $ 2.79 $ (0.90)
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 17,614,474 17,614,474
Diluted earnings from continuing operations per common share $ 2.66 $ (0.90)
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 18,488,021 17,614,474

(1) Inaccordance with EITF 02-11, Accounting for Reverse Spin-offs, Hughes will be considered the divesting entity and treated as the
accounting successor to us for financial reporting purposes. The adjustment reflects the elimination of our historical income and expenses,

other than approximately $1.2 million of selling, general and administrative expenses related to our interest in the MSV Joint Venture and
TerreStar and an allocation of approximately $0.8 million of corporate overhead expenses. The allocation of corporate overhead expenses,
which includes costs for functions such as executive management, accounting, legal, human resources, information systems and insurance,
is based on an estimate of time spent by our employees performing services related to the MSV Investors Subsidiary, including issues
related to the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar.

(2) Adjustment reflects the income tax benefit which would be received by us on a separate return basis using an estimated effective income
tax rate of 38%.

41

44



Edgar Filing: SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form 10-K

SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(In thousands)

December 31, 2005

Pro Forma
SkyTerra Adjustments (1)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,964 $ (12,461)
Short-term investments 6,000 (3,000)
Restricted cash 2,295 (2,295)
Deferred income taxes 23,378 (23,378)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,082 (1,082)
Assets held for sale 279 (279)
Total current assets 55,187 (42,495)
Investment in Hughes Network Systems, LLC 75,282 (75,282)
Investment in Mobile Satellite Ventures LP 42,761
Investments in affiliates 4,362 (4,362)
Deferred income taxes 26,956 (26,956)
Restricted cash 765 (765)
Other assets 24 24)
Assets held for sale 189 (189)
Total assets $ 205,337 $ (150,073)
Liabilities and Stockholders Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 2,380 $ (2,359)
Accrued liabilities 2,473 (2,473)
Liabilities held for sale 525 (525)
Total current liabilities 5,378 (5,357)
Minority interest 8,474
Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, net of unamortized discount of $28,194 93,100
Stockholders equity:
Stockholders equity 102,491 (148,716)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,106) 4,000
Total stockholders equity 98,385 (144,716)
Total liabilities and stockholders equity $ 205,337 $ (150,073)

SkyTerra

Pro
Forma

$ 9,503
3,000

12,503

42,761

$ 55,264

21

8,474

93,100

(46,225)
(106)
(46,331)

$ 55,264

(1) Adjustment reflects the elimination of the net assets which were distributed to Hughes in the Distribution. Following the Distribution, we
retained our interest in each of the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar, $12.5 million of cash and the obligations pursuant to its Series A
Preferred Stock. Pursuant to the Separation Agreement by and between us and Hughes, upon a change in control, the remaining balance of
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the $12.5 million of cash on the date of such change in control, if any, will be transferred to Hughes.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. All subsidiaries in which we have a controlling financial interest are included in the
consolidated financial statements, and we do not have any relationships with any special purpose entities.

Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2005, we and our consolidated subsidiaries were contractually obligated to make the following payments to unrelated
parties (in thousands):

Payments Due By Period
Less Than
More Than
1
Total Year 1to 3 Years 3to 5 Years 5 Years
Operating leases $ 77 $77 $ $ $
Total $ 77 $77 $ $ $

Delisting from the Nasdaq National Market

As a result of the delisting by the Nasdaq on December 20, 2002, the shares of our common stock have traded in interdealer and
over-the-counter transactions and price quotations have been available in the pink sheets. Since January 30, 2003, price quotations also have
been available on the OTC Bulletin Board. Delisting from the Nasdaq National Market resulted in a reduction in the liquidity of our common
stock. This lack of liquidity will likely also make it more difficult for us to raise additional capital, if necessary, through equity financings. In
addition, the delisting of our common stock from the Nasdaq National Market resulted in an event of non-compliance under the provisions of
our preferred stock. As we have been unable to obtain a waiver of this event of non-compliance, the Apollo Stockholders are entitled to elect a
majority of the members of our board of directors.

Supplementary Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information

2004 2005
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
(in thousand, except per share data)

Revenue $ 817 $ 543 $ 418 $ 339 $ 135 $ 112 $ 196 $ 172
Gross margin 69 (45) 20 37 2) 17 149 125
Net income (loss) 36 23,301 (1,033) (5,138) (7,175) 3,273 5,558 57,669
Net (loss) income attributable to common

stockholders (2,425) 20,828 (3,525) (7,630) (9,668) 781 3,066 55,177
Basic (loss) income per share (0.16) 1.38 (0.23) (0.50) (0.56) 0.04 0.17 3.12
Diluted (loss) income per share (0.16) 1.33 (0.23) (0.50) (0.56) 0.04 0.16 2.81

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment ( SFAS No. 123R ), a revision of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123R
requires entities to recognize compensation expense for all share-based payments to employees, including stock options, based on the estimated

fair value of the instrument on the date it is granted. The expense will be recognized over the vesting period of the award. SFAS No. 123R is
effective for us on January 1, 2006 and provides entities two transition methods. We have elected to use the modified prospective method and
therefore will not restate our prior period results. Under the modified prospective method, compensation expense is recognized beginning with

the effective date for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date that are unvested on the effective date. As we currently account

for share-
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based payments using the intrinsic value method as allowed by APB Opinion No. 25, the adoption of the fair value method under SFAS

No. 123R will have an impact on our results of operations. The unrecognized compensation expense associated with unvested stock options was
approximately $1.5 million as of January 1, 2006. Of this amount, we expect to record approximately $1.0 million of compensation expense
during the year ended December 31, 2006. Additional compensation expense will be impacted by various factors, including the number of
awards granted and their related fair value at the date of grant.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29 ( SFAS
No. 153 ). SFAS No. 153 eliminates the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets of APB Opinion No. 29 and replaces
it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has
commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. SFAS No. 153 is
effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS No. 153 did not
have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB
Statement No. 3 ( SFAS No. 154 ). SFAS No. 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle and changes the requirements for
accounting for and reporting a change in accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 requires the retrospective application to prior periods financial
statements of the direct effect of a voluntary change in accounting principle unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific
effects or the cumulative effective of the change. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS No. 154 is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In November 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position FAS 115-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and its Application to

Certain Investments ( FSP 115-1 ). FSP 115-1 provides accounting guidance for determining and measuring other-than-temporary impairments of
debt and equity securities, and confirms the disclosure requirements for investments in unrealized loss positions as outlined in Emerging Issues

Task Force ( EITF ) Issue No. 03-01, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments and its Application to Certain Investments. FSP 115-1
is effective for us on January 1, 2006 and is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments an amendment of FASB Statements
No. 133 and 140 ( SFAS No. 155 ). SFAS No. 155 permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an
embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation, clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the
requirements of SFAS No. 133, establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that are
freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation, clarifies that
concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives, and amends SFAS No. 140 to eliminate the prohibition
on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another
derivative financial instrument. SFAS No. 155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity s first
fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 155 is not expected to have a material impact on our financial
position or results of operations.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2005, we had $28.0 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term cash investments. These cash, cash equivalents and
short-term cash investments are subject to market risk due to changes in interest rates. In accordance with our investment policy, we diversify
our investments among United States Treasury
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securities and other high credit quality debt instruments that we believe to be low risk. We are averse to principal loss and seek to preserve our
invested funds by limiting default risk and market risk.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The financial statements and supplementary financial data required by this Item 8 are set forth in Item 15 of this report. All information which
has been omitted is either inapplicable or not required.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation required by the Exchange Act, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer
and principal accounting officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule
13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of December 31, 2005. Based on such evaluation, our chief executive officer and principal accounting officer
have concluded that, as of December 31, 2005, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in recording, processing, summarizing and
reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act.

Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of
the Exchange Act. Management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on
criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. As a result of this assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2005, our internal control over financial reporting
was effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Deloitte & Touche LLP has issued an attestation report on
management s assessment of internal control over financial reporting, a copy of which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

SkyTerra Communications, Inc.

New York, New York

We have audited management s assessment, included in the accompanying Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,
that SkyTerra Communications, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company ) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company s principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company s board of directors, management, and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005 of the Company and our report dated
March 29, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and the financial statement schedule.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Baltimore, Maryland

March 29, 2006

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2005 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B.  Other Information
None.

PART III

Item 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table sets forth information concerning the Company s directors and executive officers as of March 27, 2006:

Name Age Position

Jeffrey A. Leddy 50 Chief Executive Officer and President

Robert C. Lewis 40 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Craig J. Kaufmann 30 Controller and Treasurer

Jeftrey M. Killeen (1)(2) 52 Director

William F. Stasior (1) 65 Director

Andrew D. Africk (1)(2) 39 Director

Aaron J. Stone 33 Director

Michael D. Weiner 53 Director

(1)  Member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
(2) Member of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
Executives

Jeffrey A. Leddy Chief Executive Officer and President. Mr. Leddy has been the Company s Chief Executive Officer and President since April
2003, having served as its President and Chief Operating Officer since October 2002 and its Senior Vice President of Operations since June

2002. From September 1980 to December 2001, Mr. Leddy worked for EMS Technologies, most recently as a Vice President. Mr. Leddy also
currently serves on the Board of Directors of Hughes Communications, Inc., Mobile Satellite Ventures GP Inc. and Hughes Systique
Corporation.

Robert C. Lewis  Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. Mr. Lewis has been the Company s Vice President and General Counsel
since May 1998 and Secretary of the Company since August 1998. Mr. Lewis was appointed the Company s Senior Vice President on July 26,
2000. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Lewis was an associate at the law firm of Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson from October 1992.

Craig J. Kaufmann Controller and Treasurer. Mr. Kaufmann has been the Company s Controller and Treasurer since April 2003, having served
as its Director of Financial Reporting since November 2000. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Kaufmann was the Financial Reporting Manager
of Kozmo.com since March 2000 and an associate at PricewaterhouseCoopers from August 1998 to March 2000.

Directors

Jeffrey M. Killeen Director. Mr. Killeen has been a director of the Company since October 1998. Since January 1, 2002, Mr. Killeen has been
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Globalspec, Inc., an information services company. Mr. Killeen was the Chief Executive Officer of
Forbes.com from August 1999 to March 2001. Prior to that, from January 1998 to March 1999, Mr. Killeen was the Chief Operating Officer of
barnesandnoble.com. Before joining barnesandnoble.com, Mr. Killeen served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Pacific Bell
Interactive Media from August 1994 to January 1998.
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William F. Stasior Director. Mr. Stasior joined the Board of Directors in April 2000. Mr. Stasior was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of Booz Allen & Hamilton Inc., a management and technology consulting firm, from 1991 to 1999. Since October 1999, Mr. Stasior has been

the Senior Chairman of Booz Allen. Mr. Stasior also serves on the Board of Directors of OPNET Technologies, Inc., a software company that
specializes in enhancing network performance for enterprises and service providers, and Vanu, Inc., a leading developer of software-defined
radio technology.

Andrew D. Africk Director. Mr. Africk has been a director of the Company since June 1999. Mr. Africk is a partner of Apollo Advisors, L.P.
Mr. Africk is also a director of Hughes Communications, Inc., Intelsat Holdings, Ltd., Superior Essex, Inc., Mobile Satellite Ventures GP Inc.,
TerreStar Networks, Inc. and several private venture companies.

Aaron J. Stone  Director. Mr. Stone has been a director since June 2005. Mr. Stone is a partner of Apollo Advisors, L.P. where he has worked
since 1997. Mr. Stone also serves on the Board of Directors of Hughes Communications, Inc., AMC Entertainment Inc., Educate Inc. and
Intelsat Holdings, Ltd. Prior to Apollo, Mr. Stone worked for Smith Barney Inc. in its Mergers & Acquisitions group.

Michael D. Weiner Director. Mr. Weiner has been a director since June 2005. Mr. Weiner joined Apollo Advisors, L.P. and Apollo Real Estate
Advisors in 1992 and has served as general counsel of the Apollo organization since that time. Prior to joining Apollo, Mr. Weiner was a partner
in the law firm of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius specializing in securities law, public and private financings, and corporate and commercial
transactions. Mr. Weiner serves on the Board of Directors of Hughes Communications, Inc. and Quality Distribution.

Audit Committee

The Company s Audit Committee is currently composed of two outside directors, Mr. Killeen and Mr. Stasior, both of whom are independent
under Rule 4200(a)(15) of the National Association of Securities Dealers ( NASD ) listing standards, and Mr. Africk. The Board of Directors has
determined that Mr. Africk is an audit committee financial expert within the applicable definition of the SEC.

Code of Ethics

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics for its Senior Executive and Senior Financial Officers. A copy of the Code is publicly available on
the Company s website at www.skyterracom.com. Amendments to the Code or any grant of a waiver from a provision of the Code requiring
disclosure under applicable SEC rules will also be disclosed on the Company s website.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires the Company s directors and executive officers, and persons who
own more than 10% of a registered class of the Company s securities, to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in
ownership of our common stock and other equity securities. Officers, directors and greater than 10% stockholders are required by SEC
regulations to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

To the Company s knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports furnished to the Company, the Company believes that
during the year ended December 31, 2005 its officers, directors and greater than 10% stockholders complied with all Section 16(a) filing
requirements, with the exception of the late filing of a Statement of Changes in Beneficial Ownership of Securities on Form 4 for each of
Messrs. Lewis, Kaufmann and Leddy in connection with option grants at fair market value in late January 2005 that were filed in February 2005,
and the late filing of a Statement of Changes in Beneficial Ownership of Securities on Form 4 for each of Messrs. Africk, Killeen, Stasior, Stone
and Weiner in connection with option grants at fair market value in June 2005 that were filed in early July 2005.
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Item 11.  Executive Compensation
Summary Compensation Table

The following Summary Compensation Table sets forth, for the three years ended December 31, 2005, the compensation for services in all
capacities earned by the Company s Chief Executive Officer and its next most highly compensated executive officers.

Name and Principal Position
Jeffrey A. Leddy

Chief Executive Officer and
President

Robert C. Lewis
Senior Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary

Craig J. Kaufmann
Controller and Treasurer

Year
2005
2004
2003

2005
2004
2003

2005
2004
2003

Securities
Other Underlying

Annual Options/

Salary Bonus (1) Compensation  SARs (#)
$310,000 $350,000 $ 30,000
309,180 300,000 70,000
232,950 168,750 100,000
205,000 200,000 10,000
203,846 100,000 20,000
187,615 90,000 40,000
120,000 150,000 10,000
118,269 50,000 25,000
94,490 37,500 15,000

LTIP All Other
Payouts Compensation
(6] 2)
$ $ 10,000
9,000

9,159
8,823
3,304

5,105
4,677
1,465

(1) Bonuses for services provided in the year ended December 31, 2003 were granted in January 2004 and are reflected in 2003. Bonuses for
services provided in the year ended December 31, 2004 were granted in February 2005 and are reflected in 2004. Bonuses for services
provided in the year ended December 31, 2005 were granted in January 2006 and are reflected in 2005.

(2) Represents employer matching contributions to retirement accounts.

Option / SAR Grants in the Last Year

The following table sets forth information concerning grants of stock options to purchase common stock during the year ended December 31,

2005 to the named executive officers.

Number of

Securities

Underlying

Options/SARs

Name Granted
Jeffrey A. Leddy 30,000(1)
Robert C. Lewis 10,000(1)
Craig J. Kaufmann 10,000(1)

Percent of
Total
Options/SARs
Granted to
Employees in
Fiscal Year
37.5%
12.5%
12.5%

Exercise or

Base

Price Expiration
($/Share) Date
$ 32.80 1/28/15
$ 32.80 1/28/15
$ 32.80 1/28/15

Potential Realizable Value at
Assumed Annual Rates of Stock
Appreciation for Option Term

5% 10%
$618,832 $ 1,568,243
$ 206,277 $ 522,748
$ 206,277 $ 522,748

(1) These options were granted on January 28, 2005 at an exercise price of $32.80, the per share fair market value of the common stock at that
time. The options have a term of ten years. These options are exercisable cumulatively in three equal annual installments, beginning on

January 28, 2006.
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Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises in the Last Year and Year-End Option/SAR Values

The following table sets forth information concerning the exercise of options to purchase shares of common stock by the named executive
officers during the year ended December 31, 2005, as well as the number and potential value of unexercised options (both options which are
presently exercisable and options which are not presently exercisable) as of December 31, 2005.

Value of Unexercised

Number of Securities In-the-Money

Underlying
Options/SARs
Options/SARs at
Number of Fiscal Y/E (#) at Fiscal Y/E ($)
Securities
Underlying . .
Options/SARs Exercisable/ Exercisable/
Acquired on Value
Name Exercise (#) Realized (1) Unexercisable Unexercisable
Jeffrey A. Leddy 190,001/109,999 7,047,953/3,092,797
Robert C. Lewis 63,334/36,666 2,306,951/1,033,009
Craig J. Kaufmann 13,334/31,666 487,141/842,009

Employment Contracts and Change in Control Arrangements

The Company has an employment agreement with Mr. Lewis. Under this agreement, if, either (i) after 90 days following a change in control,
Mr. Lewis terminates his employment or (ii) Mr. Lewis is terminated for other than cause as such term is defined in his agreement, then
Mr. Lewis is entitled to receive severance compensation and benefits in a lump sum payment consisting of one year of his then current salary
and the right to exercise all vested stock options and unvested stock options through the option expiration date for such options.

Compensation of Directors

Each non-employee director receives a per meeting fee of $1,000 for each meeting of the Board of Directors and $500 for each committee
meeting attended, along with expenses incurred in connection with attending each meeting. Furthermore, from time to time, directors may be
granted options to purchase common stock under our 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
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Item 12.  Security Ownership Of Certain Beneficial Owners And Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The following table and notes thereto set forth certain information, as of March 27, 2006 (except as noted otherwise), regarding beneficial
ownership of the shares of voting common stock of the Company by (i) each person who is known to the Company to be the beneficial owner of
more than 5% of the outstanding shares of such common stock, (ii) each of the Company s named executive officers under the Summary
Compensation Table under the heading Executive Compensation, (iii) each director and nominee for director, and (iv) all executive officers and
directors of the Company as a group. Unless otherwise indicated, the stockholders listed possess sole voting and investment power with respect

to the shares indicated as owned by them.

Number of Shares of

Common Stock Percentage
Name and Address Position Beneficially Owned (1) of Class
Jeffrey A. Leddy Chief Executive Officer and President 256,667 2.8%(2)
Robert C. Lewis Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary 96,166 1.1%(3)

Craig J. Kaufmann Controller and Treasurer 37,300 *4)
Jeffrey M. Killeen Director 37,500 *(5)
William F. Stasior Director 45,000 *(5)
Andrew D. Africk Director 5,141,572 41.9%(6)

c/o SkyTerra Communications, Inc.

19 West 44 Street, Suite 507

New York, New York 10036
Aaron J. Stone Director 5,099,072 41.7%(7)

c/o SkyTerra Communications, Inc.

19 West 44™ Street, Suite 507

New York, New York 10036
Michael D. Weiner Director 5,099,072 41.7%(8)

c/o SkyTerra Communications, Inc.

19 West 44 Street, Suite 507

New York, New York 10036
Apollo Investment Fund IV, L.P. 5,099,072 41.7%(9)

Two Manhattanville Road

Purchase, New York 10577
Harbinger Capital Partners Master Fund, 2,117,800 23.9%(10)
Ltd

c/o International Fund Services Third
Floor Bishop Square

Redmonds Hill
Dublin Ireland L2
OZ Management, LLC 687,750 7.7%(11)

9 West 57 Street, 39 Floor
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New York, NY 10019
All executive officers, directors and 5,614,205 44 1%(12)
nominees as a group (8 persons)

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.

(1) Beneficial ownership has been determined pursuant to Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, and therefore excludes 8,990,212 shares of
non-voting common stock held by the Apollo Stockholders.

(2) Represents options to purchase shares of common stock that are currently exercisable, but does not include options that become
exercisable upon a change of control and upon termination of employment with the Company.
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Includes 9,500 shares of common stock and options to purchase an additional 86,666 shares of common stock that are currently
exercisable, but does not include options that become exercisable upon a change of control of the Company and upon certain other
conditions.

Includes 7,300 shares of common stock and options to purchase an additional 30,000 shares of common stock that are currently
exercisable.

Represents options to purchase shares of common stock that are currently exercisable.

Includes an aggregate of (i) 1,270,948 shares of common stock acquired through the exercise of Series 1-A warrants, (ii) 474,427 shares of
common stock acquired in a tender offer and (iii) 3,353,697 shares of common stock issuable to Apollo Stockholders upon conversion of
the Series A Preferred Stock and exercise of the Series 1-A warrants and the Series 2-A warrants owned by them. Excludes an aggregate of
8,990,212 shares of non-voting common stock held by the Apollo Stockholders which were acquired pursuant to the rights offering.

Mr. Africk is a principal of Apollo Advisors IV, L.P., which together with an affiliated investment manager, serves as the manager of each
of the Apollo Stockholders. Mr. Africk disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares. Includes options to purchase 42,500 shares of
common stock held by Mr. Africk that are currently exercisable, but does not include options that become exercisable upon a change of
control.

Includes an aggregate of (i) 1,270,948 shares of common stock acquired through the exercise of Series 1-A warrants, (ii) 474,427 shares of
common stock acquired in a tender offer and (iii) 3,353,697 shares of common stock issuable to Apollo Stockholders upon conversion of
the Series A Preferred Stock and exercise of the Series 1-A warrants and the Series 2-A warrants owned by them. Excludes an aggregate of
8,990,212 shares of non-voting common stock held by the Apollo Stockholders which were acquired pursuant to the rights offering.

Mr. Stone is a principal of Apollo Advisors IV, L.P., which together with an affiliated investment manager, serves as the manager of each
of the Apollo Stockholders. Mr. Stone disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares.

Includes an aggregate of (i) 1,270,948 shares of common stock acquired through the exercise of Series 1-A warrants, (ii) 474,427 shares of
common stock acquired in a tender offer and (iii) 3,353,697 shares of common stock issuable to Apollo Stockholders upon conversion of
the Series A Preferred Stock and exercise of the Series 1-A warrants and the Series 2-A warrants owned by them. Excludes an aggregate of
8,990,212 shares of non-voting common stock held by the Apollo Stockholders which were acquired pursuant to the rights offering.

Mr. Weiner is a principal of Apollo Advisors IV, L.P., which together with an affiliated investment manager, serves as the manager of
each of the Apollo Stockholders. Mr. Weiner disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares.

Represents the aggregate of (i) 1,270,948 shares of common stock acquired through the exercise of Series 1-A warrants, (ii) 474,427 shares
of common stock acquired in a tender offer and (iii) 3,353,697 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the aggregate of
1,199,007 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock and the exercise of an aggregate of 234,633 Series 1-A warrants and 9,810,033 Series
2-A warrants held by the Apollo Stockholders. Assuming conversion of all the Series A Preferred Stock and the exercise of all the Series
1-A warrants and Series 2-A warrants held by the Apollo Stockholders, such 5,099,072 shares of common stock would consist of
3,541,765 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Apollo Investment Fund IV, L.P., 189,929 shares of common stock beneficially
owned by Apollo Overseas Partners IV, L.P., 892,951 shares of common stock beneficially owned by AIF IV/RRRR LLC and 474,427
shares of common stock owned by AP/RM Acquisition, LLC. The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock are only entitled to an aggregate
of 975,000 votes with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock, or 0.813 votes per share of Series A Preferred Stock. Excluded from the
table are 8,990,212 shares of non-voting common stock of which 7,999,359 shares are held by Apollo Investment Fund IV, L.P., 391,644
shares are held by Apollo Overseas Partners IV, L.P. and 599,209 shares are held by ST/RRRR LLC. Messrs. Africk, Stone and Weiner,
members of our Board of Directors and associated with Apollo Advisors IV, L.P., disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares held by the
Apollo Stockholders.

Based on the Form 4 filed on March 16, 2006 by Harbinger Capital Partners Master Fund I, Ltd. (formerly known as Harbert Distressed
Investment Master Fund, Ltd.). Harbinger Capital Partners Master Fund I, Ltd. may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of and voting
power with respect to 2,052,495 shares of our common stock with Harbinger Capital Partners Offshore Manager LLC, HMC Investors
LLC, Philip
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Falcone, Raymond J. Harbert and Michael D. Luce. Alpha US Sub Fund VI, LLC may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of and
voting power with respect to 65,305 shares of our common stock with HMC Investors LLC, Philip Falcone, Raymond J. Harbert and
Michael D. Luce. Such persons disclaim beneficial ownership in the shares except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein.

(11) Based on the Schedule 13G filed on March 6, 2006 by OZ Management, LLC. OZ Management, LLC serves as principal investment
manager to a number of investment funds and discretionary accounts with respect to which it has voting and dispositive authority over
687,750 shares of the Company s common stock, including an account for OZ Master Fund, Ltd., which holds 646,150 of the reported
shares. Mr. Daniel S. Och is the Senior Managing Member of OZ Management, LLC and is the Director of OZ Master Fund, Ltd. and, as
such, may be deemed to control such entities and therefore may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the reported shares. OZ
Management, LLC, Mr. Och and Oz Master Fund, Ltd. disclaim beneficial ownership of such shares.

(12) Messrs. Africk, Stone and Weiner, members of the Board of Directors and associated with Apollo Advisors IV, L.P., disclaim beneficial
ownership of shares held by the Apollo Stockholders. See footnote numbers 5, 6 and 7 above. Includes options to purchase an aggregate of
445,832 shares of common stock that are currently exercisable, but does not include options that become exercisable upon a change of
control.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans and Individual Arrangements

The following table and notes thereto set forth, as of December 31, 2005, information with respect to shares of the Company s common stock
which may be issued under existing equity compensation plans and individual arrangements.

Number of Shares

Number of Shares of Common Stock
of Common Stock Weighted- Remaining for
To Be Issued Average Exercise Future Issuance
upon Exercise of Price of under Equity
Outstanding Outstanding Compensation
Options, Options, Plans (Excluding
Warrants and Warrants and Securities Reflected
Plan Category Rights Rights in First Column)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders 1,070,726 $ 11.65 841,054
Equity compensation plans and individual arrangements not
approved by stockholders (1) 131,367 18.63
Total 1,202,093 $ 12.41 841,054

(1) Includes a warrant to purchase 110,000 shares of common stock issued to the placement agent in connection with the December 2004
private placement, options to purchase 4,700 shares of common stock issued to a former consultant in settlement of various disputes and an
option to purchase 16,667 shares of common stock issued to a former director for services provided.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.
Hughes Systique

On October 12, 2005, through Hughes, the Company acquired Series A Preferred Shares from Hughes Systique for $3.0 million, representing an
ownership of approximately 26% on an undiluted basis. The founders of Hughes Systique include the Chief Executive Officer and President of
Hughes, as well as certain current and former employees of HNS, including the Chief Executive Officer and President s brother. The Chief
Executive Officer and President of Hughes and his brother own an aggregate of approximately 21% of Hughes Systique on an undiluted basis.
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Separation Agreement

On December 30, 2005, in preparation for the Distribution, the Company and Hughes entered into a Separation Agreement pursuant to which the
Company contributed to Hughes, effective December 31, 2005, all of its assets, liabilities and operations other than those associated with the
MSYV Joint Venture and TerreStar, $12.5 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and the obligations pursuant to the Series
A Preferred Stock. Upon a change of control of the Company, the remaining balance of the $12.5 million of cash at such time, if any, will be
transferred to Hughes. The Separation Agreement also provides that Hughes is responsible for paying all fees, costs and expenses directly related
to the Distribution, except to the extent such fees have already been paid by the Company. In addition, the Separation Agreement provides for
certain indemnifications, tax sharing, consulting services and access to facilities.

Indemnification. The Separation Agreement provides that Hughes will indemnify the Company against losses based on, arising out of or
resulting from (i) the ownership or the operation of the assets or properties transferred to Hughes under the Separation Agreement, and the
operation or conduct of the business of, including contracts entered into and any activities engaged in by, Hughes, whether in the past or future;
(ii) any other activities Hughes engages in; (iii) any guaranty, keepwell, of or by the Company provided to any parties with respect to any of
Hughes s actual or contingent obligations and (iv) certain other matters described in the Separation Agreement. The Separation Agreement
provides that the Company will indemnify Hughes against losses based on, arising out of or resulting from the ownership or operation of the
assets or properties of the MSV Joint Venture or TerreStar, or the operation or conduct of their businesses, including the contracts entered into
by them, and certain other matters described in the Separation Agreement.

Tax sharing agreement. The tax sharing agreement governs the allocation between Hughes and the Company of tax liabilities and related tax
matters, such as the preparation and filing of tax returns and tax contests, for all taxable periods. Hughes will generally be responsible for, and
indemnify the Company and its subsidiaries against, all tax liabilities imposed on or attributable to (i) Hughes and any of its subsidiaries relating
to all taxable periods and (ii) the Company and any of its subsidiaries for all taxable periods or portions thereof ending on or prior to a change of
control of the Company, in each case, after taking into account any tax attributes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries that are available to
offset such tax liabilities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Hughes is not responsible for any taxes relating to the MSV Joint Venture, TerreStar or
a change of control of the Company. Additionally, under the tax sharing agreement, the Company is responsible for, and indemnifies Hughes
and its subsidiaries against, all tax liabilities imposed on or attributable to the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar relating to all taxable periods,
the Company and any of its subsidiaries relating to all taxable periods or portions thereof beginning and ending after a change of control, and
any change of control of the Company.

Consulting services. The Company will provide Hughes with the consulting services of its officers, not to exceed an aggregate of 200 hours per
month, for a monthly fee of $25,000. Such services may be terminated by either party at any time with or without cause by providing ten
business days notice to the non-terminating party.

Access to facilities. The Company will provide Hughes with use of its facilities, including information technology and communications
equipment and services at such premises, until the earlier of a change of control of the Company or such other time that the parties mutually
agree. In exchange, Hughes will pay the Company $7,500 per month.

Investment in Miraxis

In May 2002, the Company acquired Series B Preferred Shares and a warrant from Miraxis for approximately $0.4 million, representing an
ownership of approximately 30%. Miraxis is a development stage, privately held telecommunications company that has access to a Ka-band
license with which is striving to provide satellite based multi-channel, broadband data and video services in North America. The Company
entered into a management support agreement with Miraxis under which the Company s current Chief Executive
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Officer and President provided certain services to Miraxis through February 2003 in exchange for additional Series B Preferred Shares and
warrants being issued to the Company. In addition, in December 2002, the Company acquired Series C Preferred Shares and warrants from
Miraxis for approximately $0.1 million.

In February 2003, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Miraxis pursuant to which Miraxis personnel provided services to the
Company through May 2003. In addition, Miraxis extended the management support agreement whereby the Company s current Chief Executive
Officer and President continued to provide certain services to Miraxis through May 2003. In connection with these agreements, the Company
paid Miraxis approximately $40,000 but also received additional Series C Preferred Shares and warrants.

In April 2003, the Company acquired additional Series C Preferred Shares and warrants for approximately $40,000. Between June 2003 and
September 2003, the Company purchased promissory notes from Miraxis with an aggregate principal amount of approximately $0.1 million. In
November 2003, the promissory notes were converted to Series D Preferred Shares. From January 2004 through July 2005, the Company
purchased additional promissory notes with an aggregate principal balance of approximately $0.1 million. In September 2005, the board of
managers of Miraxis approved the dissolution of the company. The dissolution of Miraxis will not have a material impact on the Company s
financial position or results of operations. Currently, the Company holds approximately 40% of the ownership interests of Miraxis. The
Company s Chief Executive Officer and President currently holds an approximate 1% interest in Miraxis.

Miraxis License Holdings, LLC ( MLH ) and a subsidiary, entities unaffiliated with Miraxis, other than as described herein, hold the rights to
certain orbital slots, one of which Miraxis had the ability to use so long as it implemented its business plan. Miraxis issued 10% of its
outstanding common equity on a fully diluted basis to MLH as partial consideration for access to that slot. In addition, Miraxis was required to
pay certain royalties to MLH for use of the slot if it ever launched satellites. Miraxis ceased operations during the year ended December 31, 2005
and, accordingly, the arrangement with MLH terminated. Prior to becoming affiliated with the Company, its current Chief Executive Officer and
President acquired a 2% interest in MLH. In addition, prior to the Company acquiring an interest in Miraxis, an affiliate of the Company s
preferred stockholders acquired an approximate 70% interest in MLH.

Employment Agreements

For a description of the employment agreements between the Company and certain of its executive officers, please see the descriptions above in
Item 11. Executive Compensation under the heading Employment Contracts and Change in Control Arrangements.

Other

Certain of the Company s directors and officers serve on the board of directors of affiliates, including the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar. Such
directors and officers have received stock-based compensation from such affiliates for their service. The amount of stock-based compensation
received by the Company s directors and officers is comparable to stock-based compensation awarded to other non-executive members of the
affiliates board of directors.
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Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Aggregate fees for professional services rendered to the Company by Deloitte & Touche LLP ( Deloitte ) for work performed during the year
ended December 31, 2005 and KPMG LLP ( KPMG ) for work performed during the year ended December 31, 2004 are summarized in the table
below. The Company engaged Deloitte to replace KPMG as its independent registered public accounting firm effective April 18, 2005.

2005 2004
Audit fees (1) $ 806,700 382,507
Audit related fees (2) 50,325
Tax fees (3) 220,225
All other fees
$ 806,700 $ 653,057
(1) Audit fees consisted of fees billed or expected to be billed for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company s consolidated

@

3

annual financial statements included in the Company s Form 10-K, the reviews of the Company s consolidated financial statements included
in the Company s Form 10-Q, services related to Sarbanes-Oxley Act compliance or any other services rendered to comply with generally
accepted auditing standards and include comfort and consent letters in connection with SEC filings and financing transactions. During
2005, Deloitte performed an audit of the Company s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. The approximately $0.4 million of fees paid for such audit is reflected in
2005.

Audit related fees consisted of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of an audit or
review of the Company s consolidated financial statements, including assistance with acquisitions and other accounting and auditing
consultation services.

Tax fees consisted of fees paid for assistance related to tax compliance and consulting services. The Audit Committee did not believe the
provision of these tax services was incompatible with maintaining KPMG s independence.

Pursuant to a pre-approval policy, the Audit Committee approved all audit services and the payment of audit and audit related fees during the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. In addition, the Audit Committee approved all of the tax fees paid to KPMG during the year ended
December 31, 2004.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) The following is a list of certain documents filed as a part of this report:

(@))] Financial Statements of the Registrant.

(1) Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

(ii)) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004.

(iii) Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

(iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
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(v) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003.

(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(vii) Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
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All other schedules specified in Item 8§ or Item 15(d) of Form 10-K are omitted because they are not applicable or not required, or because the
required information is included in the Financial Statements or notes thereto.

(b)

Exhibit
Number

3.1.1

3.12

32

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

The following sets forth those exhibits filed pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K:

Description

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, was filed as Exhibit 3.1.1 to the Company s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Certificate of Amendment, dated July 17, 2002, to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, was filed as
Exhibit 3.1.2 to the Company s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 and is hereby incorporated herein by
reference.

Certificate of Ownership and Merger, dated September 23, 2003, merging SkyTerra Communications, Inc. into Rare Medium
Group, Inc., was filed as Exhibit 3.1.1 to the Company s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 and is hereby
incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company, was filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1999 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

The Company s Nonqualified Stock Option Plan as amended and restated, which was filed as Exhibit C to the Company s
Definitive Proxy Statement dated November 18, 1994, for Stockholders Meeting held December 15, 1994, and is hereby
incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 4, 1999, among the Company, Apollo Investment Fund
IV, L.P., Apollo Overseas Partners IV, L.P. and AIF/RRRR LLC, which was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on June 21, 1999, and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Series 1-A Warrant of the Company, which was filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on June 21, 1999, and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Series 2-A Warrant of the Company, which was filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on June 21, 1999, and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

The Company s Amended and Restated 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which was filed as Exhibit 4(d) to the Company s Form
S-8 filed on November 3, 2000 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Investment Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2001, by and among Motient Corporation, Mobile
Satellite Ventures LL.C, TMI Communications and Company, Limited Partnership, MSV Investors, LLC and the other investors
named therein, which was filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 3, 2001 and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement, dated as of November 12, 2004, by and among MSV Investors, LLC,
Mobile Satellite Ventures LP, et al. which was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
November 18, 2004 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated as of November 12, 2004, by and among MSV Investors, LLC, Mobile
Satellite Ventures LP, et al. which was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 18,
2004 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit
Number

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Description

Second Amended and Restated Parent Transfer/Drag Along Agreement by and among the Company, et al. which was filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 18, 2004 and is hereby incorporated herein by
reference.

Voting Agreement, dated November 12, 2004, by and among MSV Investors, LLC, et al. which was filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the
Company s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Note Exchange and Conversion Agreement, dated as of November 12, 2004, by and among MSV Investors, LLC, Mobile
Satellite Ventures LP, et al. which was filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 18,
2004 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2001, between the Company and Robert C. Lewis, which was
filed as exhibit 10.3 to the Company s Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2001 and is hereby incorporated herein by
reference.

Investment Agreement, dated as of April 2, 2002, between the Company and the Apollo Stockholders, which was filed as
Exhibit 99.2 to the Company s Current Report filed on Form 8-K, filed on April 4, 2002, and is hereby incorporated herein by
reference.

Stipulation of Settlement in the matter In Re Rare Medium Group, Inc. Shareholders Litigation, Consolidated C.A. No. 18879
NC, which was filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 4, 2002, and is hereby
incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2005, by and between Hughes Network
Systems, Inc. and the Company, which was filed as Exhibit 99.4 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K for dated April
26, 2005 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2005, by and between the Company and Hughes Network Systems, Inc.,
which was filed as Exhibit 99.4 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K for dated April 26, 2005 and is hereby
incorporated herein by reference.

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2005, by and among Hughes Network Systems, LLC, Hughes Network
Systems, Inc. and the Company, which was filed as Exhibit 99.5 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K for dated April
26, 2005 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2005, among Hughes Network Systems, LLC, as borrower, the lenders party
thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Bear Stearns Corporate Lending Inc., as Syndication Agent, and
J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners, which was filed as
Exhibit 99.6 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K for dated April 26, 2005 and is hereby incorporated herein by
reference.

Second Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2005 among Hughes Network Systems, LLC, as borrower, the lenders
parties thereto, Bear Stearns Corporate Lending, Inc., as administrative agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as syndication
agent, and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., as joint lead arrangers and joint book managers , which was
filed as Exhibit 99.7 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K for dated April 26, 2005 and is hereby incorporated herein
by reference.
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Exhibit
Number

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

16.1

21

23.1
232
233
31.1

Description

First Lien Parent Pledge Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2005, made by the Company and Hughes Network Systems, Inc., in
favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for the lenders parties to the Credit Agreement, dated as of April
22,2005, among Hughes Network Systems, LLC, as borrower, the lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, Bear Stearns Corporate Lending Inc., as Syndication Agent, and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Bear,
Stearns & Co. Inc., as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners, which was filed as Exhibit 99.8 to the Company s Current
Report on Form 8-K for dated April 26, 2005 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Second Lien Parent Pledge Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2005, made by the Company and Hughes Network Systems, Inc. in
favor of Bear Stearns Corporate Lending Inc., as administrative agent, for the lenders parties to the Second Lien Credit
Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2005 among Hughes Network Systems, LLC, as borrower, the lenders parties thereto, Bear
Stearns Corporate Lending, Inc., as administrative agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as syndication agent, and J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc. and Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., as joint lead arrangers and joint book managers, which was filed as Exhibit 99.9 to
the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 26, 2005 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Stockholders Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2005, by and among TerreStar Networks, Inc., MSV Investors, LLC, et al., which
was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2005 and is hereby incorporated herein by
reference.

Parent Transfer/Drag Along Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2005, by and among TerreStar Networks, Inc., the Company, et al.,
which was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2005 and is hereby incorporated
herein by reference.

Conditional Waiver and Consent Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2005, by and among the Company, Motient Corporation, et
al., which was filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company s Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2005 and is hereby
incorporated herein by reference.

Separation Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2005, by and between Hughes Communications, Inc. and the Company, which
was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K for dated January 3, 2006 and is hereby incorporated
herein by reference.

Tax Sharing Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2005, by and between Hughes Communications, Inc. and SkyTerra
Communications, Inc. which was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K for dated January 3, 2006
and is hereby incorporated by reference.

Letter of KPMG LLP, dated April 21, 2005, which was filed as Exhibit 16.1 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K for
dated April 21, 2005 and is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Subsidiaries of the Company are MSV Investors Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and MSV Investors, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company.

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Certification of Jeffrey A. Leddy, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, required by Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Exhibit
Number
31.2
32.1

322

Description

Certification of Craig J. Kaufmann, Controller and Treasurer of the Company, required by Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Jeffrey A. Leddy, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Craig J. Kaufmann, Controller and Treasurer of the Company, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(c) The following is a list of financial statements required by Regulation S-X for a 50 percent or less owned person accounted for by the
equity method:

()]

(@)

Financial Statements of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP.

®

(ii)

(iii)

@iv)

)

(vi)

Report of Independent Auditors.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2005.

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005.

Consolidated Statements of Partners Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Financial Statements of Hughes Network Systems.

®

(ii)

(iii)

@iv)

)

Report of Independent Auditors.

Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Statements of Changes in Equity for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
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(vi) Notes to Financial Statements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
SkyTerra Communications, Inc.
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SkyTerra Communications, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company ) as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders equity (deficit), and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. Our audits also included the consolidated financial statement schedule, Schedule
II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our
audits. We did not audit the financial statements of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP (an equity investee), which constitute 21 percent of
consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2005, and contributed a loss to income before taxes and discontinued operations of $9,469,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2005. Such financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report (which includes an explanatory
paragraph indicating that Mobile Satellite Ventures LP adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities) has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to such amounts included for Mobile Satellite Ventures
LP, is based solely on the report of such other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of SkyTerra Communications, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of
the Company s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 29, 2006 expressed
an unqualified opinion on management s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting and an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Baltimore, Maryland

March 29, 2006
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SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share data)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

Restricted cash

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for bad debt of $78 and $78, respectively
Prepaid expenses

Deferred income taxes

Deferred transaction costs

Other current assets

Assets held for sale

Total current assets

Investment in Hughes Network Systems, LLC
Investment in Mobile Satellite Ventures LP
Investments in affiliates

Deferred income taxes

Restricted cash

Property and equipment, net

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Liabilities held for sale

Total current liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Minority interest

Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, net of unamortized discount of $28,194 and

$32,589, respectively

Stockholders equity:

Preferred stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 10,000,000 shares; issued 1,199,007 shares as Series A Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock at December 31, 2005 and 2004

Common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 200,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 8,731,976 shares at

December 31, 2005 and 8,384,809 shares at December 31, 2004

Non-voting common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 100,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 8,990,212

shares at December 31, 2005 and 2004
Additional paid-in capital

December 31,
2005 2004

$ 21,964 $ 34,734

6,000 59,748

27,964 94,482
2,295

47 29

268 418
23,378

557 4,989

210 393

468 646

55,187 100,957
75,282

42,761 50,098

4,362 3,361
26,956
765

18 39

6 115

$ 205,337 $ 154,570

$ 2,380 $ 2,041

2,473 8,205

20

525 246

5,378 10,512

8,474 9,974

93,100 88,706

87 84

90 90

473,609 475,827
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Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders equity

Total liabilities and stockholders equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

62

(4,106)
(371,295)

98,385

$ 205,337

3)
(430,620)

45,378

$ 154,570
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SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except share data)

Revenues
Cost of revenues

Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expenses

Loss from operations

Interest income, net

Equity in earnings of Hughes Network Systems, LLC
Equity in loss of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP

Loss on investments in affiliates

Other income, net

Minority interest

Income (loss) before taxes and discontinued operations
Income tax benefit

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Gain from wind-down of discontinued operations

Net income (loss)
Cumulative dividends and accretion of redeemable convertible preferred
stock to liquidation value

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

Basic earnings (loss) per common share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Net earnings (loss) per share

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Net earnings (loss) per share

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic

Diluted

$

2005
615
(326)

289
(9,588)

(9,299)
1,436
24,054

(9,469)

(638)
877
1,925

8,886
50,334

59,220
(956)
1,061

59,325

(9,969)

49,356

2.79
0.01

2.80

2.66
0.01

2.67

17,614,474

18,488,021

Years Ended December 31,

$

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2004
2,117
(2,036)

81
(9,367)

(9,286)
10,548

(1,020)
(1,336)
21,030

(810)

19,126

19,126
(1,960)

17,166
(9,918)

7,248

0.61
(0.13)

0.48

0.58
(0.12)

0.46

15,115,895

15,837,370

2003
$ 699
(913)

(214)
(6,733)

(6,947)
6,304

(404)
244
(1,126)

(1,929)

(1,929)

1,211

(718)
(9,687)

$  (10,405)

$ (0.76)
0.08

$ (0.68)
$ (0.76)
0.08

$ (0.68)

15,341,518

15,341,518
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SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2005
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 59,325
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Gain from adjustment to reserve for note receivable and accrued interest from Motient Corporation
(Gain) loss from discontinued operations (105)
Depreciation and amortization 27
Equity in earnings of Hughes Network Systems, LLC (24,054)
Equity in loss of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP 9,469
Loss on investments in affiliates 638
Minority interest (1,925)
Gain on sale of property and equipment (49)
Non-cash compensation charges 965
Non-cash charge for issuance of warrants by consolidated subsidiary
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable, net (18)
Deferred income taxes (50,334)
Prepaid expenses, interest receivable, deferred transaction costs and other assets 4,863
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (4,153)
Deferred revenue (20)
Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operations (5,371)
Net cash used in discontinued operations (1,093)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (6,464)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase interest in Hughes Network Systems, LLC (50,000)
Repayments (purchases) of notes receivable
Purchases of short-term investments (12,228)
Sales of short-term investments 65,977
Restricted cash (3,060)
Cash paid for investments in affiliates (3,562)
Sales of investments in affiliates 1,923
Sales of property and equipment 62
Purchases of property and equipment, net 3)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired and acquisition costs
Net cash used in continuing operations (891)
Net cash used in discontinued operations (63)
Net cash used in investing activities (954)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from contributions to a consolidated subsidiary
Distribution to minority interest of consolidated subsidiary
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of costs
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in connection with the exercise of options 140
Payment of dividend on preferred stock (5,575)
Repurchase of common stock of consolidated subsidiary “4)
Cash paid in connection with tender offer
Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operations (5,439)
Net cash provided by discontinued operations 76

2004
$ 17,166

(22,516)
1,960
44

1,020
1,336
810

3,095
296

208

10,314
4,114
(138)

17,709
(1,565)

16,144

21,500
(68,602)
30,649

(1,928)

an
19

(18,373)
(952)

(19,325)

(3,361)
35,044
284
(1,394)
(@)

30,571
450

$

2003
(718)

(1,211)
43

404
1,126

107
27

219
(5,465)

(838)
15)

(6,321)
(427)

(6,748)

(2,500)
(23,637)
5,850

(482)
1

(7
125
(20,650)

(20,650)

48

(1,243)

(1,189)
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Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (5,362)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 11
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (12,770)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 34,734
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 21,964

Noncash investing activities:
Conversion of notes receivable to partnership interests in Mobile Satellite Ventures LP $

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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31,021
©)

27,837
6,897

$ 34,734

$ 51,118

(1,189)
(28,587)

35,484

$ 6,897
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SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(In thousands, except share data)

Voting Non-Voting

Common Common Accumulated Treasury Total
Stock Stock Additional Other Stock Stockholders Comprehensive
Preferred Paid-In ComprehensiveAccumulated (Loss)
Stock($.01 par valu@.01 par value) Capital Income Deficit at Cost Equity (Deficit) Income
Balance, January 1, 2003 $ $ 67 $ 90 $ 457,884 $ $ 447,068) $ (171) $ 10,802

Issuance of 357,143 shares of

common stock in connection with

the settlement of the class action

lawsuit 4 85 89
Issuance of 4,367 shares of

common stock through exercise of

stock options 6 6
Retirement of 968,398 shares of

common stock in connection with

the tender offer (10) (1,233) (1,243)

Non-cash compensation charge for

option repricing 107 107

Non-cash charge for issuance of

option by consolidated subsidiary 28 28

Dividends on and accretion of

preferred stock (9,687) (9,687)

Comprehensive loss:

Net loss (718) (718) $ (718)
Total comprehensive loss $ (718)
Balance, December 31, 2004 61 90 447,190 (447,786) 171) (616)

Issuance of 2,000,000 shares of

common stock and certain warrants

in private placement 20 35,024 35,044
Issuance of 321,966 shares of

common stock through exercise of

stock options 3 281 284
Retirement of 6,262 shares of

common stock in connection with

acquired businesses

Retirement of 6,622 shares held in

treasury (171) 171
Non-cash compensation charge for
option repricing 2,814 2,814

Non-cash charge for issuance of
option and warrants by

consolidated subsidiaries 343 343

Sale of stock by consolidated

subsidiary 264 264

Dividends on and accretion of

preferred stock 9,918) 9,918)
Comprehensive income:

Net income 17,166 17,166  $ 17,166
Net foreign currency translation

adjustments 3) 3) 3)
Total comprehensive income $ 17,163
Balance, December 31, 2004 $ $ 34 $ 90 $ 475827 $ (3) $ (430,620) $ $ 45378
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(In thousands, except share data)

Treasury
Voting Non-Voting Accumulated Stock Total
Common Std¢hmmon StOCkAdditional Other Stockholders Comprehensive
Preferred Paid-In  Comprehensive Accumulated at (Loss)
Stock($.01 par val@ep1 par value) Capital Loss Deficit Cost Equity (Deficit) Income
Balance, December 31, 2004 $ $ 84 $ 90 $ 475,827 $ (3) $ (430,620) $ $ 45,378

Issuance of 300,000 shares of

common stock in connection with

acquisition of Hughes Network

Systems, LLC 3 5,157 5,160
Issuance of 47,167 shares of

common stock through exercise of

stock options 140 140
Non-cash compensation charge for
option repricing 397 397
Non-cash compensation charge for
option issued to a consultant 336 336

Non-cash compensation

contra-expense for issuance of

warrants by a consolidated

subsidiary (151) (151)
Non-cash compensation expense for

options issued by Mobile Satellite

Ventures LP and Hughes Network

Systems, LLC 1,713 1,713

Distribution of TerreStar Networks,

Inc. by Mobile Satellite Ventures LP 159 159

Dividends on and accretion of

preferred stock (9,969) (9,969)
Comprehensive income:

Net income 59,325 59,325  $ 59,325
Net foreign currency translation

adjustments (4,103) (4,103) (4,103)
Total comprehensive income $ 55,222
Balance, December 31, 2005 $ $ 87 $ 90 $ 473,609 $ (4,106) $ (371,295) $ $ 98,385

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

SkyTerra Communications, Inc. (the Company ) operates its business through a group of complementary companies in the telecommunications
industry. The Company s consolidated financial statements include the results of operations and financial position of the Company, its controlled
majority-owned subsidiaries and variable interest entities (  VIEs ), as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ) Interpretation
No. 46R ( FIN 46R ), for which the Company is deemed the primary beneficiary, as defined by FIN 46R. As such, the consolidated financial
statements of the Company include the accounts of Electronic System Products, Inc. ( ESP ), the Company s 80% owned subsidiary (the MSV
Investors Subsidiary ) that holds the interest in Mobile Satellite Ventures LP (the MSYV Joint Venture ) and Miraxis, LLC ( Miraxis ).

The Company accounts for subsidiaries which are VIEs but for which the Company is not the primary beneficiary under the equity method of
accounting, whereby the Company records its proportionate share of the subsidiary s operating results. As such, the Company accounts for its

interest in Hughes Network Systems, LLC ( HNS ), Hughes Systique Corporation ( Hughes Systique ) and Navigauge, Inc. ( Navigauge ) under the
equity method. The Company also accounts for minority owned subsidiaries in which the Company owns greater than 20% of the outstanding

voting interests but less than 50% and for which the Company possesses significant influence over their operations under the equity method of
accounting. As such, the Company accounts for its interest in the MSV Joint Venture under the equity method.

At the end of the third quarter of 2001, a decision to discontinue the operations of Rare Medium, Inc., along with those of its LiveMarket, Inc.
subsidiary ( LiveMarket ), was made as a result of the weakening of general economic conditions that caused many companies to reduce spending
on Internet-focused business solutions and in light of their performance and prospects (see Note 15). In December 2005, the Company made a
decision to discontinue operating AfriHUB, LLC ( AfriHUB ) and signed a letter of intent to sell its interests in AfriHUB for a promissory note
with a principal amount of approximately $0.2 million (see Note 15). The discontinuance of these businesses represents the disposal of a

business segment under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets. Accordingly, the results of these operations have been classified as discontinued operations, and prior period results have
been reclassified.

All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.
(c) Short-Term Investments

The Company considers all debt securities with maturities of more than three months but less than one year as short-term investments and
classifies investments in such short-term debt securities as either held to maturity or available for sale. These investments are diversified among
high credit quality securities in accordance with the Company s investment policy. Auction rate securities are classified as available for sale
given the long-term stated maturities of 20 to 30 years. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had nil and $36.2 million,

respectively, of auction rate securities. The remainder of the Company s short-term investments are classified as held to maturity as the Company
has both the intent and ability to hold them to maturity. The cost of these securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of
discounts to maturity over the contractual life of the security. Such amortization and accretion are included in interest income.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company sold a debt security with a face value of $1.0 million which was previously classified

as held to maturity. This sale occurred to ensure that all of the Company s debt securities had a maturity less than one year in accordance with the
Company s investment policy and did not have a material impact on the Company s financial position, results of operations or cash flow from
operations.

(d) Property and Equipment

The Company uses the straight-line method of depreciation. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are as follows:

Years
Computer equipment and software 3t05
Furniture and fixtures 5to7
Machinery and equipment 2t05

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement,
whichever is shorter.

(e) Goodwill and Intangibles

The Company records goodwill when consideration paid in a purchase acquisition exceeds the fair value of the net tangible assets and the
identifiable intangible assets acquired. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill and the identified
intangible assets with an indefinite life are not amortized but are tested for impairment at least annually or whenever changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The Company amortizes the identified intangible assets with a finite life over their
respective useful lives on a straight-line basis.

(f) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less
costs to sell. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.

As aresult of AfriHUB s projected operating losses with respect to its university initiative (see Note 15), at December 31, 2004, the Company
evaluated AfriHUB s long-lived assets for recoverability and determined that the undiscounted cash flows over the remaining expected life of the
two established centers was less than the carrying value of the long-lived assets relating to those centers. Accordingly, the Company assessed the
fair value of these assets by using market prices for recently purchased computers and equipment and using a discounted cash flow model for the
intangible asset and building improvements for which market prices were not available. The Company recognized a non-cash impairment loss
relating to the intangible asset and building improvements as their carrying value exceeded the fair value by approximately $0.8 million. This

loss is included in loss from discontinued operations on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

As a result of the Company s decision to cease providing funding to AfriHUB and the uncertainty with respect to AfriHUB s future prospects, at
June 30, 2005, the Company evaluated AfriHUB s long-lived assets for recoverability and determined that the undiscounted cash flows over the
remaining expected life of the two
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

established centers was less than the carrying value of the assets relating to those centers. Accordingly, the Company assessed the fair value of
these assets by estimating the recoverability of the computers and equipment upon a sale. The Company recognized a non-cash impairment loss
relating to the computers and equipment as their carrying value exceeded the fair value by approximately $0.4 million. This loss is included in
loss from discontinued operations on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

(g) Revenue Recognition

Revenues from contracts for consulting and engineering services are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method for fixed price
contracts and as time is incurred for time and materials contracts, provided the collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.
Unbilled receivables represent time and costs incurred on projects in process in excess of amounts billed and are recorded as other current assets
in the accompanying balance sheets. Deferred revenue represents amounts billed in excess of revenue recognized and are recorded as liabilities.
To the extent costs incurred and anticipated costs to complete projects in progress exceed anticipated billings, a loss is recognized in the period
such determination is made for the excess.

A handling and finance charge is added to materials and equipment purchased for certain product development engagements. These charges, as
well as those relating to reimbursement of other out-of-pocket expenses billed to clients, are included in revenues. The costs of these
reimbursable items are included in cost of revenues.

(h) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases and for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax
liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning in making these assessments.

(i) Stock Option Plans

The Company accounts for its stock option plan in accordance with SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ( SFAS No. 123 ),
which allows entities to continue to apply the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees ( APB Opinion

No. 25 ), as clarified by Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ) Interpretation No. 44, Accounting For Certain Transactions Involving
Stock Compensation, and provides pro forma net income and pro forma earnings per share disclosures for employee stock option grants made in
1995 and future years as if the fair-value-based method, as defined in SFAS No. 123, had been applied. The Company has elected to apply the
provisions of APB Opinion No. 25 and provide the pro forma disclosure required by SFAS No. 123 (see Note 16).

APB Opinion No. 25 does not require the recognition of compensation expense for stock options granted to employees at fair market value.
However, any modification to previously granted awards generally results in compensation expense or contra-expense recognition using the
cumulative expense method, calculated based on
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quoted prices of the Company s common stock and vesting schedules of underlying awards. As a result of the re-pricing of certain stock options
in 2001 and 2002, for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company recognized compensation expense of approximately
$0.4 million, $2.8 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

The following table provides a reconciliation of net income (loss) to pro forma net income (loss) as if the fair value method had been applied to
all employee awards:

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

(in thousands, except share data)
Net income (loss), as reported $59,325 $ 17,166 $ (718)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense, as reported 397 2,814 107
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method
for all awards (1,358) (315) 415)
Pro forma net income (loss) $ 58,364 $ 19,665 $ (1,026)

Basic earnings (loss) per common share:
As reported $ 2.80 $ 048 $ (0.68)
$ $

Pro forma 2.75 0.64 $ (0.70)
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:

As reported $ 267 $ 046 $ (0.68)
Pro forma $ 262 $ 0.61 $ (0.70)

The per share weighted average fair value of stock options granted during 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $16.82, $2.70 and $0.83, respectively, on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: (1) a risk free interest rate ranging from 2.9% to
3.7% in 2005, 1.2% to 3.2% in 2004 and 1.1% to 4.0% in 2003, (2) an expected life of three years in 2005, 2004 and 2003, (3) volatility of
approximately 93% in 2005, 172% in 2004 and 175% in 2003, and (4) an annual dividend yield of 0% for all years.

(j) Foreign Currency Translation

Financial statements of AfriHUB s Nigerian operations are prepared using the Nigerian Naira as the functional currency. Consequently, revenues
and expenses of the Nigerian operations are translated into United States dollars using weighted average exchange rates, while assets and
liabilities are translated using period end exchange rates. Translations adjustments are included in stockholders equity as accumulated other
comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are reflected in loss
from discontinued operations on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2005, the
Company recorded a loss of approximately $14,000 resulting from foreign currency transactions. During the year ended December 31, 2004, the
Company recorded a gain of approximately $15,000 resulting from foreign currency transactions. The Company did not have any foreign
operations during the year ended December 31, 2003.

(k) Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Comprehensive (loss) income is defined as the change in equity during a period from non-owner sources. Comprehensive (loss) income for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 has been disclosed within the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in stockholders
equity (deficit). As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, accumulated other comprehensive loss was approximately $4.1 million and $3,000,
respectively, consisting primarily of accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments. As of December 31, 2003, the Company did not have
any items of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.
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(1) Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires the use of management estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. These estimates are
based on historical experience and information that is available to management about current events and actions the Company may take in the
future. Significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include the carrying value of long-lived assets (including the impairment charge),
valuation allowances for accounts and notes receivable and deferred income tax assets, accrued restructuring charges and other contingent
obligations. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

(m) Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to the common stockholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share reflects the potential dilution from the
exercise or conversion of securities into common stock. The potential dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and warrants is calculated

using the treasury stock method, and the potential dilutive effect of the convertible preferred stock is calculated using the if-converted method.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the shares used in calculating earnings (loss) per common share:

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Weighted average common shares outstanding basic 17,614,474 15,115,895 15,341,518
Common shares issuable upon exercise of stock options 873,547 721,475
Weighted average common shares outstanding  diluted 18,488,021 15,837,370 15,341,518

During all periods presented, the Company had certain stock options and warrants outstanding, which could potentially dilute basic earnings
(loss) per common share in the future, but were excluded in the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per common share in such periods, as

their effect would have been antidilutive. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, stock options and warrants exercisable for
1,589,109, 1,722,976 and 2,405,168 shares of common stock, respectively, were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per
common share, as they were either antidilutive or their exercise price exceeded the average trading price of the Company s common stock during
the year.

During all periods presented, the conversion of the preferred stock could potentially dilute basic earnings (loss) per common share in the future,
but the shares issuable upon the conversion were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per common share in such periods, as
their effect would have been antidilutive. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, there were 1,912,484, 1,912,484 and
1,710,423 shares of common stock, respectively, issuable upon the conversion of the preferred stock were excluded from the computation of
diluted earnings per common share, as they were either antidilutive or their conversion price exceeded the average trading price of the
Company s common stock during the year.

(n) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company s financial instruments include cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, a letter of
credit and the Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock (the Series A Preferred Stock ). The fair value of these instruments, other than the
Series A Preferred Stock, approximates book value due to their short-term duration. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the fair value of
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the Series A Preferred Stock approximated $121.3 million based on its liquidation preference, including accrued but undeclared dividends. As of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, the carrying value of the Series A Preferred Stock was $93.1 million and $88.7 million, respectively.

(o) Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments. Although the Company maintains cash balances at financial institutions that exceed federally insured limits, these balances are
placed with various high credit quality financial institutions. Further, in accordance with an investment policy, the Company diversifies its
short-term investments among debt instruments that are believed to be low risk.

ESP s revenues are generated principally from customers located in the United States. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 and for
the period from the August 25, 2003 acquisition of ESP through December 31, 2003, one, three and two customers, respectively, individually
accounted for more than 10% of the Company s revenues. Combined, these customers account for approximately $0.5 million and $1.1 million of
revenues for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and $0.4 million for the period from the August 25, 2003 acquisition of
ESP through December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, accounts receivable from these significant customers was approximately
$46,000 and $14,000, respectively.

(p) Sales of Stock by a Subsidiary

The Company accounts for the sale of stock by a consolidated subsidiary as a capital transaction whereby the change in the Company s
proportionate share of the subsidiary equity resulting from the additional equity raised by the subsidiary is reflected in stockholders equity on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In October 2004, AfriHUB agreed to sell membership interests to an unaffiliated third party for approximately $0.5 million in cash (see Note
15). The Company increased additional paid in capital on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets by approximately $0.3 million related
to this transaction.

(g) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications, primarily related to discontinued operations (see Note 15), have been made to the prior years financial statements to
conform to the current year s presentation.

(r) Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment ( SFAS No. 123R ), a revision of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123R
requires entities to recognize compensation expense for all share-based payments to employees, including stock options, based on the estimated
fair value of the instrument on the date it is granted. The expense will be recognized over the vesting period of the award. SFAS No. 123R is
effective for the Company on January 1, 2006 and provides entities two transition methods. The Company has elected to use the modified
prospective method and therefore will not restate its prior period results. Under the modified prospective method, compensation expense is
recognized beginning with the effective date for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date that are unvested on the effective
date. As the Company currently accounts for share-based payments using the intrinsic value method as allowed by APB Opinion No. 25, the
adoption of the fair value method under SFAS No. 123R will have an impact on the Company s results of operations. The unrecognized
compensation expense associated with unvested stock options was approximately $1.5 million as of January 1, 2006. Of this amount, the
Company expects to record approximately $1.0 million of compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2006. Additional
compensation expense will be impacted by various factors, including the number of awards granted and their related fair value at the date of
grant.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29 ( SFAS
No. 153 ). SFAS No. 153 eliminates the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets of APB Opinion No. 29 and replaces
it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has
commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. SFAS No. 153 is
effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS No. 153 did not
have a material impact on the Company s financial position or results of operations.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB
Statement No. 3 ( SFAS No. 154 ). SFAS No. 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle and changes the requirements for
accounting for and reporting a change in accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 requires the retrospective application to prior periods financial
statements of the direct effect of a voluntary change in accounting principle unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific
effects or the cumulative effective of the change. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS No. 154 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company s financial position or results of
operations.

In November 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position FAS 115-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and its Application to

Certain Investments ( FSP 115-1 ). FSP 115-1 provides accounting guidance for determining and measuring other-than-temporary impairments of
debt and equity securities, and confirms the disclosure requirements for investments in unrealized loss positions as outlined in Emerging Issues

Task Force ( EITF ) Issue No. 03-01, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments and its Application to Certain Investments. FSP 115-1
is effective for the Company on January 1, 2006 and is not expected to have a material impact on the Company s financial position or results of
operations.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments an amendment of FASB Statements
No. 133 and 140 ( SFAS No. 155 ). SFAS No. 155 permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an
embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation, clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the
requirements of SFAS No. 133, establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that are
freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation, clarifies that
concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives, and amends SFAS No. 140 to eliminate the prohibition
on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another
derivative financial instrument. SFAS No. 155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity s first
fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 155 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company s
financial position or results of operations.

(2) Distribution

On February 21, 2006, the Company separated into two publicly owned companies (the Distribution ): (i) the Company and (ii) Hughes
Communications, Inc. ( Hughes ), a newly formed entity. On December 30, 2005, in preparation for the Distribution, the Company and Hughes
entered into an agreement (the Separation Agreement ) pursuant to which the Company contributed to Hughes, effective December 31, 2005, all
of its assets, liabilities and operations other than those associated with the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar, $12.5 million of cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments and the obligations pursuant to the Series A Preferred Stock. Upon a change of control of the Company,
including in connection with a consolidation of the ownership of the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar described in Note 3, the remaining

balance of the $12.5 million of cash at such time, if any, will be transferred to Hughes.
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To effect the Distribution, the Company distributed to each of its stockholders one-half of one share of Hughes common stock for each share of
the Company s common or non-voting common stock held as of the close of business on February 13, 2006 (or, in the case of the Series A
Preferred Stock and Series 1-A and 2-A warrants, in accordance with their terms, one-half of one share of Hughes common stock for each share
of the Company s common stock issuable upon conversion or exercise of such preferred stock and warrants held as of the close of business on
February 13, 2006).

Notwithstanding the legal form of the Distribution, due to, among other things, (i) the businesses transferred to Hughes generated all of the
Company s historical consolidated revenues and constituted a majority of the book value of the Company s assets and (ii) the businesses
transferred to Hughes include the Company s discontinued operating subsidiaries and all of the assets and liabilities relating to such subsidiaries,
the Distribution will be accounted for as a reverse spin-off in accordance with EITF Issue No. 02-11, Accounting for Reverse Spin-offs.
Accordingly, Hughes will be considered the divesting entity and treated as the accounting successor to the Company for financial reporting
purposes, and the Company will be treated as if it had been distributed by Hughes beginning with the consolidated financial statements for the
three months ended March 31, 2006.

(3) Interest in the MSV Joint Venture
MSV Joint Venture

On November 26, 2001, through the MSV Investors Subsidiary, the Company purchased an interest in the MSV Joint Venture in the form of a
convertible note with a principal amount of $50.0 million. The note yielded interest at a rate of 10% per year, had a maturity date of

November 26, 2006, and was convertible at any time at the option of the MSV Investors Subsidiary into equity interests in the MSV Joint
Venture. Immediately prior to the purchase of the convertible note, the Company contributed $40.0 million to the MSV Investors Subsidiary and
a group of unaffiliated third parties collectively contributed $10.0 million. The ownership interest of these unaffiliated third parties in the MSV
Investors Subsidiary is classified as minority interest in the accompanying combined financial statements.

On August 13, 2002, the MSV Joint Venture completed a rights offering allowing its investors to purchase their pro rata share of an aggregate
$3.0 million of newly issued convertible notes with terms similar to the convertible note already held by the MSV Investors Subsidiary. The
MSYV Investors Subsidiary exercised its basic and over subscription rights and purchased approximately $1.1 million of the convertible notes.
The group of unaffiliated third parties collectively contributed $0.2 million to the MSV Investors Subsidiary in connection with the MSV Joint
Venture rights offering.

On November 12, 2004, the MSV Joint Venture raised $145.0 million in cash by selling partnership units for $29.45 per unit and exchanged or
converted approximately $84.9 million of debt securities and accrued interest. In connection with this financing, the convertible notes held by
the MSV Investors Subsidiary converted into approximately 23% of the limited partnership interests of the MSV Joint Venture on an undiluted
basis, at their original conversion price of $6.45 per unit. As a result of these transactions, the MSV Investors Subsidiary also received
approximately $17.1 million in cash from the MSV Joint Venture to pay the accrued interest on the convertible notes. The MSV Investors
Subsidiary distributed approximately $13.6 million of this cash to the Company and $3.4 million of cash to the unaffiliated third parties who
own the 20% minority interest in the MSV Investors Subsidiary.

Following the November 12, 2004 conversion of its notes receivable into limited partnership interests, the Company accounts for its interest in
the MSV Joint Venture under the equity method. Accordingly, on the date of conversion, the remaining $51.1 million carrying amount of the
notes receivable was reclassified to investment in
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Mobile Satellite Venture LP and will be adjusted thereafter for the Company s proportionate share of the net income (loss) of the MSV Joint
Venture, subject to certain adjustments. These adjustments relate primarily to the amortization of the excess of the Company s $51.1 million
carrying amount over the Company s proportionate share of the carrying amount of the MSV Joint Venture s net assets on the date of conversion.
This excess will be amortized over the remaining useful life of certain MSV Joint Venture long-lived assets on a straight line basis. As of
December 31, 2005, the carrying value of the Company s investment exceeded its proportionate share of the carrying amount of the MSV Joint
Venture s net assets by approximately $1.4 million.

The following table presents summarized consolidated financial information for the MSV Joint Venture and is derived from the MSV Joint
Venture s audited consolidated financial statement. The net loss of the MSV Joint Venture for the year ended December 31, 2005 includes a gain
of approximately $0.7 million for the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle recognized by the MSV Joint Venture upon the
adoption of FIN 46R in 2005.

December 31,
2005 2004
(in thousands)
Consolidated balance sheet:

Current assets $ 119,806 $ 139,978
Noncurrent assets 96,978 106,245
Current liabilities 11,811 11,873
Noncurrent liabilities 23,713 21,386
Partners equity 181,260 212,964
Years Ended
December 31,
2005 2004

(in thousands)
Consolidated statement of operations:

Revenues $ 29,381 $ 29,007
Loss from continuing operations (39,153) (26,755)
Net loss (40,955) (33,455)

The MSV Investors Subsidiary and the other partners of the MSV Joint Venture have agreed that the disposition by the MSV Joint Venture of all
or substantially all of its assets, certain acquisitions or dispositions of a limited partner s interest in the MSV Joint Venture, subsequent
investment into the MSV Joint Venture by any person, and any merger or other business combination of the MSV Joint Venture, are subject to
the control restrictions contained in the Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement and the Amended and Restated Stockholders
Agreement. The control restrictions include, but are not limited to, rights of first refusal, tag along rights and drag along rights. Certain of these
actions cannot occur without the consent of the majority of the ownership interests of the MSV Joint Venture. In addition, the MSV Investors
Subsidiary and two of the three other joint venture partner groups have entered into a voting agreement pursuant to which three of the four joint
venture partner groups must consent to certain transactions involving the MSV Joint Venture or the partners or none of the parties to the voting
agreement will support such actions.

On May 7, 2004, in connection with services being provided which support the regulatory effort of the MSV Joint Venture, an unaffiliated
consultant was issued an option to purchase a less than one percent ownership interest in the MSV Investors Subsidiary. The option is
immediately exercisable and will expire on the earlier of the dissolution of the MSV Investors Subsidiary or December 31, 2010. During 2004,
the Company recognized expense of approximately $0.3 million related to the issuance of the option, which was the approximate fair value of
the option using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. To provide additional incentive to the consultant, the MSV Investors Subsidiary
agreed to pay the consultant a one-time fee of $0.4 million upon a liquidity event, as defined in the agreement. The MSV Investors Subsidiary
will recognize an expense related to this fee if and
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when a liquidity event becomes probable. A consolidation transaction described below, if such a transaction is consummated, would likely be
considered a liquidity event which would require payment of the one-time fee.

TerreStar Networks

TerreStar was formed by the MSV Joint Venture to develop business opportunities related to the proposed receipt of certain licenses in the 2

GHz band. In December 2004, the MSV Joint Venture issued rights (the TerreStar Rights ) to receive all of the shares of common stock of
TerreStar, then a wholly-owned subsidiary of the MSV Joint Venture, to the limited partners of the MSV Joint Venture, pro rata in accordance
with each limited partner s percentage ownership. The TerreStar Rights were to automatically be exchanged for shares of TerreStar common
stock on May 20, 2005. In connection with the distribution of the TerreStar Rights, TerreStar issued warrants to purchase shares of its common
stock representing 3% of the outstanding equity for an exercise price of $0.21 per share to certain of the Other MSV Investors. These warrants
were exercised in March 2005. On May 11, 2005, the TerreStar Rights were exchanged for shares of TerreStar common stock in connection with
the sale by TerreStar of $200.0 million of its common stock to Motient at a purchase price of $24.42 per share (the TerreStar Private Placement ),
increasing Motient s ownership of TerreStar to approximately 61% on an undiluted basis. Following these transactions, the Company s MSV
Investors Subsidiary owns 5,303,315 shares of TerreStar common stock, or approximately 17% of TerreStar on an undiluted basis, and is
accounting for its interest in TerreStar under the cost method. In accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 29, Accounting for
Nonmonetary Transactions, the Company s carrying value for its interest in TerreStar is based on its pro rata share of the MSV Joint Venture s
carrying value for TerreStar before the distribution. As the MSV Joint Venture had no carrying value for its interest in TerreStar, the Company
has not recorded any carrying value for its interest in TerreStar on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

In connection with the TerreStar Private Placement, the minority shareholders of TerreStar, including the Company s MSV Investors Subsidiary,
TMI and the Other MSV Investors, entered into certain agreements with TerreStar and Motient providing the MSV Investors Subsidiary (and the
other minority shareholders) with certain protections, including tag along rights, pre-emptive rights and representation on the TerreStar Board of
Directors. In addition, the TerreStar shares held by the minority shareholders, including the MSV Investors Subsidiary, under certain conditions,
may be subject to drag along rights of Motient. In connection with the TerreStar Private Placement, the MSV Joint Venture licensed TerreStar
certain intellectual property and agreed to provide TerreStar with certain services. Also, in connection with the transaction, Motient agreed,
subject to satisfaction of certain conditions, to waive certain rights in order to facilitate a transaction in which one of the minority shareholders in
TerreStar who also holds interests in the MSV Joint Venture acquires all of the interests in the MSV Joint Venture held by the other minority
shareholders in TerreStar, resulting in control of the MSV Joint Venture being held by such party. The minority shareholders have not agreed to
such a transaction or committed to consummate such a transaction. As described below, on September 22, 2005, the Company, Motient, TMI
Communications and Company and the Other MSV Investors executed a non-binding letter of intent that would result in the consolidation of the
MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar into Motient. If that transaction is consummated, an agreement with the other minority shareholders of
TerreStar would not occur. There can be no assurance that the agreement with Motient will be consummated or, in the alternative, that any
discussions among the minority shareholders in TerreStar to consolidate their interests in the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar will take place or
otherwise result in a definitive binding agreement.

Proposed Ownership Consolidation

Both prior to and since September 22, 2005, when the Company executed a non-binding letter of intent with Motient, TMI and the other partners
in the MSV Joint Venture and the other stockholders of TerreStar, the Company has been in discussions that would result in the consolidation of
the ownership of the MSV Joint
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Venture and TerreStar. These discussions have included a potential merger of the Company with and into Motient and, more recently, a variety

of other structures. The consummation of any such consolidation transaction is subject to, among other things, definitive documentation, filing

of the appropriate registration statements with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the requisite approvals from the Company s board of
directors.

(4) Interest in Hughes Network Systems

In April 2005, the Company acquired 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS from DTV Network Systems, Inc. (formerly known as
Hughes Network Systems, Inc., DTV Networks ), a wholly owned subsidiary of The DIRECTV Group, Inc. ( DIRECTV ), for $50.0 million in
cash and 300,000 shares of the Company s common stock. The acquisition occurred pursuant to an agreement among the Company, DIRECTV,
DTV Networks and HNS, dated December 3, 2004, as amended. Immediately prior to the acquisition, DTV Networks contributed substantially

all of the assets and certain liabilities of its very small aperture terminal, mobile satellite and carrier businesses, as well as the certain portions of
its SPACEWAY Ka-band satellite communications platform that is under development, to HNS, which at the time was a wholly-owned

subsidiary of DTV Networks. In consideration for the contribution of assets by DTV Networks, HNS paid DTV Networks $190.7 million of

cash. This payment represented the $201.0 million stated in the agreement less an estimated purchase price adjustment of $10.3 million, which

was subject to further adjustment depending principally upon the closing value of HNS working capital (as defined in the agreement). On
January 3, 2006, HNS paid DTV Networks $10.0 million in final satisfaction of all purchase price adjustments.

Concurrent with the acquisition, HNS incurred $325.0 million of term indebtedness and obtained a $50.0 million revolving credit facility. The
Company and DTV Networks each pledged their respective membership interests of HNS to secure the obligations of HNS under the term
indebtedness. The indebtedness is otherwise non-recourse to the Company or DTV Networks. Following the acquisition, the Company served as
the managing member of HNS.

The HNS limited liability agreement allows for the issuance of Class B membership interests which are entitled to receive a pro rata share of any
capital gains upon, among other things, a sale of HNS. In the second quarter of 2005, Class B membership interests were issued to certain
members of HNS senior management and the Company s Chief Executive Officer and President, entitling the holders to approximately 4% of
any capital gains resulting from a qualifying transaction. These Class B membership interests are subject to certain vesting requirements, with
50% of the Class B membership interests subject to time vesting over five years and the other 50% vesting based upon certain performance
milestones. Following January 1, 2007, at the holders election, vested Class B membership interests can be exchanged for common stock of
Hughes. The number of shares of Hughes common stock to be issued upon such exchange would be based upon the fair market value of such
vested Class B membership interest divided by the value of the Hughes common stock at the time of such exchange. The issuance of such shares
of Hughes common stock is subject to the authorization of the board of directors of Hughes and compliance with applicable securities laws.

In addition, in July 2005, HNS adopted an incentive plan pursuant to which bonus units representing up to approximately 4% of the increase in
the value of HNS are available for grant to its employees. The bonus units provide for time vesting over five years subject to a participant s
continued employment with HNS. Pursuant to the plan, if a participant in the plan is still employed by HNS on April 22, 2008, then at such time,
the participant s vested bonus units would be exchanged for common stock of the Company. A second exchange will take place on April 22,
2010 for participants in the plan still employed by the Company at such time. Following the contribution of the Company s Class A membership
interests to Hughes, Hughes succeeded to the obligations of the Company under the plan. As such, the number of shares of Hughes common
stock to be issued upon such
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exchange would be based upon the fair market value of such vested bonus unit divided by the value of Hughes common stock at the time of the
exchange. The issuance of such shares of Hughes common stock is subject to the authorization of the board of directors of Hughes and
compliance with applicable securities laws.

In January 2006, through Hughes, the Company acquired the remaining 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS from DTV Networks
for $100.0 million in cash. The acquisition occurred pursuant to an agreement among Hughes, DIRECTV, DTV Networks and HNS, dated
November 10, 2005. Following closing of the acquisition, Hughes pledged its Class A membership interests of HNS to secure the obligations of
HNS under the term indebtedness and serves as the managing member of HNS. To finance the transaction, Hughes obtained $100.0 million of
short-term debt financing from Apollo Investment Fund IV, L.P. and Apollo Overseas Partners IV, L.P. (together with AIF I[IV/RRRR LLC,
ST/RRRR LLC and AP/RM Acquisition LLC, the Apollo Stockholders ). Concurrent with the Distribution, Hughes conducted a rights offering
to its stockholders in order to repay the short-term debt financing provided by the Apollo Stockholders. In connection with such rights offering,
in March 2006, the Apollo Stockholders converted approximately $68.4 million of the short-term debt financing into shares of common stock of
Hughes at the $12.75 per share subscription price in the rights offering. The remaining $31.6 million of principal and interest obligations under
the short-term debt financing was repaid in cash from the proceeds from the proceeds from the rights offering.

Through December 31, 2005, the Company accounted for its interest in HNS under the equity method in accordance with FIN 46R, as HNS is a
variable interest entity as defined in FIN 46R and the Company was not the primary beneficiary as defined in FIN 46R. Accordingly, the

Company recorded its proportionate share of the net income of HNS, subject to certain adjustments. These adjustments relate primarily to the
amortization of the excess the Company s proportionate share of HNS net assets over the Company s carrying amount on the date of acquisition.
This excess was being amortized over the remaining useful life of certain HNS long-lived assets on a straight line basis. As of December 31,

2005, the Company s proportionate share of HNS net assets exceeded its book investment by approximately $7.0 million. Following the January
2006 acquisition of the remaining 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS, the Company s consolidated financial statements will

include the financial position and operating results of HNS.

The following table presents summarized consolidated financial information for HNS for the period indicated and is derived from HNS audited
consolidated financial statements:

December 31, 2005
(in thousands)
Consolidated balance sheet information:

Current assets $ 449,958
Noncurrent assets 306,566
Current liabilities 230,471
Noncurrent liabilities 354,867
Minority interest 6,594
Owners equity 164,592

April 23, 2005 to

December 31, 2005
(in thousands)
Consolidated statement of operations:

Revenues $ 583,468

Income from operations 66,608

Net income 46,571
78
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As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had incurred approximately $0.6 million and $5.0 million, respectively, of transaction costs,
including legal, accounting and other costs directly related to the HNS acquisition transactions. These costs are included in deferred transaction
costs on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(5) Business Transactions
(a) Interest in Electronic System Products

On August 25, 2003, for nominal consideration, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of ESP, a product development and
engineering services firm that has historically created products for and provides consulting and engineering services to the telecommunications,
broadband, satellite communications, and wireless industries. ESP is currently focused on exploiting its existing intellectual property portfolio.

In November 2003, ESP made restricted stock grants to its employees representing an aggregate of 30% of ESP s outstanding equity, diluting the
Company s ownership to 70%. In October 2004, ESP repurchased shares of its common stock from terminated employees for an aggregate of
approximately $2,000, raising the Company s ownership to approximately 78%. In August 2005, ESP repurchased additional shares of its
common stock from terminated employees for an aggregate of approximately $4,000, raising the Company s ownership to approximately 92%.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

August 25, 2003
(in thousands)

Current assets $ 666
Property and equipment 54
Investment in affiliates 349
Total assets acquired 1,069
Current liabilities (983)
Net assets acquired $ 86

(b) Interest in Hughes Systique

On October 12, 2005, through Hughes, the Company acquired Series A Preferred Shares from Hughes Systique for $3.0 million, representing an
ownership of approximately 26% on an undiluted basis. Hughes Systique plans to provide software development services with technology
resources and expertise in wireless broadband communications for terrestrial and satellite applications. Hughes Systique will also support other
application areas such as wireless based networking, RFID enterprise applications and multimedia applications for in-home broadband
entertainment networks. The founders of Hughes Systique include the Chief Executive Officer and President of Hughes, as well as certain
current and former employees of HNS, including the Chief Executive Officer and President s brother. The Chief Executive Officer and President
of Hughes and his brother own an aggregate of approximately 21% of Hughes Systique on an undiluted basis.

Although Hughes Systique is a variable interest entity as defined in FIN 46R, the Company is not the primary beneficiary as defined in FIN 46R.
Accordingly, this investment is included in investments in affiliates on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and is being accounted for
under the equity method with the Company s share of Hughes Systique s loss being recorded in loss on investments in affiliates on the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company s share of Hughes Systique s loss was
$0.1 million.
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(c) Interest in Miraxis

On May 28, 2002, the Company acquired Series B Preferred Shares and a warrant from Miraxis for approximately $0.4 million, representing an
ownership of approximately 30%. Miraxis is a development stage telecommunications company that has access to a Ka-band license with which
it is striving to provide satellite based multi-channel, broadband data and video services in North America. The Company has the right to appoint
two of the five directors of the manager of Miraxis. Additionally, the Company entered into a management support agreement with Miraxis
under which the Company s current Chief Executive Officer and President provided certain services to Miraxis through February 2003 in
exchange for additional Series B Preferred Shares and warrants being issued to the Company. In addition, on December 20, 2002, the Company
acquired Series C Preferred Shares and warrants from Miraxis for approximately $0.1 million.

In February 2003, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Miraxis pursuant to which Miraxis personnel provided services to the
Company through May 2003. In addition, Miraxis extended the management support agreement whereby the Company s current Chief Executive
Officer and President continued to provide certain services to Miraxis through May 2003. In connection with these agreements, the Company
paid Miraxis approximately $40,000 but also received additional Series C Preferred Shares and warrants.

In April 2003, the Company acquired additional Series C Preferred Shares and warrants for approximately $40,000. Between June 2003 and
September 2003, the Company purchased promissory notes from Miraxis with an aggregate principal amount of approximately $0.1 million. In
November 2003, the promissory notes were converted to Series D Preferred Shares. From January 2004 through July 2005, the Company
purchased additional promissory notes with an aggregate principal balance of approximately $0.1 million. In September 2005, the board of
managers of Miraxis approved the dissolution of the company. The dissolution of Miraxis will not have a material impact on the Company s
financial position or results of operations. As of December 31, 2005, the Company held approximately 40% of the ownership interests of
Miraxis. The Company s President and Chief Executive Officer currently holds an approximate 1% interest in Miraxis.

In accordance with FIN No. 46R, beginning January 1, 2004, the operating results and financial position of Miraxis have been included in the
consolidated financial statements. Prior to January 1, 2004, this investment was included in investments in affiliates on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets and was accounted for under the equity method with the Company s share of Miraxis loss being recorded in loss on
investments in affiliates on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The consolidation of Miraxis did not have a material

impact on the Company s operating results or financial position.

(d) Interest in Navigauge

On April 21, 2003, the Company acquired Series B Preferred Shares from Navigauge, Inc., formerly known as IQStat, for approximately $0.3
million, representing an ownership interest of approximately 5%. Navigauge was a privately held media and marketing research firm that
intended to collect data on in-car radio usage and driving habits of consumers and market the aggregate data to radio broadcasters, advertisers
and advertising agencies in the United States.

In connection with the acquisition of ESP in August 2003, the Company obtained indirect ownership of Series A Preferred Shares representing
an additional 16% ownership interest in Navigauge. In December 2003, the Company acquired additional Series B Preferred Shares and
warrants for approximately $0.1 million. From January 2004 through April 2004, the Company acquired additional Series B Preferred Shares
and warrants from Navigauge for approximately $0.5 million. Furthermore, from April 2004 through June 2004, the Company purchased
short-term promissory notes from Navigauge with an aggregate principal amount of approximately $0.4 million.

80

91



Edgar Filing: SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form 10-K

SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

On June 14, 2004, Navigauge completed a recapitalization in which all outstanding Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares
were converted to new Series A Preferred Shares with substantially similar rights as the old Series B Preferred Shares. Following the exchange,
the Company converted the outstanding short-term promissory notes into new Series A Preferred Shares and purchased additional Series A
Preferred Shares for approximately $0.4 million. The Company also obtained direct ownership of the old Series A Preferred Shares held by ESP
in exchange for the forgiveness of intercompany promissory notes.

On August 16, 2004, the Company purchased additional Series A Preferred Shares for approximately $0.2 million. Furthermore, from October
2004 through June 2005, the Company purchased short-term promissory notes from Navigauge with an aggregate principal amount of $1.1
million. Following the impairment discussed below, the short-term promissory notes have no carrying value on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

Although Navigauge is a variable interest entity as defined in FIN 46R, the Company is not the primary beneficiary as defined in FIN 46R.
Accordingly, prior to the impairment discussed below, this investment was included in investments in affiliates on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets and was being accounted for under the equity method with the Company s share of Navigauge s loss being recorded
in loss on investments in affiliates on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003, the Company s share of Navigauge s loss was $0.3 million, $1.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

As Navigauge was unsuccessful in raising the capital necessary to expand its service beyond the Atlanta market and in light of its prospects,
during the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company recognized a loss of approximately $1.3 million relating to the impairment of the
aggregate remaining carrying amount of its equity interest in Navigauge and the short-term promissory notes. This loss is included in loss on
investments in affiliates on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. In July 2005, Navigauge signed a non-binding letter of
intent to sell substantially all of its assets. The sale of the assets was subject to, among other things, completion of the buyer s due diligence and
negotiation and execution of definitive documentation satisfactory to the parties. In September 2005, the negotiations pursuant to the letter of
intent were terminated. Navigauge is pursuing other options with respect to maximizing value from its intellectual property.

(e) Verestar Transactions

On August 29, 2003, the Company signed a securities purchase agreement to acquire, through a newly formed subsidiary, approximately 67%
(on a fully-diluted basis) of Verestar. Concurrent with the signing of the securities purchase agreement, the Company purchased a 10% senior
secured note with a principal balance of $2.5 million and a due date of August 2007. The Company terminated the securities purchase agreement
on December 22, 2003. Subsequently, Verestar filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code.

On March 8, 2004, the Company executed an asset purchase agreement to acquire, through a newly formed subsidiary, substantially all of the
assets and business of Verestar pursuant to Section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code. The transaction was subject to a number of contingencies,
including an auction on March 30, 2004 at which Verestar considered higher and better offers. At the auction, a bid was accepted from a
strategic buyer at a price higher than the Company was willing to offer.

In connection with the Verestar bankruptcy, the Company entered into a stipulation with Verestar pursuant to which the parties agreed to, among
other things, the validity and enforcement of the obligation under the senior secured note and the Company s security interest in Verestar s assets.
On April 30, 2004, Verestar paid the Company approximately $2.9 million representing the $2.5 million outstanding principal amount of the
senior
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secured note and approximately $0.4 million as a break-up fee in connection with the termination of the March 2004 asset purchase agreement.

On July 9, 2004, the Company settled its dispute with Verestar s parent company regarding the break-up fee in connection with the termination of
the August 2003 securities purchase agreement. As consideration for the settlement, Verestar s parent company paid the Company $1.5 million.
This amount is included in other income (expense), net on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

On July 29, 2004, the Company entered into a stipulated settlement with Verestar and its Creditor Committee pursuant to which Verestar agreed
to pay the Company approximately $0.4 million representing certain amounts owed, including unpaid accrued interest, in connection with the
senior secured note. On August 13, 2004, the Bankruptcy Court approved the stipulated settlement. This settlement amount is included in
interest income, net on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

(6) Notes Receivable from Motient

On April 2, 2001, the Company agreed to purchase from Motient 12.5% secured promissory notes, issuable in two tranches, each in the principal
amount of $25.0 million. The notes were collateralized by five million shares of XM Satellite Radio common stock owned by Motient. The first
tranche was purchased on April 4, 2001, and the second tranche was purchased on July 16, 2001. The principal of and accrued interest on the
notes were payable on October 1, 2001 in either cash, shares of XM Satellite Radio, or any combination thereof at Motient s option, as set forth
in the agreement. At the option of the Company, the notes were exchangeable for a number of XM Satellite Radio shares based on a formula, as
set forth in the agreement.

On May 14, 2001, the Company entered into an agreement to merge with a subsidiary of Motient. By a letter agreement dated October 1, 2001,
Motient and the Company terminated the planned merger. As a result of the termination, neither the Company nor Motient had any obligation to
the other party with respect to the merger, except for repayment by Motient to the Company of amounts outstanding under the promissory notes.

On October 1, 2001, and again on October 8, 2001, the Company extended the maturity date of the notes. On October 12, 2001, in accordance
with the terms of the notes, the Company received five million shares of XM Satellite Radio as payment for $26.2 million of the notes and
accrued interest. The maturity date for the remaining balance of the Motient notes in the principal amount of approximately $26.2 million, and
interest thereon, was extended for 60 days. On January 10, 2002, Motient and its subsidiaries filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the United
States Bankruptcy Code. As part of its filing, Motient indicated that it would likely challenge the Company s right to the $26.2 million
outstanding principal balance and accrued interest thereon, as well as the delivery of the shares of XM Satellite Radio common stock as partial
repayment of the aggregate $50.0 million principal amount of the notes. As a result of uncertainty with respect to the ultimate collection on the
notes, a reserve was recognized for the entire amount. This loss of approximately $26.9 million was partially offset by a gain of $5.3 million that
resulted from the difference between the value of the XM Satellite Radio common stock received in connection with the partial repayment of the
Motient notes in accordance with their terms and the value of the XM Satellite Radio common stock using its closing price on the date of the
partial repayment. The results of these transactions are reflected in other income (expense), net on the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.

On May 1, 2002, to mitigate the risk, uncertainties and expenses associated with Motient s plan of reorganization, the Company cancelled the
outstanding amounts due under the original promissory notes issued by Motient and accepted a new note in the principal amount of $19.0
million (the New Motient Note ) that was issued by a new, wholly-owned subsidiary of Motient that owns 100% of Motient s interests in the
MSV Joint
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Venture. The New Motient Note was due on May 1, 2005 and yielded interest at a rate of 9% per annum. As a result of the uncertainty with
respect to the ultimate collection on the remaining amounts due on the New Motient Note, a reserve was maintained for the entire principal
amount of the note and unpaid interest accrued thereon.

On April 7, 2004, as a result of a payment received by Motient pursuant to a promissory note from the MSV Joint Venture, Motient paid the
Company approximately $0.5 million of interest accrued on the New Motient Note. Following several financings by Motient, on July 15, 2004,
Motient paid the Company approximately $22.6 million representing all outstanding principal and accrued interest due on the New Motient
Note. Accordingly, the reserve was adjusted resulting in the recognition of $23.1 million of income which is reflected in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations as $19.0 million in other income (expense), net and $4.1 million in interest income, net.

(7) Investments in Affiliates

The following is a summary of the carrying value of investments held by the Company at December 31:

December 31,
2005 2004
(in thousands)
Equity method investments $2,932 $ 1,081
Cost method investments 1,430 2,280

$4,362  $3,361

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company recognized a loss on investments in affiliates of approximately $0.6
million, $1.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the loss on investments in affiliates consisted of
approximately $1.3 million relating to the impairment of the short-term promissory notes purchased from Navigauge, $0.4 million relating to our
proportionate share of affiliates operating losses for those affiliates accounted for under the equity method and $0.2 million relating to the
impairment of the investment in an affiliate, partially offset by a $1.3 million gain relating to the sale of the Company s interest in two affiliates.
For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the loss on investment in affiliates consisted primarily of the Company s proportionate share
of affiliates operating losses for those affiliates accounted for under the equity method.

The aggregate carrying value of the Company s cost method investments totaled approximately $1.4 million as of December 31, 2005. Such cost
method investments were not evaluated for impairment because (i) the Company did not identify any events or changes in circumstances that
may have had a significant adverse effect on the fair value of those investments and (ii) the Company did not estimate the fair value of those
investments in accordance with SFAS No. 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments as the cost to make such estimation was
prohibitive.

(8) Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments consisted of the following debt securities:

December 31,
2005 2004
(in thousands)
Government agencies securities $6,000 $19,356
Auction rate securities 36,150
Municipal bonds 4,242
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The government agencies securities and municipal bonds are classified as held to maturity. The amortized cost of these securities approximated
fair value as of December 31, 2005 and 2004. Auction rate securities are classified as available for sale. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004,
there were no unrealized gains or losses associated with these investments and the adjusted fair market value equaled the adjusted costs.

(9) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and consisted of the following:

December 31,
2005 2004

(in thousands)
Computer equipment and software $ 258 $ 258
Furniture and fixtures 32 29
Leasehold improvements 21
Machinery and equipment 5 5

295 313
Less accumulated depreciation 277) (274)
Property and equipment, net $ 18 $ 39

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was approximately $12,000, $29,000 and $28,000, respectively.
(10) Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

December 31,
2005 2004

(in thousands)
Accrued professional fees $ 1,475 $1,225
Accrued compensation 900 652
Accrued transaction costs 4,647
Accrued restructuring charges 47 1,550
Other accrued liabilities 51 131

$2,473 $ 8,205
(11) Income Taxes

For Federal income tax purposes, the Company has unused net operating loss ( NOL ) carryforwards of approximately $227.2 million expiring in
2008 through 2025 and capital loss carryforwards of approximately $93.3 million expiring in 2006 through 2010. Based on a private letter ruling
issued by the Internal Revenue Service ( IRS ) and a closing agreement entered into by the IRS and the Company with respect to whether an

ownership change as defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code occurred during the period from June 5, 1999 through December 31,
2004, the Company believes that its carryforwards are not subject to limitation under Section 382 and, therefore, are available to offset future
taxable income of the Company and its affiliates unless subject to other limitation.
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The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets are as follows:

December 31,
2005 2004
(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 86,336 $ 79,804

Capital loss carryforwards 35,451 32,475

Impairment loss on investments in affiliates 7,039 9,639

Investment in Mobile Satellite Ventures LP 1,031 122

Other assets 869 913

Total gross deferred tax assets 130,726 122,953

Less valuation allowance (70,009) (122,953)
Total deferred tax assets 60,717

Deferred tax liability:

Investment in Hughes Network Systems, LLC 10,383
Total deferred tax liability 10,383
Net deferred tax assets $ 50,334 $

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax
liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning in making these assessments.

As the Distribution did not qualify as a tax-free spin-off, the Company expects to generate significant taxable income in 2006 for Federal and
state income tax purposes. Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company recognized a $50.3 million income tax benefit
related to the reversal of the valuation allowance related to the loss carryforwards which are expected to be utilized to offset the Federal taxable
income on the Distribution. Of the remaining valuation allowance of approximately $64.8 million, subsequently recognized tax benefits, if any,
in the amount of approximately $7.7 million will be applied directly to contributed capital. This amount relates to the tax effect of employee
stock option deductions included in the Company s net operating loss carryforward. Due to the Company s operating losses and the uncertainty
surrounding whether the Company would ultimately realize its deferred tax assets, as of December 31, 2004, a valuation allowance was
maintained on all of the deferred tax assets.

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company s income from continuing operations before income tax benefit was
approximately $8.9 million and $19.1 million, respectively, all of which was generated in the United States. For the year ended December 31,
2003, the Company s loss from continuing operations before income taxes was approximately $1.9 million.

85

98



Edgar Filing: SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form 10-K

SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The income tax benefit consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Current benefit:
Federal $ $ $
State
Total current benefit
Deferred benefit:
Federal 50,334
State
Total deferred benefit 50,334
Total income tax benefit $ 50,334 $ $
Effective income tax rate (566)% 0% 0%

The income tax benefit differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory rate to the Company s income from continuing operations
before income taxes as follows:

Years Ended
December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Income tax (expense) benefit at statutory rate $ (3,110) $ (6,694) $ 675
Valuation allowance and other 53,444 6,694 (675)
$50,334 $ $

The difference between the statutory Federal income tax rate and the Company s effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2005 is
principally due to the release of the valuation of allowance related to loss carryforwards expected to be utilized to offset the taxable income
generated as a result of the Distribution. The difference between the statutory Federal income tax rate and the Company s effective tax rate for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 is principally due to the Company incurring net operating losses for which no tax benefit was
recorded.

(12) Redeemable Preferred Stock

On June 4, 1999, the Company issued and sold to Apollo Investment Fund IV, LP, Apollo Overseas Partners IV, LP and AIF IV/RRRR LLC, for
an aggregate purchase price of $87.0 million, 126,000 shares of the Company s Series A Preferred Stock, 126,000 Series 1-A Warrants (the
Series 1-A Warrants ), 1,916,994 Series 2-A Warrants (the Series 2-A Warrants ), 744,000 shares of the Company s Series B Preferred Stock (the
Series B Preferred Stock ), 744,000 Series 1-B Warrants (the Series 1-B Warrants ) and 10,345,548 Series 2-B Warrants (the Series 2-B
Warrants ). As approved at the Company s 1999 annual meeting of stockholders, all Series B securities were converted to Series A securities.

The Series A Preferred Stock is subject to mandatory and optional redemption. On June 30, 2012, the Company will be required to redeem all
Series A Preferred Stock plus any accrued and unpaid dividends. At the option of the Company, the Series A Preferred Stock can be redeemed
after June 30, 2002 provided that the trading price of the Company s common stock for each of the preceding 30 trading days is greater than
$120.00
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per share, or after June 30, 2004 at a price of 103% of the face value of the Series A Preferred Stock plus any accrued and unpaid dividends. In
the event of a change of control, as defined, at the option of the holders of the majority of the then outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred
Stock, the Company is required to redeem all or any number of such holders shares of Series A Preferred Stock plus any accrued and unpaid
dividends. As a result of the July 2002 rights offering, the conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock was adjusted, pursuant to certain
anti-dilution provisions as defined, from $70.00 to $68.50 per share. As a result of the December 2004 private placement, the conversion price of
the Series A Preferred Stock was further adjusted to $62.69 per share. The conversion price is subject to further adjustment pursuant to the
anti-dilution provisions.

From the date of issuance to June 30, 2002, the quarterly dividends on the Series A securities were based on a rate of 7.5% per annum and were
paid in additional shares of Series A securities. Under the terms of the securities purchase agreement, from July 1, 2002 through June 30, 2004,
the quarterly dividend was based on a rate of 4.65% per annum and was payable, at the option of the holder, in additional shares of Series A
securities or cash. As part of the settlement of a class action lawsuit filed against the Company, the Apollo Stockholders agreed to accept
payment in additional shares of Series A securities. Dividends paid from July 1, 2004 through the date of redemption will be based on a rate of
4.65% per annum and will be payable quarterly in arrears in cash. The quarterly payment of approximately $1.4 million for the three months
ended December 31, 2005 was declared on January 30, 2006 and paid on February 2, 2006. The quarterly payment of approximately $1.4
million for the three months ended December 31, 2004 was declared and paid on January 13, 2005. Each of these dividends are reflected are
reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements in the carrying amount of the Series A Preferred Stock and in net loss
attributable to common stockholders.

The Series 1-A and Series 2-A warrants are exercisable at any time and expire ten years from the date issued. The holders of the Series 1-A and
Series 2-A warrants have the option to pay the exercise price of the warrants in cash, Company common stock previously held, or instructing the
Company to withhold a number of Company shares with an aggregate fair value equal to the aggregate exercise price. Pursuant to the original
terms of the Series 1-A warrants, each warrant was exercisable into 1.35 shares of the Company s common stock, and the exercise price was
dependent on the trading price of the Company s common stock. The exercise price ranged from $0.10, if the trading price is equal to or greater
than $70.00 per share, to $42.00 if the trading price is equal to or less than $40.00 per share. Pursuant to their original terms, each Series 2-A
warrant was exercisable into 0.1 share of the Company s common stock at an exercise price of $70.00.

The exercise price and the number of shares for which the Series 1-A and Series 2-A warrants are exercisable for is subject to adjustment under
certain anti-dilution and other provisions as defined. As such, as a result of the issuance of additional shares of common stock in the July 2002
rights offering to shareholders other than the Apollo Stockholders at a price below the exercise price of the warrants at the time of the offering,
the highest exercise price of the Series 1-A warrants was adjusted from $42.00 to $41.12, and the number of shares of the Company s common
stock issuable upon the exercise of each Series 1-A warrant became a range dependent on the trading price of the Company s common stock. The
number of shares issuable upon the exercise of each Series 1-A warrant ranged from 1.35 shares, if the trading price is equal to or greater than
$70.00 per share to 1.379 shares if the trading price was less than or equal to $40.00 per share. The exercise price of the Series 2-A warrants was
adjusted from $70.00 to $68.50, and the number of shares of the Company s common stock issuable upon the exercise of each Series 2-A warrant
was adjusted from 0.1 to 0.1022 shares.

As a result of the December 2004 private placement in which additional shares of common stock were sold at a price below the exercise price of
the warrants at the time of the placement, the highest exercise price of the Series 1-A warrants was adjusted from $41.12 to $38.48, and the
highest number of shares of the Company s common stock issuable upon the exercise of each Series 1-A warrant was adjusted from 1.379 shares
to 1.4737 shares. The exercise price of the Series 2-A warrants was adjusted from $68.50 to $62.69, and the number of
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shares of the Company s common stock issuable upon the exercise of each Series 2-A warrant was further adjusted to 0.111665 shares.

On January 2, 2003, pursuant to the settlement of a class action lawsuit, 22,218 Series 1-A warrants and 2,452,509 Series 2-A warrants were
cancelled. As of December 31, 2004, the 1,199,007 shares of Series A Preferred Stock are convertible into 1,912,485 shares of common stock,
and the 234,633 Series 1-A warrants and the 9,810,033 Series 2-A warrants are exercisable for 345,776 shares and 1,095,436 shares of common
stock, respectively. Assuming all the Series A securities are either converted or exercised, as of December 31, 2005, the Apollo Stockholders
would own approximately 63% of SkyTerra s outstanding common stock and 35% of SkyTerra s outstanding voting power on a fully diluted
basis.

At the time of issuance, the Company ascribed value to the Series A securities based on their relative fair value. As such, $29.9 million was
allocated to Series A Preferred Stock and the remaining $57.1 million was allocated to the related Series 1-A and Series 2-A warrants. This
transaction was accounted for in accordance with EITF Issue No. 98-5 Accounting for Convertible Securities with Beneficial Conversion
Features. Subsequently, dividends have been recorded representing the accrual of the quarterly paid-in-kind dividends and the accretion of the
carrying value up to the face redemption over 13 years. For each of the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, such accretion totaled
approximately $4.4 million.

(13) Stockholders Equity

On December 23, 2004, the Company sold 2,000,000 shares of its common stock for gross proceeds of $36.5 million (net proceeds of $35.1
million) in a private placement to a group of institutional investors. In connection with this sale, the Company entered into a registration rights
agreement with the investors requiring that, among other things, the Company register the resale of the shares. If the Company does not meet
certain deadlines between June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2005 with respect to making the registration effective, then warrants, which were
issued to the investors in connection with the transaction, to purchase up to an additional 600,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$18.25 per share will vest and be exercisable at any time through December 23, 2009. The number of warrants that vest, if any, will depend on
when the registration statement becomes effective. If the Company meets the June 30, 2005 deadline and otherwise complies with certain
registration obligations, none of the warrants will vest. As part of the placement fees incurred in connection with the transaction, the Company
also issued a warrant to purchase 110,000 shares at an exercise price of $18.25 per share to the placement agent. This warrant is exercisable at
any time through December 23, 2009 and had an estimated fair value of approximately $2.2 million using the Black-Scholes option valuation
model with the following assumptions: $21.50 price per share on date of grant, an expected life of five years, a risk free interest rate of 3.6%,
volatility of 166% and an annual dividend yield of 0%.

On March 13, 2003, the Company commenced a cash tender offer at a price of $1.00 per share for up to 2,500,000 shares of its outstanding
voting common stock. The tender offer expired on April 23, 2003 with 968,398 shares purchased for an aggregate cost, including all fees and
expenses applicable to the tender offer, of approximately $1.2 million. The primary purpose of the tender offer was to provide public
stockholders with additional liquidity for their shares of common stock, particularly in light of decreased liquidity arising from the decision of
Nasdagq to delist the Company s common stock, and to do so at a premium over the stock price before the tender offer and without the usual
transaction costs associated with open market sales. The Apollo Stockholders (as defined in Note 4) did not sell any shares of common stock in
the tender offer.

On January 10, 2003, as part of the settlement of a class action lawsuit, the Company issued 357,143 shares of the Company s common stock to
the plaintiff s counsel as attorney s fees. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recognized a charge of $0.3 million relating to
this settlement based on the $0.25 trading price of the common stock on January 2, 2003, the date the shares were issuable.

88

102



Edgar Filing: SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form 10-K

SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Pursuant to an April 2002 investment agreement, the Apollo Stockholders may exchange shares of non-voting common stock for an equal
number of shares of voting common stock if, after giving effect to such exchange, they collectively will own no more than 29.9% of the
outstanding voting power of the Company. Following the issuance of common stock in the December 2004 private placement, the Apollo
Stockholders voting power declined below 29.9%. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2005, the Apollo Stockholders may exchange 656,437
shares of non-voting common stock for an equal number of shares of voting common stock.

In connection with certain acquisitions made in 1999, the former shareholders agreed to indemnify the Company for any losses resulting from a
breach of, among other things, their respective representations, warranties and covenants. To secure the indemnification obligations of these
shareholders thereunder, 1,336 shares of the Company s common stock delivered to these shareholders, included as part of the consideration,
remain in escrow at December 31, 2005, and the liability of these shareholders under such indemnification obligations is expressly limited to the
value of such shares held in escrow. During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company retired 6,262 shares of its common stock as a
reduction of consideration for acquisitions made during 1999 and 2000.

(14) Segment Information

The segment information is reported along the same lines that the Company s chief operating decision maker reviews the operating results in
assessing performance and allocating resources. Accordingly, the Company s consolidated operations have been classified into four reportable
segments: HNS, the MSV Joint Venture, ESP and Parent and other. HNS, which became a reportable segment following the April 2005
acquisition by the Companys, is a provider of broadband satellite networks and services to the enterprise market and satellite Internet access to
the North American consumer market. The MSV Joint Venture, which became a reportable segment following the November 2004 conversion
of the notes receivable into limited partnership interests of the MSV Joint Venture, provides mobile digital voice and data communications
services via satellite. ESP, which became a reportable segment following the August 2003 acquisition by the Company, is an engineering
services firm with expertise in the design and manufacturing of electronic products and systems across many disciplines of electrical
engineering. Parent and other includes the Company, other consolidated entities other than ESP and eliminations. Following the December 2005
decision to discontinue operating AfriHUB, AfriHUB is no longer a reportable segment.

The following table presents certain financial information on the Company s reportable segments for the year ended December 31, 2005. The
HNS column represents the results of operations for the period following the April 22, 2005 acquisition through December 31, 2005. Since our
23% share of the results of MSV Joint Venture s operations and our 50% share of the results of HNS operations are already included in the
Parent and Other column, the Eliminate MSV Joint Venture and HNS column removes the results of the MSV Joint Venture and HNS shown in
the MSV Joint Venture and HNS columns.
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HNS
Revenues $ 583,468
Operating expenses (516,860)
Gain (loss) from operations 66,608
Interest (expense) income, net (22,744)
Equity in earnings of Hughes Network Systems, LLC
Equity in loss of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP
Loss on investments in affiliates
Other income, net 2,707
Minority interest
Net income (loss) before taxes, discontinued
operations and cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle $ 46,571
Total assets $ 756,524

MSV
Joint Parent and
Venture ESP Other
(in thousands)
$ 29,381 $ 615 $
(68,534) (592) 9,322)
(39,153) 23 9,322)
3,345 59) 1,495
24,054
(9,469)
(638)
3,682 65 812
1,925
$ (32,126) $ 29 $ 8,857
$216,784 $ 120 $ 205,217

Eliminate
HNS and

MSYV Joint
Venture

$(612,849)
585,394

(27,455)
19,399

(6,389)

$ (14,445)

$(973,308)

Consolidated

$ 615
(9,914)

(9,299)
1,436
24,054

(9,469)

(638)
877
1,925

$ 8,886

$ 205,337

The following table presents certain financial information on the Company s reportable segments as of or for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Although the MSV Joint Venture became a reportable segment in November 2004 following the conversion of the notes receivable, the MSV
Joint Venture column represents the results of operations for the full year ended December 31, 2004 due to the significance to the Company s
operations. Since our 23% share of the results MSV Joint Venture s operations for the period following the conversion is already included in the
Parent and Other column, the MSV Joint Venture Elimination column removes the full year results of the MSV Joint Venture shown in the MSV

Joint Venture column.

MSV
Joint
Venture ESP

Revenues $ 29,007 $ 2,117
Operating expenses (55,762) (2,932)
Loss from operations (26,755) (815)
Interest (expense) income, net (8,109) (56)
Equity in loss of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP
Loss on investments in affiliates (275) (164)
Other income, net 3,623 866
Minority interest
Net (loss) income before taxes and discontinued operations $ (31,516) $ (169)
Total assets $ 246,223 $ 268

Parent and
Other

(in thousands)

$
(8,471)

(8,471)
10,604
(1,020)
(1,172)
20,164
(810)

$ 19,295

$ 154,302

Eliminate

MSYV Joint
Venture

$ (29,007)
55,762

26,755
8,109

275
(3,623)

$ 31,516

$(246,223)

Consolidated

$ 2,117
(11,403)

(9,286)
10,548
(1,020)
(1,336)
21,030
(810)

$ 19,126

$ 154,570
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The following table presents certain financial information on the Company s reportable segments as of or for the year ended December 31, 2003:

Parent and

ESP Other Consolidated
Revenues $ 699 $ $ 699
Operating expenses (1,412) (6,234) (7,646)
Loss from operations (713) (6,234) (6,947)
Interest (expense) income, net (11) 6,315 6,304
Loss on investments in affiliates (112) (292) (404)
Other income, net 24 220 244
Minority interest (1,126) (1,126)
Net loss before taxes and discontinued operations $ 812 $ (1,117) $ (1,929)
Total assets $ 555 $ 97,544 $ 98,099

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, all of the Company s long-lived assets were located in the United States.
(15) Discontinued Operations
Rare Medium

At the end of the third quarter of 2001, a decision to discontinue the operations of Rare Medium, Inc. and the LiveMarket subsidiary was made
as a result of the weakening of general economic conditions that caused many companies to reduce spending on Internet-focused business
solutions and in light of their performance and prospects. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, cash of approximately $47,000 and $15,000,
respectively, (excluding the $0.3 million of cash collateralizing a letter of credit as of December 31, 2004) was the remaining asset of Rare
Medium, Inc. and LiveMarket. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the liabilities of these subsidiaries totaled approximately $0.8 million and
$2.3 million, respectively, consisting of accounts payable and accrued expenses. As of December 31, 2004, Rare Medium, Inc. held $0.3 million
of cash in a certificate of deposit which was maintained as collateral for a letter of credit supporting a lease obligation. The lease obligation and
the letter of credit expired during the year ended December 31, 2005, and the collateral was released. For the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, the Company recognized a gain of approximately $1.1 million, nil and $1.2 million, respectively, as a result of the settlement of
Rare Medium, Inc. liabilities at amounts less than their recorded amounts.

AfriHUB

In April 2004, the Company signed an agreement to acquire 80% of the outstanding membership interests of AfriHUB for an aggregate purchase
price of $1.5 million in cash. AfriHUB planned to provide instructor led and distance based technical training and satellite based broadband
Internet access and domestic and international calling services through exclusive partnerships with certain Nigerian based universities. While
establishing centers which provide these services on two university campuses during the fourth quarter of 2004, AfriHUB experienced
significant unanticipated delays and costs in opening these facilities, as well as greater price sensitivity within the university communities. As a
result, AfriHUB suspended its planned roll out of service to additional campuses and is actively pursuing other opportunities to provide technical
training in the Nigerian market, including establishing a facility on a single additional campus.

In connection with the allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, the Company ascribed
approximately $0.6 million to a significant contract. This intangible asset was
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being amortized over the approximate five-year minimum life of the contract, and for the year ended December 31, 2004, such amortization was
approximately $34,000. As a result of AfriHUB s strategy shift, the Company recognized an impairment loss of approximately $0.8 million
during the year ended December 31, 2004 relating to this intangible asset and certain building improvements (see Note 1(f)).

In October 2004, AfriHUB agreed to sell membership interests to an unaffiliated third party for approximately $0.5 million in cash (see Note
1(p)). As a result of this sale of membership units, the Company s ownership of AfriHUB s outstanding membership interests decreased to
approximately 70%.

In August 2005, the Company decided to cease providing funding to AfriHUB. As a result of this decision, the Company evaluated AfriHUB s
long-lived assets for recoverability and determined that the undiscounted cash flows over the remaining expected life of the two established
centers was less than the carrying value of the assets relating to those centers. Accordingly, the Company assessed the fair value of these assets
by estimating the recoverability of the computers and equipment upon a sale. The Company recognized a non-cash impairment loss relating to
the computers and equipment as their carrying value exceeded the fair value by approximately $0.4 million.

In August 2005, AfriHUB s Nigerian subsidiary borrowed approximately $0.2 million from a Nigerian bank under a term loan to fund the
investment necessary to establish a facility on an additional university campus. The short-term borrowing, which is denominated in Nigerian
Naira, is due in August 2006 and bears interest at an annual rate of 19% as of December 31, 2005. The interest rate is subject to change based on
fluctuations of the bank s money market rate. The Company has not guaranteed any amounts owed under the short-term borrowing.

In December 2005, the Company decided to discontinue operating AfriHUB and signed a letter of intent to sell its interests in AfriHUB for a
promissory note with a principal amount of approximately $0.2 million and a maturity date one year following the execution of definitive
documentation. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, the results of operations of
AfriHUB have been classified as discontinued operations on the accompanying statements of operations and prior period results have been
reclassified. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, AfriHUB s revenues of approximately $0.3 million and $10,000, respectively,

have been included in loss from discontinued operations on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The following table

presents the major classes of assets and liabilities of AfriHUB which are classified as held for sale on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets:

December 31,
2005 2004
(in thousands)
Assets:
Cash $ 74 $ 25
Other current assets 205 40
Property and equipment 189 566
Other assets 15
Total assets $ 468 $ 646
Liabilities
Accounts payable $210 $169
Accrued liabilities 77 77
Deferred revenue 162
Short-term borrowing 76
Total liabilities $ 525 $ 246
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(16) Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company provides incentive and nonqualified stock option plans for directors, officers, and key employees of the Company and others. The
Company has reserved a total of 2.3 million shares of authorized common stock for issuance under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan ( Stock
Incentive Plan ). The Company has options outstanding under the Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, but no new grants are being made under this
plan. The number of options to be granted and the option prices are determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors in
accordance with the terms of the plans. Options generally expire five to ten years after the date of grant.

During 1998, the Board of Directors approved the Stock Incentive Plan under which non-qualified stock options ( NQSOs ) to acquire shares of
common stock may be granted to non-employee directors and consultants of the Company, and incentive stock options ( ISOs ) to acquire shares
of common stock may be granted to employees. The Stock Incentive Plan also provides for the grant of stock appreciation rights, shares of
restricted stock, deferred stock awards, dividend equivalents, and other stock-based awards to the Company s employees, directors, and
consultants. Under the Stock Incentive Plan, the option price of any ISO may not be less than the fair market value of a share of common stock

on the date on which the option is granted. The option price of an NQSO may be less than the fair market value on the date the NQSO is granted

if the Board of Directors so determines. An ISO may not be granted to a ten percent stockholder (as such term is defined in section 422A of the
Internal Revenue Code) unless the exercise price is at least 110% of the fair market value of the common stock and the term of the option may

not exceed five years from the date of grant. Common stock subject to a restricted stock purchase or a bonus agreement is transferable only as
provided in such agreement. The maximum term of each stock option granted to persons other than ten percent stockholders is ten years from the
date of grant.

Under the Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, which provided for the issuance of up to 510,000 shares, the option price as determined by the
Compensation Committee was permitted to be greater or less than the fair market value of the common stock as of the date of the grant, and the
options were generally exercisable for three to five years subsequent to the grant date. The Nonqualified Stock Option Plan expired on July 18,
2000, and thereafter, no new options can be granted under the plan.

On October 5, 2001, the Compensation Committee of the Company s Board of Directors determined that because the outstanding options held by
certain executive officers and employees were exercisable at prices that were significantly above prevailing market prices for the Company s
common stock, they no longer provided an adequate level of incentive. Accordingly, to reincentivize certain executive officers and employees of
the Company and in recognition of their service to the Company, the Compensation Committee approved the repricing of the exercise prices of
options to purchase an aggregate of 32,833 shares of common stock to $1.30 per share, the fair market value at the date of the repricing. On
December 21, 2001, the Compensation Committee approved an additional repricing of the exercise prices of options to purchase an aggregate of
40,000 shares of common stock held by non-management directors to $6.00 per share, the fair market value at the date of the repricing. On
October 15, 2002, in recognition of the former Chief Executive Officer s contribution to the Company, among other things, the Compensation
Committee of the Company s Board of Directors approved the repricing of the exercise price of the former Chief Executive Officer s outstanding
options to purchase 140,000 shares of common stock to $0.85, the fair market value at the date of the repricing. As a result of these actions, the
Company recorded non-cash compensation expense during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 of approximately $0.4 million,
$2.8 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Pursuant to the Stock Incentive Plan, the Compensation Committee is required to make an equitable adjustment to the terms of options issued
under that plan in the event a special, large and nonrecurring dividend or distribution affects the Company s common stock such that an
adjustment is appropriate in order to prevent
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dilution or enlargement of the rights of the participants under such plan. The Compensation Committee has discretion to make such an
adjustment to any option issued under the Stock Incentive Plan by adjusting the number and kind of shares that may be issued in respect of
outstanding options or the exercise price relating to such options. Pursuant to this provision, the holders of stock options who are current
members of the Company s management and Board of Directors, as well as a consultant and former directors who were involved with the
acquisition of HNS, received an option to purchase one share of Hughes common stock for each option to purchase two shares of the Company s
common stock that they held as of the date of the Distribution. The exercise price and number of shares subject to the Company and Hughes
options was adjusted so that the two options have a combined intrinsic value equal to the intrinsic value of the Company option before taking
into account the effect of the Distribution. The options are otherwise exercisable on substantially the same terms and conditions set forth in the
Stock Incentive Plan. The issuance of such options to purchase Hughes common stock were in lieu of a larger adjustment to the exercise price of
the Company options that such holders would have been otherwise entitled had they not received options to purchase Hughes common stock. A
reduction in the exercise price (or in some cases, an increase in the number of shares) is the manner in which all other options outstanding under
the Stock Incentive Plan were adjusted.

Stock option activity under the various option plans is shown below:

Weighted
Average
Number
Exercise of
Prices Shares
Outstanding at January 1, 2003 $ 1091 923,824
Granted 1.02 235,000
Forfeited 19.38 (37,650)
Exercised 1.30 4,367)
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 8.58 1,116,807
Granted 3.35 220,000
Forfeited 62.01 (28,081)
Exercised 0.88 (321,966)
Outstanding at December 31, 2004 8.40 986,760
Granted 31.21 152,500
Exercised 2.98 (47,167)
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 $ 11.81 1,092,093
The following table summarizes weighted-average option price information:
Number Weighted Weighted Number Weighted
Outstanding at Average Average Exercisable at Average
December 31, Remaining Exercise December 31, Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices 2005 Life Price 2005 Price
$ 085 $0.85 288,000 6.18 $ 085 288,000 $ 085
$091 $ 155 230,000 7.33 $ 1.02 151,668 $ 1.02
$ 1.80 $ 6.00 244,833 6.82 $ 3.6 124,836 $ 3.68
$ 6.60 $38.44 221,867 8.12 $ 2595 45,201 $ 19.82
$51.10 $95.00 107,393 3.12 $ 54.80 107,393 $ 54.80
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(17) Related Party Transactions
Hughes Systique

On October 12, 2005, through Hughes, the Company acquired Series A Preferred Shares from Hughes Systique for $3.0 million, representing an
ownership of approximately 26% on an undiluted basis. The founders of Hughes Systique include the Chief Executive Officer and President of
Hughes, as well as certain current and former employees of HNS, including the Chief Executive Officer and President s brother. The Chief
Executive Officer and President of Hughes and his brother own an aggregate of approximately 21% of Hughes Systique on an undiluted basis.

Separation Agreement

On December 30, 2005, in preparation for the Distribution, the Company and Hughes entered into a Separation Agreement pursuant to which the
Company contributed to Hughes, effective December 31, 2005, all of its assets, liabilities and operations other than those associated with the
MSYV Joint Venture and TerreStar, $12.5 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and the obligations pursuant to the Series
A Preferred Stock. Upon a change of control of the Company, the remaining balance of the $12.5 million of cash at such time, if any, will be
transferred to Hughes. The Separation Agreement also provides that Hughes is responsible for paying all fees, costs and expenses directly related
to the Distribution, except to the extent such fees have already been paid by the Company. In addition, the Separation Agreement provides for
certain indemnifications, tax sharing, consulting services and access to facilities.

Indemnification. The Separation Agreement provides that Hughes will indemnify the Company against losses based on, arising out of or
resulting from (i) the ownership or the operation of the assets or properties transferred to Hughes under the Separation Agreement, and the
operation or conduct of the business of, including contracts entered into and any activities engaged in by, Hughes, whether in the past or future;
(ii) any other activities Hughes engages in; (iii) any guaranty, keepwell, of or by the Company provided to any parties with respect to any of
Hughes s actual or contingent obligations and (iv) certain other matters described in the Separation Agreement. The Separation Agreement
provides that the Company will indemnify Hughes against losses based on, arising out of or resulting from the ownership or operation of the
assets or properties of the MSV Joint Venture or TerreStar, or the operation or conduct of their businesses, including the contracts entered into
by them, and certain other matters described in the Separation Agreement.

Tax sharing agreement. The tax sharing agreement governs the allocation between Hughes and the Company of tax liabilities and related tax
matters, such as the preparation and filing of tax returns and tax contests, for all taxable periods. Hughes will generally be responsible for, and
indemnify the Company and its subsidiaries against, all tax liabilities imposed on or attributable to (i) Hughes and any of its subsidiaries relating
to all taxable periods and (ii) the Company and any of its subsidiaries for all taxable periods or portions thereof ending on or prior to a change of
control of the Company, in each case, after taking into account any tax attributes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries that are available to
offset such tax liabilities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Hughes is not responsible for any taxes relating to the MSV Joint Venture, TerreStar or
a change of control of the Company. Additionally, under the tax sharing agreement, the Company is responsible for, and indemnifies Hughes
and its subsidiaries against, all tax liabilities imposed on or attributable to the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar relating to all taxable periods,
the Company and any of its subsidiaries relating to all taxable periods or portions thereof beginning and ending after a change of control, and
any change of control of the Company.

Consulting services. The Company will provide Hughes with the consulting services of its officers, not to exceed an aggregate of 200 hours per
month, for a monthly fee of $25,000. Such services may be terminated by either party at any time with or without cause by providing ten
business days notice to the non-terminating party.
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Access to facilities. The Company will provide Hughes with use of its facilities, including information technology and communications
equipment and services at such premises, until the earlier of a change of control of the Company or such other time that the parties mutually
agree. In exchange, Hughes will pay the Company $7,500 per month.

Miraxis

In May 2002, the Company acquired ownership interests in Miraxis (see Note 5(c)). Prior to joining the Company, the Company s Chief
Executive Officer and President served as President of Miraxis, a position he continues to hold. The Company s Chief Executive Officer and
President currently holds shares, options and warrants of Miraxis representing approximately 1% of the outstanding ownership interests.

Miraxis License Holdings, LLC ( MLH ) and a subsidiary, entities unaffiliated with Miraxis, other than as described herein, hold the rights to
certain orbital slots, one of which Miraxis had the ability to use so long as it implemented its business plan. Miraxis issued 10% of its
outstanding common equity on a fully diluted basis to MLH as partial consideration for access to that slot. In addition, Miraxis was required to
pay certain royalties to MLH for use of the slot if it ever launched satellites. Miraxis ceased operations during the year ended December 31, 2005
and, accordingly, the arrangement with MLH terminated. Prior to becoming affiliated with the Company, its Chief Executive Officer and
President acquired a 2% interest in MLH. In addition, prior to the Company acquiring an interest in Miraxis, an affiliate of the Company s
preferred stockholders acquired an approximate 70% interest in MLH.

Other

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 and from the August 25, 2003 acquisition through December 31, 2003, ESP recognized
revenues totaling approximately $18,000, $0.6 million and $0.3 million, respectively, for services provided to Navigauge and the MSV Joint
Venture.

Certain of the Company s directors and officers serve on the board of directors of affiliates, including the MSV Joint Venture and TerreStar. Such
directors and officers have received stock-based compensation from such affiliates for their service. The amount of stock-based compensation
received by the Company s directors and officers is comparable to stock-based compensation awarded to other non-executive members of the
affiliates board of directors.

(18) Contingencies and Commitments
Regulatory

In April 2005, the Federal Communications Commission ( FCC ) approved a license application submitted by the Company which provides the
Company with access to a satellite orbital slot. To ensure that the Company complies with certain milestones with respect to the construction,
launch and initial operation of a satellite in the orbital slot, the FCC requires the Company to maintain a surety bond with an initial amount of
$3.0 million. As the milestones are achieved over a five year schedule, the amount of the surety bond will be reduced. To secure the insurance
company s obligation under the surety bond, the Company must maintain a letter of credit in an amount equal to the value of the surety bond. The
letter of credit agreement requires the Company to maintain a restricted cash account for 102% of the amount of the letter of credit. As of
December 31, 2005, the Company had approximately $3.1 million in the restricted cash account. Restricted cash balances which are expected to
be restricted for more than one year have been classified as non-current assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Leases

The Company has non-cancelable operating leases with future minimum payments totaling approximately $0.1 million that expire during the
year ending December 31, 2006. Excluded from the future minimum lease payments is $1.0 million, net of secured letters of credit issued by the
assignee, relating to leases that have been assigned and require no future payments by the Company unless there is a default by the party to
which the respective lease has been assigned.

Total expense under operating leases amounted to approximately $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

Litigation

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries (along with the Engelhard Corporation ( Engelhard )) were parties to an arbitration relating to certain
agreements that existed between or among the claimant and ICC Technologies, Inc., the Company s former name, and the Engelhard/ICC

( E/ICC ) joint venture arising from the desiccant air conditioning business that the Company and its subsidiaries sold in 1998. The claimant
sought $8.5 million for (1) its alleged out of pocket losses in investing in certain of E/ICC s technology; (2) unjust enrichment resulting from the
reorganization of E/ICC in 1998; and (3) lost profits arising from the fact that it was allegedly forced to leave the air conditioning business when
the E/ICC joint venture was dissolved. On December 30, 2005, the parties to the arbitration executed a definitive binding settlement agreement.
Pursuant to the settlement agreement, Engelhard agreed to pay the claimant $0.7 million. In return, the Company and Engelhard exchanged

general releases with the claimants, settling the arbitration. In connection with the settlement, the Company and Engelhard exchanged general
releases, and the Company reimbursed Engelhard for approximately $0.2 million of the settlement payment.

From time to time, the Company is subject to litigation in the normal course of business. The Company is of the opinion that, based on
information presently available, the resolution of any such additional legal matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company s
financial position, results of operations or its cash flows.

Other

On May 7, 2004, in connection with services being provided which support the regulatory effort of the MSV Joint Venture, the MSV Investors
Subsidiary agreed to pay an unaffiliated consultant a one-time fee of $0.4 million upon a liquidity event, as defined in the agreement. The MSV
Investors Subsidiary will recognize an expense related to this fee if and when a liquidity event becomes probable. A consolidation transaction
described in Note 3, if such a transaction is consummated, would likely be considered a liquidity event which would require payment of the
one-time fee.

(19) Subsequent Events
HNS Acquisition

In January 2006, through Hughes, the Company acquired the remaining 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS from DTV Networks
for $100.0 million in cash. Following closing of the acquisition, Hughes pledged its Class A membership interests of HNS to secure the
obligations of HNS under the term indebtedness and serves as the managing member of HNS.
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Apollo Loan and Rights Offering

To finance the January 2006 acquisition of the remaining 50% of the Class A membership interests of HNS, Hughes obtained $100.0 million of
short-term debt financing from certain of the Apollo Stockholders. Concurrent with the Distribution, Hughes conducted a rights offering to its
stockholders in order to repay the short-term debt financing provided by the Apollo Stockholders. In connection with such rights offering, in
March 2006, the Apollo Stockholders converted approximately $68.4 million of the short-term debt financing into shares of common stock of
Hughes at the $12.75 per share subscription price in the rights offering. The remaining $31.6 million of principal and interest obligations under
the short-term debt financing was repaid in cash from the proceeds from the proceeds from the rights offering.

Distribution

On February 21, 2006, the Company completed the Distribution and distributed to each of its stockholders one-half of one share of Hughes
common stock for each share of the Company s common or non-voting common stock held as of the close of business on February 13, 2006 (or,
in the case of the Series A Preferred Stock and Series 1-A and 2-A warrants, in accordance with their terms, one-half of one share of Hughes
common stock for each share of the Company s common stock issuable upon conversion or exercise of such preferred stock and warrants held as
of the close of business on February 13, 2006).

Series A Preferred Stock Dividend

The terms of the Company s Series A Preferred Stock provide for dividends of 4.65% of the then current face value to be paid quarterly in
arrears. The payment of approximately $1.4 million, for the three months ended December 31, 2005, was declared by the Company s board of
directors on January 30, 2006 and paid on February 2, 2006 and is reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements in the
carrying amount of the Series A Preferred Stock and in net loss attributable to common stockholders.
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Deductions Descriptions
Reserves and allowances deducted from asset
accounts:

Allowances for uncollectible accounts
receivable

Year ended December 31, 2003
Year ended December 31, 2004
Year ended December 31, 2005

Allowances for uncollectible notes receivable

Year ended December 31, 2003
Year ended December 31, 2004
Year ended December 31, 2005

SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Additions
Charged to
Balance at Costs and Other
Beginning of Year Expenses
$ 43,672
$ 43,672 $ 38,093
$ 77,850
$ 20,160,774 $ 1,855,292
$ 22,016,066

Additions
Charged to

Accounts

Deductions

$ (3,915)

$(22,016,066)(1)

Balance at
End of Year

$ 43,672
$ 77,850
$ 77,850

$ 22,016,066

(1) Relates to adjustment to reserve for note receivable from Motient Corporation as a result of repayment of amounts owed thereunder.
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Report of Independent Auditors
General Partner and Unit Holders
Mobile Satellite Ventures LP

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mobile Satellite Ventures LP (a Delaware limited partnership) (the

Company) as of December 31, 2004 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, partners equity (deficit), and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged
to perform an audit of the Company s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the Company s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Mobile
Satellite Ventures LP at December 31, 2004 and 2005, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2005 the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, Virginia

February 22, 2006
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In Thousands)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Restricted cash

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $70 and $103
Management fee due from TerreStar
Inventory

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
TerreStar assets, discontinued

Total current assets

Restricted cash, long-term

Property and equipment, net

Intangible assets, net

Goodwill

Other assets

TerreStar assets, discontinued

Total assets

Liabilities and partners equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Vendor note payable, current portion
Deferred revenue, current portion

Other current liabilities

TerreStar liabilities, discontinued

Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue, net of current portion
Vendor note payable, net of current portion

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Partners equity:

MSV general partner

MSV limited partners

Deferred compensation

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total partners equity
Total liabilities and partners

equity

See accompanying notes.

December 31
2004 2005
$ 129,124 $ 59,925
52,278
75 1,664
3,344 3,370
769
698 710
782 1,090
5,955
139,978 119,806
4,600
14,054 10,600
71,506 61,958
16,495 16,936
85 2,884
4,105
$ 246,223 $216,784
$ 6,171 $ 6974
206 225
4,882 4,538
65 74
549
11,873 11,811
20,690 23,243
696 470
33,259 35,524
217,643 186,803
(4,185) (4,420)
(494) (1,123)
212,964 181,260
$ 246,223 $216,784
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Mobile Satellite Ventures LP
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In Thousands)

Revenues:
Services and related revenues
Equipment sales and other revenues

Total revenues

Operating expenses:

Satellite operations and cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown
separately below)

Next generation expenditures (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below)
Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses

Loss from continuing operations before other income (expense)
Other income (expense):

Rights and services fee from MSV Canada

Equity in losses of MSV Canada

Interest income

Interest expense

Management fee from TerreStar

Other income, net

Loss from continuing operations before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Loss from TerreStar discontinued operations

Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

Net loss

See accompanying notes.
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Year ended December 31

2003

$ 25,536
1,588

27,124

15,640
4,268
1,973
4,319

17,928

44,128
(17,004)

3,200
(1,030)

41
(9,616)

737

(23,672)
(4,328)

(28,000)

$ (28,000)

2004

$ 26,664
2,343

29,007

16,618
8,593
4,762
7,350

18,439

55,762
(26,755)

3,568
(275)

442
(8,551)

55

(31,516)
(1,939)

(33,455)

$(33,455)

2005

$ 27,200
2,181

29,381

14,264
18,516

4,093
15,552
16,109

68,534

(39,153)

3,490

(145)
3,621
61

(32,126)
(9,553)

(41,679)
724

$ (40,955)
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Consolidated Statements of Partners Equity (Deficit)

(In Thousands, except number of units)

General Partner Limited Partners Accumulated
Other
Number Comprehensive
of Deferred
Income
Amount Units Amount Compensation (Loss)
Balance, December 31, 2002 $ 16,642,732 $ 23,259 $ $ 7
Issuance of MSV Class A Preferred
Units 573,951 3,700
Net loss (28,000)
Change in market value of derivative
instruments 82
Foreign currency translation adjustment (32)
Balance, December 31, 2003 17,216,683 (1,041) 57
Total, year ended December 31, 2003
Issuance of MSV Class A Preferred
Units 2,735,317 17,633
Conversion of Notes 9,911,234 84,922
Issuance of MSV Common Units 4,923,599 145,000
Issuance of stock options 4,680 (4,680)
Amortization of deferred compensation 495
Distribution of warrant in subsidiary 96)
Net loss (33,455)
Change in market value of derivative
instruments 45)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (506)
Balance, year ended December 31, 2004 34,786,833 217,643 (4,185) (494)
Total, year ended December 31, 2004
Issuance of stock options 8,717 (8,717)
Amortization of deferred compensation 8,369
Distribution to unit holders for
TerreStar 869 113
Exercise of employee options 86,852 529
Net loss (40,955)
Change in market value of derivative
instruments 37)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (592)
Balance, December 31, 2005 $ 34,873,685  $ 186,803 $ (44200 $ (1,123)

Total, year ended December 31, 2005

See accompanying notes.
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Total
Partners
Comprehensive

Equity
(Deficit) Loss
$ 23,266

3,700
(28,000) $ (28,000)

82 82
(32) (32)
(984)
$ (27,950)
17,633
84,922
145,000
495
(96)
(33455 $ (33,455)
(45) (45)
(506) (506)
212,964
$ (34,006)
8,369
982
529

(40,955) $  (40,955)

(37) (37
(592) (592)

$ 181,260
$ (41,584)
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In Thousands)
Year ended December 31
2003 2004 2005
Operating activities
Net loss $ (28,000) $ (33,455) $ (40,955)
Loss from TerreStar discontinued operations 4,328 1,939 9,553
Loss from continuing operations (23,672) (31,516) (31,402)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
TerreStar discontinued operations (1,755) (7,236) 113
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (724)
Depreciation and amortization 17,928 18,439 16,109
Equity in losses of MSV Canada 1,030 275
Amortization of deferred compensation 495 8,369
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (1,062) 917 53
Management fee due from TerreStar (769)
Inventory 712 708 (12)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (938) 333 (3,478)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 307 2,765 672
Other current liabilities (752) (120) 9
Accrued interest 7,385 (12,589)
Deferred revenue 1,274 (2,677) (988)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 457 (30,206) (12,048)
Investing activities
Purchase of Motient Satellite business, net of cash acquired (2,200)
Purchase of property and equipment 967) (344) (294)
Purchase of intangible assets and other assets (500)
Restricted cash 579 (@)) (6,134)
Purchase of investments (52,278)
Investing activities of TerreStar discontinued operations (1,944) (3,791)
Net cash used in investing activities (4,532) (4,636) (58,706)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of Class A Preferred Units 3,700 17,633
Proceeds from issuance of Common Units 145,000 529
Principal payment on notes payable to investors (1,575) (2,370)
Principal payment on vendor note payable (206)
Financing activities of TerreStar discontinued operations 4
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,125 160,267 323
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 134 (66) 1,232
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,816) 125,359 (69,199)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 5,581 3,765 129,124
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 3,765 $ 129,124 $ 59,925
Supplemental information
Cash paid for interest $ 2,125 $ 21,395 $ 102
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Distribution of TerreStar $ $

Non-cash financing information
Equipment obtained through issuance of vendor note $ 1,029 $

Conversion of Notes $ $ 84,922

See accompanying notes.
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1. Organization and Business

Mobile Satellite Venture LP s predecessor company, Motient Satellite Ventures LLC, was organized as a limited liability company pursuant to
the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act on June 16, 2000, by Motient Corporation (Motient). On December 19, 2000, Motient Satellite
Ventures LLC changed its name to Mobile Satellite Ventures LLC (MSV LLC). On November 26, 2001, MSV LLC was converted into a
limited partnership, Mobile Satellite Ventures LP (MSV or the Company), subject to the laws of the state of Delaware. Concurrent with such
conversion, the Company acquired certain assets and liabilities of the Motient and TMI Communications LP (TMI) satellite businesses. In
connection with its purchase of TMI s satellite business, the Company acquired a 20% equity interest in Mobile Satellite Ventures (Canada) Inc.
(MSV Canada) and a 33 /3% equity interest in Mobile Satellite Ventures Holdings (Canada) Inc. (MSV Canada Holdings). In February 2002,
the Company established TerreStar Networks Inc. (TerreStar), a wholly owned subsidiary, to develop business opportunities related to the
planned receipt of certain licenses in the S-band radio frequency band (see Note 10). On May 11, 2005, holders of the Company s Limited
Partnership units exercised previously distributed rights to acquire all of the shares of TerreStar owned by the Company. As a result of this
transaction, TerreStar is no longer a subsidiary of the Company. The assets and liabilities and operating performance of the TerreStar business
are classified as TerreStar discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements (see Note 10).

The Company provides mobile satellite and communications services to individual and corporate customers in the United States and Canada via
its own satellite and leased satellite capacity. The Company s operations are subject to significant risks and uncertainties including technological,
competitive, financial, operational, and regulatory risks associated with the wireless communications business. Uncertainties also exist regarding
the Company s ability to raise additional debt and equity financing and the ultimate profitability of the Company s proposed next generation
integrated network. The Company will require substantial additional capital resources to construct its next generation integrated network.

The Company s current operating assumptions and projections, which reflect management s best estimate of future revenue, capital commitments,
and operating expenses, indicate that anticipated operating expenditures through 2006 can be met by cash flows from operations and available
working capital; however, the Company s ability to meet its projections is subject to uncertainties, and there can be no assurance that the
Company s current projections will be accurate. If the Company s cash requirements are more than projected, the Company may require
additional financing.

The type, timing, and terms of financing, if required, selected by the Company will be dependent upon the Company s cash needs, the availability
of financing sources, and the prevailing conditions in the financial markets. There can be no assurance that such financing will be available to
the Company at any given time or available on favorable terms.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2004 and 2005, and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, include the
accounts of the Company and its majority owned subsidiaries prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (GAAP). The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2005 include the accounts of the Company and its
majority-owned subsidiaries and all variable interest entities for which the Company is the primary beneficiary, in accordance with GAAP. All
intercompany accounts are eliminated upon consolidation.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates affecting the consolidated financial statements
include management s judgments regarding the allowance for doubtful accounts, reserves for inventory, future cash flows expected from
long-lived assets, accrued expenses, and the fair value of the Company s partnership units for purposes of accounting for options. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include investments such as money market accounts with an original maturity of three months or less.
Investments

The Company s investments are all either United States Treasury securities or obligations of United States government agencies, with original
maturities of not more than 12 months. All of the Company s investments are considered held-to-maturity and are reported at amortized cost. The
following is a summary of our held-to-maturity securities (in thousands):

December 31
2005
Amortized cost and net carrying amount $ 52,278
Gross unrealized loss 57
Estimated fair value $ 52,221

Restricted Cash

In connection with the purchase of the satellite business in 2001, the Company retained a portion of the purchase price, which was restricted to
pay Motient s rent obligation to the Company for the lease of office space in the Company s headquarters and to ensure the provision of certain
services to the Company by Motient under a transition services agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2003, approximately $531,000
was used to satisfy Motient s obligations under its sublease with the Company, and approximately $51,000 was remitted to Motient for services
provided to MSV. As of December 31, 2004, the restricted cash balance for this purpose was $74,000. During March, 2005, all obligations under
this transition services agreement were satisfied and all remaining funds were released to Motient and MSV.

On January 10, 2005, and on May 23, 2005, the Federal Communication Commission s (FCC) International Bureau authorized MSV to launch
and operate new L-Band mobile satellite services (MSS) systems that will occupy orbital locations that are in addition to the Company s existing
orbital slots, and satellites. The International Bureau requires all grants for new systems to be supported by a performance bond. In accordance
with this requirement, the Company secured a five-year, $3.0 million bond for each satellite system. The bonds are fully collateralized by a

$3.0 million letter of credit for each bond, secured by $6.0 million cash on deposit, which is reflected as restricted cash in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005.
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Inventory

Inventories consist of finished goods that are communication devices and are stated at the lower of cost or market, average cost method. The
Company periodically assesses the market value of its inventory, based on sales trends and forecasts and technological changes, and records a
charge to current-period income when such factors indicate that a reduction in net realizable value has occurred.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment acquired in business combinations are recorded at their estimated fair value on the date of acquisition. Purchases of
property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives, ranging from
three to ten years. The Company capitalized $1.8 million related to a ground station to which it does not yet hold legal title. Title will pass to the
Company upon completion of all payments for that equipment under the related vendor note payable (see Note 5). As of December 31, 2005 the
cost, net of accumulated depreciation related to this equipment, was $1.4 million. During the year ended December 31, 2004, MSV initiated
inclined orbit of the MSAT-2 satellite, effectively extending its fuel life. In March 2005, the Company completed a formal evaluation of the
impact of this action and concluded that the satellite s useful life had been extended by approximately five years to December 2010. The
depreciable life of this satellite was extended by five years on a prospective basis. This change in estimate decreased the net loss for the year
ended December 31, 2005, by approximately $4.1 million.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the remaining lease term.
Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets, the Company reviews its long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill, whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. To determine the recoverability of its
long-lived assets, the Company evaluates the probability that future estimated undiscounted net cash flows will be less than the carrying amount
of the assets. If such estimated cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the long-lived assets, then such assets are written down to their
fair value. No impairment charges were recorded related to the continuing operations of the Company in the years ended December 31, 2003,
2004, or 2005. The Company s estimates of anticipated cash flows and the remaining estimated useful lives of long-lived assets could be reduced
significantly in the future. As a result, the carrying amount of long-lived assets may be reduced in the future.

Goodwill

SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, requires the use of a non-amortization approach to account for purchased goodwill. Under
a non-amortization approach, goodwill is not amortized into results of operations, but instead is reviewed for impairment and written down and
charged to results of operations only in the periods in which the recorded value of goodwill is determined to be more than its estimated fair
value. The Company performs its annual impairment test on December 31 or when certain triggering events occur. No impairment charges were
recorded in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, or 2005.
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Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
investments, and accounts receivable. The Company maintained cash balances at financial institutions that exceeded federally insured limits as
of December 31, 2004 and 2005. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at high-credit-quality institutions, and as a result,
management believes that credit risk related to its cash is not significant.

The Company generally grants credit to customers on an unsecured basis. The Company performs ongoing evaluations of probability of
collection of amounts owed to the Company. The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts equal to the amount estimated to be
potentially uncollectible.

The Company s significant customers, as measured by percentage of total revenues, were as follows:

Year ended December 31
2003 2004 2005
Customer A 12% & i
Customer B 11% * *
Customer C 13% 14% 12%

The Company s significant customers, as measured by percentage of total accounts receivable, were as follows:

December 31
2004 2005
Customer B 12% &
Customer C 12% *
Customer D 11% &

*  Customer did not represent more than 10% for the period presented.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires disclosures regarding the fair value of certain financial
instruments. The carrying amount of the Company s cash and cash equivalents, investments, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, and accrued expenses approximates their fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. The fair value of the vendor
note payable approximates fair value as of December 31, 2005.

Stock-Based Compensation

SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, encourages, but does not require, companies to record compensation cost for
stock-based employee compensation plans using the fair value method. The Company accounts for employee stock-based compensation using
the intrinsic value method as prescribed in Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and
its related interpretations. The Company recognizes compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The Company
accounts for stock-based compensation awarded to non-employees as prescribed in SFAS No. 123.

108

127



Edgar Filing: SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form 10-K

Mobile Satellite Ventures LP
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

December 31, 2005

The following illustrates the effect on net loss if the Company had applied the fair value method of SFAS No. 123 (in thousands):

Year ended December 31

2003 2004 2005
Net loss, as reported $ (28,000) $ (33,455) $ (40,955)
Add stock-based compensation included in reported net loss 495 8,482
Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value method (1,080) (1,952) (10,709)
Pro forma net loss $ (29,080) $(34,912) $(43,182)

The weighted-average fair value of unit options granted during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005 was $0.91, $4.61, and
$11.11, respectively. The fair value of the options granted was estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the
following weighted-average assumptions:

Year ended December 31

2003 2004 2005
Expected life 5 5 5
Risk-free rate 3.16% 3.31% 2.91%
Volatility 0% 0% 0%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue primarily through the sale of wireless airtime service and equipment. The Company recognizes revenue when
the services are performed or delivery has occurred, evidence of an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed and determinable, and collectibility is
probable. The Company receives activation fees related to initial registration for retail customers. Revenue from activation fees is deferred and
recognized ratably over the customer s contractual service period, generally one year. The Company records equipment sales upon transfer of
title and accordingly recognizes revenue upon shipment to the customer.

Next Generation Expenditures

The Company classifies costs it incurs related to the financing, development and deployment of its next generation integrated network as next
generation expenditures in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations in order to distinguish these costs from the costs related to
its existing satellite-only MSS. Next generation expenditures include costs associated with the Company s next generation integrated network as
follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31
2003 2004 2005
Employee-related costs $2,270 $ 3,425 $ 6,918
Research and development expenses 769 5,010
Professional and consulting expenses 833 2,663 3,941
Legal and regulatory fees 944 1,053 1,413
Patent costs and fees 221 683 1,234

128



Edgar Filing: SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form 10-K

Total next generation expenditures $4,268 $ 8,593 $ 18,516
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Income Taxes

As a limited partnership, the Company is not subject to income tax directly. Rather, each unit holder is subject to income taxation based on the
unit holder s portion of the Company s income or loss as defined in the limited partnership agreement. The Company s Canadian subsidiary and
MSYV Canada are taxed as corporations in Canada, and as such, are subject to entity-level tax (see Note 11).

Foreign Currency and International Operations

The functional currency of the Company s Canadian subsidiary and MSV Canada is the Canadian dollar. The financial statements of these
companies are translated to United States dollars using period-end rates for assets and liabilities, and period-average rates for revenues and
expenses. The impact of translation is included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. In addition, the Company realized foreign exchange transaction gains, which are a component of other income in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005, foreign exchange transaction
gains were approximately $445,000, $41,000, and $23,000, respectively.

Derivatives

The Company accounts for derivatives in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as
amended, which requires the recognition of all derivatives as either assets or liabilities measured at fair value with changes in fair value of
derivatives reflected as current-period income (loss) unless the derivatives qualify as hedges of future cash flows. For derivatives qualifying as
hedges of future cash flows, the effective portion of changes in fair value is recorded temporarily in equity and subsequently recognized in
earnings along with the related effects of the hedged items. Any ineffective portion of hedges is reported in earnings as it occurs.

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to the impact of fluctuations in the exchange rate of the Canadian dollar. The
Company limits this risk by following an established foreign currency financial management policy. This policy provides for the use of forward
and option contracts, which limit the effects of exchange rate fluctuations of the Canadian dollar on financial results. The Company does not use
derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. As of December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005, the Company hedged portions of its forecasted
expenses and equipment purchases, payable in Canadian dollars or Euros, totaling approximately $2.8 million, $923,000, and $1.2 million,
respectively, by entering into forward contracts and option contracts. In general, these contracts have varying maturities up to, but not exceeding,
one year with cash settlements made at maturity based upon rates agreed to at contract inception. All derivatives held by the Company satisfy the
hedge criteria of SFAS No. 133. The Company s unrealized gains on these contracts were $81,000, $36,000, and $0 as of December 31, 2003,
2004, and 2005, respectively, which are reflected as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and an asset within prepaid
expenses and other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances
from non-owner sources. Other comprehensive income refers to revenue, expenses, gains and losses that under GAAP are included in
comprehensive income, but excluded from net income. For the period presented, the elements within other comprehensive income, net of tax,
consisted of foreign currency translation adjustments and the changes in the market value and expiration of the Company s derivative
instruments.
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The components of accumulated other comprehensive income was as follows (in thousands):

December 31
2004 2005
Unrealized gain in market value of derivative instruments $ 37 $
Foreign currency translation adjustment (531) (1,123)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (494) $ (1,123)

Investments in MSV Canada and MSV Canada Holdings

For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, the Company accounted for its equity investments in MSV Canada and MSV Canada
Holdings pursuant to the equity method of accounting. The carrying value of these investments was $0 at each balance sheet date. Because the
Company is obligated to provide working capital financial support to MSV Canada, and rights and services to MSV Canada, the Company
recorded losses related to such funding as equity in losses of MSV Canada in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities an Interpretation of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51. FIN 46 provides a new framework for identifying variable interest entities (VIEs) and determining when a
company should include the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and results of activities of a VIE in its consolidated financial statements.

In general, a VIE is a corporation, partnership, limited-liability corporation, trust, or any other legal structure used to conduct activities or hold
assets that either (1) has an insufficient amount of equity to carry out its principal activities without additional subordinated financial support,
(2) has a group of equity owners that is unable to make significant decisions about its activities, or (3) has a group of equity owners that does not
have the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive returns generated by its operations.

FIN 46 requires a VIE to be consolidated if a party with an ownership, contractual or other financial interest in the VIE (a variable interest
holder) is obligated to absorb a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE s activities, is entitled to receive a majority of the VIE s residual returns
(if no party absorbs a majority of the VIE s losses), or both. A variable interest holder that consolidates the VIE is called the primary beneficiary.
Upon consolidation, the primary beneficiary generally must initially record all of the VIE s assets, liabilities, and noncontrolling interests at fair
value and subsequently account for the VIE as if it were consolidated based on majority voting interest. FIN 46 also requires disclosures about
VIEs that the variable interest holder is not required to consolidate but in which it has a significant variable interest.

FIN 46 was effective immediately for VIEs created after January 31, 2003, and was effective January 1, 2005, for VIEs created before
February 1, 2003. The provisions of FIN 46, as revised, were adopted as of January 1, 2005, for the Company s interest in MSV Canada, which
was created prior to February 1, 2003.

The Company determined that it is the primary beneficiary of MSV Canada as a result of its direct and indirect ownership interests in MSV
Canada, its obligation to fund MSV Canada, and the rights and services and capacity agreements between the Company and MSV Canada. The
Company is obligated, by contract, to fund MSV Canada. This obligation continues indefinitely, but may terminate upon written agreement
between the Company and MSV Canada, or upon one party becoming the beneficial owner of all of the shares of MSV Canada.
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In accordance with the transition provisions of FIN 46, the assets, liabilities, and noncontrolling interests of newly consolidated VIEs such as
MSYV Canada were initially recorded at the amounts at which they would have been carried in the consolidated financial statements if FIN 46
had been effective when the Company first met the conditions to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The assets, as consolidated by MSV, of
MSYV Canada consist primarily of its satellite, which has a carrying value of approximately $1.3 million at December 31, 2005 and is included in
property, plant, and equipment in the Company s consolidated balance sheet. The consolidated liabilities of MSV Canada consist primarily of its
deferred revenue, which has a carrying value of approximately $1.4 million at December 31, 2005 and is included in deferred revenue in the
Company s consolidated balance sheet.

The difference between the net amount added to the Company s consolidated balance sheet related to MSV Canada and the Company s previously
recognized interest in MSV Canada represented a gain of approximately $724,000 and was recognized as a cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle during the year ended December 31, 2005. The adoption of FIN 46 on January 1, 2005 also increased total assets by
approximately $3.3 million and total liabilities by approximately $2.6 million. Prior periods were not restated. Had FIN 46 been applied
retroactively, the impact on prior periods would not have been material. Neither the assets nor liabilities of MSV Canada have been reported in

any of the Company s financial statements prior to January 1, 2005.

Recent Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, supersedes APB Opinion
No. 25, and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants
of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values. The Company will be required to adopt SFAS
No. 123(R) using the prospective method, as the Company used the minimum-value method for disclosure purposes. The new standard will be
effective for the Company for the year beginning January 1, 2006. As the Company currently accounts for share-based payments using the
intrinsic value method as allowed by APB Opinion No. 25, the adoption of the fair value method under SFAS No. 123(R) will have an impact on
the Company s results of operations. However, the extent of impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because
it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future.

Reclassifications
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current-year presentation.
3. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The Company s intangible assets and goodwill arose primarily as a result of the Company s 2001 acquisitions of the Motient and TMI satellite
businesses. These transactions were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. At the time of the acquisition, the Company
allocated the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective estimated fair values. In addition, under the
terms of the purchase agreement, during 2003, the Company paid $2.2 million in contingent consideration to Motient for the provision of
services to a customer under a contract assumed by the Company. This payment was accounted for as contingent consideration and was included
in the determination of the purchase price when paid to Motient.
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The Company s identifiable intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31
2004 2005
Customer contracts $ 18,178 $ 18,219
Next generation intellectual property 82,600 82,600
100,778 100,819
Accumulated amortization (29,272) (38,861)
Intangible assets, net $ 71,506 $ 61,958

Customer contracts are amortized over a period ranging from 4.5 to 5 years. Next generation intellectual property is amortized over periods
ranging from 4.5 to 15 years. During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005, the Company recorded approximately $9.4 million,
$9.5 million, and $9.5 million, respectively, of amortization expense related to these intangible assets. The Company s next generation
intellectual property consists of a combination of licenses and contractual rights to various authorizations, various applications, certain
technology, and certain other rights. The changes in the recorded balance of goodwill and customer contracts are primarily the result of the
fluctuation of the exchange rate between the United States dollar and Canadian dollar.

Future amortization of intangible assets is as follows as of December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

2006 $ 7,512
2007 5,585
2008 5,585
2009 5,474
2010 5,474
Thereafter 32,328

$ 61,958

4. Balance Sheet Details

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31
2004 2005
Space and ground segments $ 40,578 $ 48,510
Office equipment and furniture 927 958
Leasehold improvements 435 493
41,940 49,961
Accumulated depreciation (27,886) (39,361)
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Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31
2004 2005
Accounts payable $2,448 $ 2,342
Accrued expenses 1,369 1,738
Accrued compensation and benefits 2,012 2,502
Accrued interest 342 392
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $6,171 $ 6,974

5. Long-Term Debt
Notes Payable

In November 2001, the Company issued $55.0 million of Convertible Notes and $26.5 million of Non-Convertible Notes (collectively, the
Notes) to finance the acquisitions of the Motient and TMI satellite businesses. In August 2002, the Company issued an additional $3.0 million of
Convertible Notes. The Notes were scheduled to mature on November 26, 2006, and bore interest at 10% per annum, compounded semiannually
and payable at maturity. In August 2003, the Company repaid approximately $1.6 million of the principal, and all of the accrued interest of
approximately $2.1 million, on one of the Non-Convertible Notes.

In April 2004, the Company made payments totaling approximately $2.4 million for principal and $2.6 million for accrued interest, on the
Non-Convertible Notes. In November 2004, $25.9 million of Non-Convertible Notes and accrued interest were exchanged for 878,115 Common
Units of MSV. The principal balance of $22.6 million and accrued interest of $3.3 million were exchanged for 765,843 and 112,272 Common
Units, respectively, and approximately $56,000 of accrued interest was paid in cash.

At the same time, $58.0 million of Convertible Notes were converted into 8,997,074 Class A Preferred Units at a rate of $6.45 per unit. At the
date of the transaction, accrued interest on the Convertible Notes was approximately $19.2 million, of which $18.2 million was paid in cash and
$1.0 million was exchanged for 36,045 Common Units (see Note 6). At the completion of this transaction, all outstanding principal and interest
obligations on the Notes were extinguished.

Vendor Note Payable

In February 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with a satellite communications provider that is a related party (the Vendor) for the
construction and procurement of a ground station. The Vendor provided financing for this project totaling approximately $1.0 million at an
interest rate of 9.5%. Future payments on the Vendor note payable as of December 31, 2005, are as follows (in thousands):

2006 $ 279
2007 279
2008 233
Total future payments 791
Less: interest (96)
Principal portion 695
Less: current portion (225)
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6. Partners Equity

Pursuant to the Limited Partnership Agreement of the Company, the partners interests in the Company consisted of MSV Common Units and
MSV Class A Preferred Units. The Company s general partner, Mobile Satellite Ventures GP Inc., a Delaware corporation, has no economic
interest in the Company and is owned by the Company s limited partners in proportion to their fully diluted interests in the Company.

Profits and losses are allocated to the partners in proportion to their economic interests. Losses allocated to any partner for any fiscal year will
not exceed the maximum amount of losses that may be allocated to such partner without causing such partner to have an adjusted capital account
deficit at the end of such fiscal year. Any losses in excess of this limitation shall be specially allocated solely to the other partners. Thereafter,
subsequent profits shall be allocated to reverse any such losses specially allocated pursuant to the preceding sentence. Except for certain capital
proceeds and upon liquidation, the Company shall make distributions as determined by the Board of Directors to the partners in proportion to
their respective percentage interests. Upon dissolution of the Company, a liquidating trustee shall be appointed by the Board, or under certain
circumstances, the required investor majority, as defined, who shall immediately commence to wind up the Company s affairs. The proceeds of
liquidation shall be distributed in the following order:

First, to creditors of the Company, including partners, in the order provided by law

Thereafter, to the partners in the same order as other distributions
The Class A Preferred Units and Common Units had many of the same rights and privileges, except the Class A Preferred Units had preference
over the Common Units in receiving proceeds resulting from a distribution of assets in certain circumstances.

In August 2003, the Company received $3.7 million in exchange for the issuance of 573,951 Class A Preferred Units at $6.45 per unit. In

March 2004, the Company received $17.6 million in exchange for the issuance in April 2004 of 2,735,317 Class A Preferred Units. In
November 2004, the Company s limited partnership agreement was amended to eliminate the distinction between Class A Preferred and
Common Units; all Class A Preferred Units were converted to Common Units. Also in November 2004, the Company received $145.0 million in
proceeds from its existing investors in exchange for the issuance of 4,923,599 Common Units. Concurrently, $25.9 million of Non-Convertible
Notes and accrued interest was exchanged for 878,115 Common Units. The principal balance of $22.6 million and accrued interest of

$3.3 million were exchanged for 765,843 and 112,272 Common Units, respectively, and approximately $56,000 of accrued interest were paid in
cash. Additionally, $58.0 million of Convertible Notes were converted into 8,997,074 Common Units in accordance with their terms. At the date
of the transaction, accrued interest on the Convertible Notes was approximately $19.2 million, of which $18.2 million was paid in cash and

$1.0 million was exchanged for 36,045 Common Units.

7. Unit and Stock Option Plan

In December 2001, the Company adopted a unit option incentive plan (Unit Option Incentive Plan), which allows for the granting of options and
other unit based awards to employees and directors upon approval by the Board of Directors. Options to acquire units generally vest over a
three-year period and have a 10-year life. As of February 2006, the total options or other unit based awards available for grant were 6.5 million.

Beginning in July 2004, the Company granted options with exercise prices at less than the estimated fair market value of the related units on the
option s grant date, for which the intrinsic value is recorded as deferred compensation. The deferred compensation is amortized over the options
vesting period.
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Determining the fair value of units underlying employee options (Limited Investor Units) requires complex and subjective judgments. We
utilized the market approach to estimate the fair value of Limited Investor Units at each date on which options were granted. The market
approach uses an analysis of the observable market price of equity instruments for companies with similar assets and businesses. We estimated
the value of a Limited Investor Unit based on the values implied for partnership units (Common Units) held by limited partners, which hold
significant interests in the Company, and whose equity securities are publicly traded. In order to derive the amount of the publicly traded
security s value attributable to the Common Units, we used the market approach to estimate the value of other equity investments and assets
owned by the respective limited partner, and therefore included in the public equity value of those securities. We made adjustments to account
for the differences in volatility and liquidity between the publicly traded reference securities and a private Common Unit. We determined the
estimated value of a Limited Investor Unit by making further adjustments to account for differences in rights attributable to a Common Unit as
compared to those of a Limited Investor Unit. There is inherent uncertainty in making these estimates.

During 2005, the Company s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors determined that a Change of Control of the Company, as
defined in the Unit Option Incentive Plan, occurred. This interpretation was related to Motient s acquisition, in February 2005, of MSV interests
previously held by other MSV limited partners. This Change of Control in turn triggered the acceleration of vesting of all of the Company s then
outstanding options that were subject to accelerated vesting, and recognition as additional compensation expense of approximately $3.8 million
of previously deferred compensation expense associated with these options in the year ended December 31, 2005.

Weighted-

Options to

Acquire Units

Average

Exercise Price

Options outstanding at December 31, 2002 1,388,500 $ 6.45
Granted 1,621,500 6.45
Canceled (115,833) 6.45
Options outstanding at December 31, 2003 2,894,167 6.45
Granted 1,497,750 6.81
Canceled (78,334) 6.45
Options outstanding at December 31, 2004 4,313,583 6.58
Granted 866,000 22.43
Canceled (110,333) 8.95
Exercised (82,045) 6.45
Options outstanding at December 31, 2005 4,987,205 9.49

At December 31, 2004 and 2005, 1,807,167 and 3,596,896 options, respectively, were exercisable. The following table summarizes the
weighted-average option information as of December 31, 2005:

Number Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Number
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Remaining Life Exercise Price Exercisable
$6.45 4,363,705 7.30 $ 6.45 3,542,396
$29.45 592,500 9.43 $ 29.45 54,500
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8. Related Party Transactions

During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005, the Company incurred approximately $151,000, $1,000, and $0 of administrative
expenses related primarily to services provided by Motient. In addition, the Company provided facilities-related services to Motient of
approximately $134,000 during the year ended December 31, 2003.

The Company has a rights and services agreement with MSV Canada, under which the Company provides various technical support and other
services to MSV Canada, such as allowing access to its intellectual property; providing voice- and data-switching capabilities; providing backup,
restoral, and emergency spectrum and satellite capacity; and providing accounting, customer service, and billing services. The Company also
leases satellite capacity from MSV Canada pursuant to a lease agreement. The term of the lease extends for 25 years and may be terminated by
the Company with one year s notice or by either party in certain circumstances. The amount of the lease payments is determined by the parties
periodically based upon the amount of capacity usage by the Company and market rates. Prior to consolidating MSV Canada in 2005 (see

Note 2), the capacity fee was included in the satellite operations cost in the accompanying consolidated income statement. During the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2003, the capacity fee paid by the Company to MSV Canada was approximately $4.9 million, $5.8 million
and $6.3 million, respectively. The rights and services fee received by the Company from MSV Canada during the years ended December 31,
2003, 2004 and 2005 was $3.2 million, $3.6 million and $4.5 million, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005, the Company incurred approximately $36,000, $193,000, and $159,000
respectively, of consulting expenses for services provided by a company controlled by a former limited partner and former member of the
Company s general partner s board of directors. Certain of the Company s intellectual property was acquired by assignment from entities
controlled by this former limited partner of the Company and former member of the Company s general partner s board of directors. In certain
circumstances where the Company generates royalties from licensing its ancillary terrestrial component (ATC) intellectual property to third
parties, the Company may be required to share a portion of such royalty payments with such person and/or related entities.

During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, the Company incurred approximately $ , $2.5 million and $1.3 million, respectively,
of expenses for services provided by Hughes Network Systems LLC. During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005, the Company
purchased certain services from Electronic System Products, Inc. of approximately $ , $210,000, and $11,000, respectively. Hughes Network
Systems LLC and Electronic System Products, Inc., were controlled by SkyTerra Communications, Inc., which indirectly holds limited
partnership units in the Company. SkyTerra Communications, Inc., is controlled by Apollo Advisors L.P., an investment company for which two
of the directors of the Company s general partner are partners.

The Company leases office space from Telesat, an affiliate of TMI (see Note 9). Under its lease agreement, the Company paid approximately
$361,000, $429,000, and $507,000, during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005, respectively. The Company has entered into an
operational services agreement with Telesat to provide regular maintenance and tracking of space debris of the MSAT-1 satellite. The Company
paid approximately $2.3 million, $2.4 million, and $1.9 million, respectively, in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005. The
Company has entered into an agreement with Telesat to obtain telemetry, tracking, and control services for its MSAT-2 satellite. The agreement
ends April 30, 2006, with automatic extension for three successive additional renewal periods of one year each. The agreement may be
terminated at any time, provided that the Company makes a payment equal to the lesser of 12 months of service or the remaining service fee. For
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the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005 the Company paid approximately $704,000, $1.1 million, and $1.1 million respectively.
During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005 the company paid Telesat approximately $66,000, $74,000, and $143,000
respectively for consulting services and $135,000, $130,000, and $135,000, respectively, for administrative support services.

The Company has entered into an agreement whereby it has agreed to provide Infosat Communications Inc., (Infosat) a subsidiary of Telesat and
an affiliate of TMI, with satellite services in Canada, a portion of which have been prepaid. As of December 31, 2004 and 2005, the balance of
this prepayment was approximately $21.0 million and $21.4 million, respectively. In the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, the
Company provided approximately $1.7 million, $2.5 million and $2.3 million, respectively, of services to Infosat pursuant to this agreement, of
which $1.4 million, $2.1 million and $2.0 million was paid in cash, respectively, and $0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively
was applied against the prepayment.

The Company s vendor note payable is held by a related party (see Note 5).

The Company s transactions with TerreStar are related party transactions (see Note 10).
9. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

As of December 31, 2005, the Company has non-cancelable operating leases, expiring through August 2008. Rental expense, net of sublease
income, for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005, was approximately $1.1 million, $1.2 million, and $1.3 million, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases with initial terms of one year or more are as follows for the years ended
December 31 (in thousands):

2006 $1,303
2007 1,303
2008 958

$ 3,564

Office facility leases may provide for periodic escalations of rent, rent abatements during specified periods of the lease, and payment of pro rata
portions of building operating expenses, as defined. The Company records rent expense for operating leases using the straight-line method over
the term of the lease agreement.

L-Band Space-Based Network Contract

The Company has entered into a firm-fixed price contract with Boeing Satellite Systems Inc. (Boeing) to construct a space-based network that
consists of a space segment and ground segment. Boeing is responsible for the comprehensive design, development, construction,
manufacturing, testing, and installation of a space-based network, providing satellite launch support and other services related to mission
operations and system training.

Under the terms of the contract, MSV will purchase up to three satellites with options for two additional satellites that must be exercised no later
than October 2008. Each satellite is contracted to have a mission life of 15 years with a portion of the contract value payable if certain
performance incentives are met, paid over the
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intended 15-year operating life. Under the Company s contract with Boeing, Boeing has a first lien on each satellite and related work until title
and risk of loss transfers to the Company upon launch (assuming the Company is then current in its payments under the contract). Should the
Company become subject to a bankruptcy proceeding before Boeing s lien is released, any interest the Company has in the satellites would
secure the Company s obligations to Boeing on a first priority basis.

Future maximum contractual payments under this contract, including all potential performance incentives and related interest payments on the
incentives, not including options, are as follows for the years ended December 31, including the performance incentives payable (in thousands):

2006 $ 59,058
2007 through 2009 572,425
2010 through 2011 179,417
Thereafter 271,858

$ 1,082,758

If the Company elects to terminate the contract in whole or in part, the Company will be subject to termination liability charges that are in excess
of contractual payments made prior to the termination date. The additional termination charges vary based upon the portion of the program being
terminated and the state of completion of the terminated portion. In-part termination charges are spread over the remaining satellite payment
milestones, while a full program termination charge is due upon termination. Generally, these charges range from $3 million to $200 million,
declining after 2007. The Company also has an option to defer certain contractual payments after full construction commences with any
deferrals to be repaid in full prior to satellite shipment.

Executive Employment Agreements

Certain executives have employment agreements that provide for severance and other benefits, as well as acceleration of option vesting in
certain circumstances following a Change of Control. The agreement for one executive entitles that executive to a severance payment equal to
1.5 times the executive s prior-year salary and bonus as well as acceleration of vesting for options currently held by the executive, should the
executive terminate employment within the period defined in the agreement (originally six months following a change of control). Based on the
February 2005 change in control (see Note 7), this executive could terminate employment and trigger the severance and vesting portions of the
executive agreement. The executive has not elected to terminate employment, and accordingly, no amounts have been accrued or expensed in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for this contingency as of December 31, 2005 other than the compensation expense for the
intrinsic value of the options that vested during the year ended December 31, 2005.

On February 9, 2006 the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved a modification to the agreement to extend the executive s
ability to exercise this change in control provision to February 9, 2007. Under SFAS No.123(R), this modification triggers the recognition of
expense of approximately $4.4 million during the quarter ended March 31, 2006.

Other Agreements

In September 2005, the Company entered into an agreement with a third-party that will provide the Company with rights to the use of certain
intangible assets in future periods. The Company has prepaid
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approximately $3.0 million related to this agreement, $2.8 million of which is included in other assets, and $150,000 included in prepaid
expenses and other current assets as of December 31, 2005, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The Company has also agreed to
provide additional annual payments of approximately $158,000 for the remainder of the contract. The Company is amortizing the costs of the
contract ratably over the 20-year term of the agreement.

Litigation and Claims

The Company is periodically a party to lawsuits and claims in the normal course of business. While the outcome of the lawsuits and claims
against the Company cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that the ultimate resolution of the matters will not have a material
adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of its business activities. The Company
recognizes a liability for these contingencies when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably
estimated.

Regulatory Matters

During 2001, Motient applied to the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) to transfer licenses and authorizations related to its L-Band
MSS system to MSV. This transfer was approved in November 2001. In connection with this application, Motient sought FCC authority to
launch and operate a next generation integrated network that will include the deployment of satellites and terrestrial base stations operating in

the same frequencies. In February 2003, the FCC adopted general rules based on the Company s proposal to develop a next generation integrated
network, subject to the requirement that the Company file an additional application for a specific terrestrial component consistent with the
broader guidelines issued in the February 2003 order. These broad guidelines govern issues such as aggregate system interference to other MSS
operators, the level of integration between satellite and terrestrial service offerings, and specific requirements of the satellite component that the
Company currently meets by virtue of its existing satellite system. While the Company s current satellite assets satisfy these requirements, the
Company has signed a contract to construct and deploy more powerful satellites and has relevant regulatory authorizations for these satellites.

The Company believes that the ruling allows for significant commercial opportunity related to the Company s next generation integrated
network. Both proponents and opponents of ATC, including the Company, asked the FCC to reconsider the rules adopted in the February 2003
order. Opponents of the ruling advocated changes that could adversely impact the Company s business plans. The Company also sought certain
corrections and relaxations of technical standards that would further enhance the commercial viability of the next generation integrated network.
The FCC issued an order on reconsideration of the February 2003 order in February 2005. The FCC granted some of the corrections and
relaxations of technical standards the Company has advocated and has rejected the requests for changes advocated by opponents of the FCC s
February 2003 order. Only Inmarsat Ventures Ltd. has filed a petition for reconsideration of the February 2005 order, which is currently
pending. One terrestrial wireless carrier filed an appeal of the FCC s February 2003 order with the United States Court of Appeals. This appeal
has been withdrawn.

In November 2003, the Company applied for authority to operate ATC in conjunction with the current and next generation satellites of MSV and
MSYV Canada. The FCC s International Bureau granted this authorization,
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in part, in November 2004 and deferred certain issues to the FCC s rule-making proceeding, which was resolved in February 2005. One opponent
of the Company s application has asked the FCC to review the Company s ATC authorization. This challenge is pending. The Company has also
filed an application to modify its ATC authorization. Only one party has filed comments in opposition to this application. This application is
pending. The Company has also received authorization to construct, launch, and operate two satellites from the FCC. MSV Canada has also
received authorization from Industry Canada to construct, launch, and operate a satellite. MSV and MSV Canada must meet certain milestone
dates for each of these satellites. In January 2006, MSV entered into a contract with Boeing to construct these three satellites as required by the
first FCC and Industry Canada milestone requirement for these satellite authorizations.

There can be no assurance that, following the conclusion of the rule-making and the other legal challenges, the Company will have authority to
operate a commercially viable next generation integrated network.

10. TerreStar Discontinued Operations

In February 2002, the Company established TerreStar, then a wholly owned subsidiary, to develop business opportunities related to the proposed
receipt of certain licenses in the S-band. TMI holds the approval issued by Industry Canada for an S-Band space station authorization and related
spectrum licenses for the provision of MSS in the S-band as well as an authorization from the FCC for the provision of MSS in the S-band.
These authorizations are subject to FCC and Industry Canada milestones relating to construction, launch, and operational date of the system.
TMI plans to transfer the Canadian authorization to an entity that is eligible to hold the Canadian authorization and in which TerreStar and/or
TMI will have an interest, subject to obtaining the necessary Canadian regulatory approvals.

The operating losses and cash used by TerreStar related to its activities to acquire rights to assets associated with its proposed receipt of the
S-band license. In addition, TerreStar incurred costs related to its contract to construct a satellite system.

Distribution of TerreStar Stock

On December 20, 2004, the Company issued rights (the Rights) to receive all of the 23,265,428 shares of TerreStar Common Stock, which were
owned by the Company, to the limited partners of the Company, pro rata in accordance with each limited partner s percentage ownership in the
Company. In addition, in connection with this transaction, TerreStar issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 666,972 shares of TerreStar
Common Stock to one of the Company s limited partners, which had an exercise price of $0.21491 per share, which were valued using the
Black-Scholes pricing model.

On May 11, 2005, the limited partners of MSV exercised the Rights to acquire shares of Common Stock of TerreStar. As a result of this
transaction, MSV divested its ownership interest in TerreStar, thereby affecting a spin-off, which was recorded as a distribution to the limited
partners at book value in the accompanying consolidated statement of partners equity (deficit) in the year ended December 31, 2005.
Immediately following the spin-off, Motient Ventures Holdings, Inc., a subsidiary of Motient, invested $200 million in TerreStar and thereby
gained a majority interest in TerreStar. In May 2005, MSV and TerreStar entered into a management services agreement whereby MSV agreed
to provide certain services, to include technical and program management efforts associated with ATC network development as well as
administrative support required to accomplish these tasks. TerreStar continues to be a related party, as Motient has a significant ownership
interest in both the Company and TerreStar.
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Subsequent to the spin-off, as MSV no longer has an ownership interest in TerreStar and is not the primary economic beneficiary of TerreStar,
the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include the assets or liabilities of TerreStar, which were approximately $9.7 million
and $10.4 million, respectively, on May 11, 2005. The assets of TerreStar consisted primarily of intangible assets related to its S-band spectrum
and satellite construction in progress. The liabilities of TerreStar consisted primarily of its obligations under the satellite construction contract
and amounts payable to the Company. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the results of TerreStar since its inception
through May 11, 2005, which are presented as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and as
TerreStar assets and liabilities, discontinued, in the accompanying December 31, 2004 consolidated balance sheet.

11. Income Taxes

The Company s Canadian subsidiaries pay a Canadian provincial capital tax that is included in general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The components of net loss by country are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31

2003 2004 2005
United States $ (23,760) $(30,228) $(37,795)
Canadian (4,240) (3,227) (3,160)
Total net loss $ (28,000) $(33,455) $ (40,955)

Deferred income tax balances related to the Canadian entities result principally from temporary differences in the recognition of certain revenue
and expense items for financial and tax reporting purposes, as well as net operating loss (NOL) carry forwards from operations as follows (in
thousands):

December 31
2004 2005
Net operating losses $ 6,968 $ 5,721
Net differences in the treatment of book and tax differences 283 1,717
Valuation allowance (7,251) (7,438)
Deferred tax assets, net $ $

The Company s Canadian subsidiaries are taxed as corporations in Canada. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had approximately
$15.8 million of losses available to be applied against future taxable income. These losses will begin to expire in 2008.

In assessing the realizability of future income tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some or the entire future
income tax asset will be realized. The ultimate realization of the future income tax asset is dependent on the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which the NOL carry forwards are available. Management considers projected future taxable income, the scheduled
reversal of future income tax liabilities, and available tax planning strategies that can be implemented by the Company in making this
assessment. Based on the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the period in which the NOL carry
forwards are available to reduce income taxes payable, management has established a full valuation allowance against the Company s deferred
tax assets.
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12. Retirement Plan

The Company has a tax-deferred savings plan (the Plan) that qualifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). United States
employees are eligible to participate in the Plan upon employment and attainment of age 21. Such employees may contribute a percentage of
their income, subject to limitation of the IRC. The Plan contains provisions that allow the Company to make discretionary contributions and
matching contributions. The Company made contributions of approximately $101,000, $171,000, and $235,000 in the years ended December 31,
2003, 2004, and 2005 respectively. Employees vest immediately in the Company s contributions.

13. Subsequent Events
Leases

In February 2006, the Company entered into an amended and restated operating lease agreement that provided for, among other things, an
extension of term and expansion of its premises in Reston, Virginia. As a result of this amendment, the Company s lease obligations as disclosed
in Note 9 have increased by the following amounts (in thousands):

2006 $ 602
2007 743
2008 1,067
2009 1,703
2010 1,751
Thereafter 298

$6,164

Grant of Restricted Units

On February 9, 2006, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the issuance of 50,000 Restricted Units (the Award) to
an executive. The Award will vest over five years; 20,000 units will vest after the second anniversary of the grant date and 10,000 units will vest
annually thereafter, subject to certain acceleration provisions. As the Award vests, the Company is obligated to issue to the executive units (or
successor equity) or pay in cash an amount equal to the fair value of the related MSV units or stock, depending on the occurrence of certain
events in the future. The Company intends to account for the Award under the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), which will require the
recognition of a liability and expense based on the fair value of the vested Award, each reporting period.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
To the Board of Managers and Members of
Hughes Network Systems, LLC
Germantown, Maryland

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Hughes Network Systems, LL.C and subsidiaries (the Company ) as of

December 31, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in equity, and cash flows for the period from April 23, 2005

to December 31, 2005. We have also audited the accompanying combined consolidated balance sheet of Hughes Network Systems (the
Predecessor ) as of December 31, 2004, and the related combined consolidated statements of operations, changes in equity, and cash flows for the

period from January 1, 2005 to April 22, 2005, and the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. These financial statements are the

responsibility of management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 4, the accompanying combined consolidated financial statements of the Predecessor have been prepared from the separate
records maintained by the Predecessor, a component of the DIRECTV Group, Inc., and may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that
would have existed or the results of operations if the Predecessor had been operated as an unaffiliated company. Portions of certain income and
expenses represent allocations made from The DIRECTV Group, Inc. applicable to The DIRECTV Group, Inc. as a whole.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from April 23, 2005 to December 31, 2005 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such combined consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Predecessor as of December 31, 2004, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the period from January 1, 2005 to April 22, 2005, and the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Baltimore, Maryland

March 27, 2006
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HUGHES NETWORK SYSTEMS

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in Thousands)
Consolidated
Successor
April 23, 2005
December 31,
2005
Revenues
Services $ 303,467
Hardware sales 280,001
Total Revenues 583,468
Operating Costs and Expenses
Cost of services 209,226
Cost of hardware products sold 206,431
Research and development 19,102
Sales and marketing 47,077
General and administrative 33,581
Restructuring costs 1,443
SPACEWAY impairment provision
Asset impairment provision
Total Operating Costs and Expenses 516,860
Operating income (loss) 66,608
Interest expense (22,744)
Other income (expense), net 2,707
Net Income (Loss) $ 46,571

Combined Consolidated Predecessor
Years ended December 31,

January 1, 2005
April 22,

2005

$ 121,917
101,524

223,441

88,092
86,467
18,194
27,108
23,034

1,625

244,520

(21,079)
(1,631)
187

$ (22,523)

Reference should be made to the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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2004

$ 383,519
405,831

789,350

290,365
338,650
55,694
72,564
85,538
10,993
1,217,745
150,300

2,221,849
(1,432,499)
(7,466)

6,481

$(1,433,484)

2003

$ 328,989
422,159

751,148

299,796
389,513
34,073
75,420
89,887
4,113

892,802

(141,654)
(12,197)
(3,175)

$ (157,026)
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ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivables, net
Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other

Total Current Assets

Property, net
Capitalized software costs, net
Other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Short-term borrowings
Accrued liabilities
Due to affiliates

Total Current Liabilities

Long-term debt
Due to affiliates long-term
Other long-term liabilities

Total Liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Minority interests

Equity

Predecessor owner s equity
Class A membership units

Class B membership units
Retained earnings

Subtotal equity

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

HUGHES NETWORK SYSTEMS

BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in Thousands)

Combined
Consolidated Consolidated
Successor Predecessor
December 31,
2005 2004
$113,267 $ 14,807
13,511
200,982 173,013
73,526 99,892
48,672 42,192
449,958 329,904
259,578 226,744
16,664
30,324 30,236
$ 756,524 $ 586,884
$ 51,294 $ 72,966
29,616 52,757
130,601 128,190
18,960 3,098
230,471 257,011
342,406 37,465
8,967 17,464
3,494 6,118
585,338 318,058
6,594 7,328
267,044
125,768
46,571
172,339 267,044
(7,747) (5,546)
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Total Equity 164,592 261,498

Total Liabilities and Equity $756,524 $ 586,884

Reference should be made to the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Predecessor
Balance at January 1, 2003
Net loss
Net capital contributions from parent
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Unrealized holding gains on securities

Comprehensive loss
Balance at December 31, 2003

Net loss

Net capital distributions to parent
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Unrealized holding gains on securities

Comprehensive loss
Balance at December 31, 2004

Net loss

Net capital distributions to parent
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized holding losses on securities

Comprehensive loss

Balance at April 22, 2005
Successor

Net income

Capital distribution to parent

Equity plan compensation

Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized holding losses on securities

Comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2005

HUGHES NETWORK SYSTEMS

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Dollars in Thousands)
Consolidated
Successor
Accumulated
Retained Subtotal Other
Comprehensive
Equity Earnings Equity Income (Loss)
$ 1,913,619 $ 1,913,619 $ (15,277)
(157,026) (157,026)
199,506 199,506
5,645
589
1,956,099 1,956,099 (9,043)
(1,433,484) (1,433,484)
(255,571) (255,571)
2,868
629
267,044 267,044 (5,546)
(22,523) (22,523)
(108,868) (108,868)
6,050
(270)
135,653 135,653 234
$ 46,571 46,571
(10,000) (10,000)
115 115
(7,865)
(116)
$ 125,768 $ 46,571 $ 172339 $ (7,747)

Reference should be made to the Notes to the Financial Statements.

$

$

Total

Equity

1,898,342

(157,026)
199,506
5,645
589

1,947,056

(1,433,484)
(255,571)
2,868
629

261,498

(22,523)

(108,868)
6,050

(270)

135,887

46,571
(10,000)

115
(7,865)
(116)

164,592

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

$  (157,026)

5,645
589

$  (150,792)

$ (1,433,484)

2,868
629

$  (1,429,987)

$  (22,523)
6,050
(270)
$  (16,743)
$ 46,571
(7,865)
(116)

$ 38,590
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HUGHES NETWORK SYSTEMS

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in Thousands)

Consolidated
Successor

April 23, 2005

Combined Consolidated Predecessor
Years ended December 31,

January 1, 2005

April 22,
December 31,
2005 2005

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $ 46,571 $ (22,523)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash flows from
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 27,209 13,734
Amortization of debt issuance costs 970 60
Equity plan compensation expense 115
Equity in (gains) losses from unconsolidated affiliates (26)
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
SPACEWAY impairment provision
Asset impairment provision
Other (198)
Change in other operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net (37,886) 5,438
Inventories 22,987 2,738
Prepaid expenses and other (1,681) (3,965)
Accounts payable 11,093 (31,721)
Accrued liabilities and other 24,298 (16,457)
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities 93,452 (52,696)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Change in restricted cash (4,860) 1,978
Purchases of short-term investments (13,544)
Expenditures for property (53,694) (22,912)
Proceeds from sale of property 1,263
Expenditures for capitalized software (12,871) (3,273)
Other 224 (958)
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (83,482) (25,165)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net (decrease) increase in notes and loans payable (3,309) 871
(Distributions to) additional contributions from parent, net (108,868)
Long-term debt borrowings 18,882 327,775
Repayment of long-term debt (31,222) (30,141)
Debt issuance costs (10,482)
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities (15,649) 179,155
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2,824) 5,669
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (8,503) 106,963

2004

$(1,433,484)

96,973

(5,804)
1,217,745
150,300

41,471
22,863
8,197
9,920
(20,445)

87,736

(1,152)
(122,158)
17,016

(16,673)
148

(122,819)

(7,955)

52,429

33,245
(70,659)

7,060
865

(27,158)

2003

$ (157,026)

94,839

1,297
6,100

89,784
21,916
(6,538)
5,022
(4,822)

50,572

(1,881)
(195,456)

(20,073)
591

(216,819)

(32,889)

199,506
46,803

(77,625)

135,795
1,237

(29,215)

155



Edgar Filing: SKYTERRA COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form 10-K

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for foreign income taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Property transferred to parent

Reference should be made to the Notes to the Financial Statements.

121,770 14,807
$ 113,267 $ 121,770
$ 22,138 $ 1,496
$ 1,121 $ 208

128

41,965
$ 14,807
$ 10,422
$ 732
$ 308,000

$

$
$

71,180

41,965

7,443
2,722
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HUGHES NETWORK SYSTEMS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1:  Description of the Transactions

On April 22, 2005, Hughes Network Systems, LLC ( HNS or the Company ) consummated the transactions contemplated by the Contribution and
Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated December 3, 2004, as amended (the December 2004 Agreement ) with SkyTerra

Communications, Inc. ( SkyTerra ), The DIRECTV Group, Inc. ( DTVG ), and DTV Networks, Inc., formerly known as Hughes Network Systems,
Inc. ( DTV Networks ). Pursuant to the terms of the December 2004 Agreement, DTV Networks contributed substantially all of the assets and
certain liabilities of its very small aperture terminal ( VSAT ), mobile satellite, and terrestrial microwave businesses (collectively, the Business )
along with certain portions of its investment in SPACEWAY, a satellite-based broadband network system that is under development

( SPACEWAY ) (see Note 14). Pursuant to the terms of the December 2004 Agreement, the Company paid DTV Networks $190.7 million,

subject to certain adjustments at closing based principally upon the value of HNS working capital (as defined in the December 2004 Agreement).

In connection with the consummation of the January 2006 Transaction on January 1, 2006, as described below, the Company paid DTV

Networks $10.0 million to resolve a dispute with respect to the working capital and other purchase price adjustments. Pursuant to the terms of

the December 2004 Agreement, DTVG retained responsibility for all of the pre-closing domestic and international tax liabilities of the Company

and is entitled to any refunds. The Company has recorded a liability in due to affiliates in the balance sheet for the estimated amount the

Company may be required to pay to DTVG resulting from prepaid taxes exceeding tax liabilities as of April 22, 2005.

To finance, among other things, the $190.7 million payment made to DTV Networks, on April 22, 2005, the Company issued $325.0 million of
term indebtedness and obtained a $50.0 million revolving credit facility, which was undrawn at April 22, 2005. Immediately following the
payment by the Company, SkyTerra acquired 50% of the Class A membership units of the Company from DTV Networks for $50.0 million in
cash and 300,000 shares of SkyTerra s common stock. The events of April 22, 2005 described herein are collectively referred to as the April
2005 Transaction.

As a result of entering into the December 2004 Agreement, HNS performed an impairment analysis and determined that its net assets were
valued at $265.9 million, which was $150.3 million less than the book value of the net assets. This differential represented an impairment loss
(the Asset Impairment Provision ) that HNS recognized in the fourth quarter of 2004. In recording the Asset Impairment Provision of $150.3
million, HNS provided a reserve of $5.0 million against certain remaining contract obligations with a vendor that was formerly a related party
and allocated the remaining $145.3 million to long-term assets of the business other than certain real estate assets with an appreciated market
value, VSAT operating lease assets that are recoverable from customer leases, and the remaining net assets of SPACEWAY, which had
previously been adjusted to fair value as described in Note 14. The Asset Impairment Provision related to the VSAT business segment was
$125.7 million, and the balance of $24.6 million was charged to the Company s Telecom Systems segment.

On November 10, 2005, SkyTerra, through its wholly owned subsidiary Hughes Communications, Inc. ( HCI ), entered into the Membership
Interest Purchase Agreement (the November 2005 Agreement ) with DTVG to acquire the remaining 50% of the Class A membership interests of
the Company for $100.0 million in cash. The closing of this transaction (the January 2006 Transaction ) occurred on January 1, 2006. On
December 31, 2005, SkyTerra contributed to HCI the Class A membership interests it acquired in connection with the April 2005 Transaction.

As aresult, as of January 1, 2006, the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of HCI. In connection with the closing of the January 2006
Transaction, the parties to the November 2005 Agreement entered into agreements governing the relationship between and among the parties

after the closing (see Note 17). On February 21, 2006, SkyTerra distributed shares of HCI stock to each SkyTerra shareholder. As of that date,
SkyTerra no longer owns any HCI stock and accordingly no longer has an equity interest in the Company.
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HUGHES NETWORK SYSTEMS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Note 2:  Organization

The Company is a Delaware limited liability company. The Limited Liability Company Agreement of Hughes Network Systems, LLC (the LLC
Agreement ) provides for two classes of membership units. The Class A membership units, which have voting rights, are purchased by investors
in the Company. The Class B membership units, which do not have voting rights, are available for grant to employees, officers, directors, and
consultants in exchange for the performance of services. HCI serves as the Managing Member of the Company, as defined in the LLC
Agreement. As of December 31, 2005, there were 95,000 Class A membership units outstanding and 4,750 Class B membership units
outstanding.

Note 3:  Description of Business

The Company is a leading provider of network services that utilize VSATS to distribute signals via satellite. The Company s services and
products serve a variety of consumer and enterprise customers worldwide. VSAT networks utilize satellite communications as a means of
connecting participants in private and shared data networks and are typically used by enterprises with a large number of geographically
dispersed locations to provide reliable, scalable, and cost-effective applications such as credit card verification, inventory tracking and control,
and video teleconferencing. The Company also operates a satellite-based consumer service that provides broadband Internet access.

The Company also provides hardware and point-to-multipoint networking systems solutions to customers with mobile satellite telephony
systems or terrestrial microwave radio transmission systems. These services are generally provided on a contract or project basis and may
involve the use of proprietary products engineered by the Company. As with the VSAT systems, the Company also provides ongoing network
support services under contracts with its mobile satellite or terrestrial transmission systems customers.

SPACEWAY is a next-generation digital satellite communications system designed to utilize high-capacity Ka-band satellites and spot beam
technology to offer site-to-site network connectivity at improved data rates over that of existing Ku-band satellite connections. The system is
designed to offer full-mesh, single-hop connectivity between user terminals by means of an end-to-end digital communications system. As
further discussed in Note 14, the business plan for SPACEWAY was changed in the third quarter of 2004, a significant provision for impairment
of the SPACEWAY assets was recognized, and the remaining net assets of SPACEWAY were adjusted to their fair value. Completion of the
revised development plan is expected to result in the launch of the SPACEWAY 3 satellite in early 2007 and commercial service
commencement approximately three to six months after the satellite is placed in its orbital slot.

Note 4:  Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America and include the assets, liabilities, operating results, and cash flows of the Company, including its domestic and foreign subsidiaries that

are more than 50% owned or otherwise controlled by the Company. Pursuant to the December 2004 Agreement, DTV Networks prepared
carved-out historical financial statements for the Business and SPACEWAY as if they comprised a separate limited liability company and on the

basis of presentation described herein. The 2003 and 2004 financial results and the 2005 financial results for the period January 1, 2005 to

April 22, 2005 of DTV Networks included herein are referred to as Predecessor results, and the financial results for the period April 23, 2005 to

December 31, 2005 of HNS included herein are referred to as Successor results. Carryover of DTV Networks basis has been used to establish

the beginning balances of the Company s accounts. As of January 1, 2006, the Company became a wholly owned subsidiary of HCI, the

Company s financial statements will be consolidated by HCI, and
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HUGHES NETWORK SYSTEMS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

the basis of the Company s assets and liabilities will be adjusted to their fair values. Management believes the assumptions regarding the
financial statements are reasonable. All accounts and transactions among consolidated entities have been eliminated.

DTV Networks participated in DTVG s centralized cash management system. DTVG used concentration accounts to sweep DTV Networks cash
receipts to its banks and provided cash to DTV Networks as needed for operating purposes. Accordingly, DTVG had provided funding for the
working capital and capital expenditure requirements of DTV Networks in the form of equity capital contributions having no formal repayment
terms or interest requirements. The net cash activity associated with DTVG is presented separately as a distribution to or contribution from

Parent in the accompanying statements of changes in equity.

DTVG performed certain functions for DTV Networks that are now separately performed by the Company as a stand-alone entity. The functions
performed by DTVG that have been replaced by the Company include the treasury, audit, and income tax functions. The Predecessor financial
statements reflect the Company s estimate of the costs that were incurred by DTVG on the Company s behalf for these functions. In addition,
DTVG performed the Company s risk management function and DTV Networks participated in certain employee benefit programs that were
administered by DTVG, and DTVG allocated to DTV Networks its portion of the costs of these functions and programs. Costs for these
functions and programs were allocated on a specific identification basis or a methodology consistent with the nature of the service, such as
payroll or headcount. Management believes the allocation methodology is reasonable.

Subsequent to the April 2005 Transaction, the Company established its own risk management and employee benefit programs. The costs of the
services performed by DTVG for DTV Networks and the allocations of risk management and employee benefit program costs reflected in the
financial statements amounted to $11.3 million for the period January 1, 2005 through April 22, 2005, $35.9 million in 2004, and $41.5 million
in 2003.

Although management believes that the actual costs the Company incurs on a stand-alone basis are not materially different than the costs
reflected in the Predecessor financial statements, the Predecessor financial information included herein may not reflect the financial position,
operating results, changes in equity, and cash flow of the Company had it been a separate stand-alone entity during the periods presented.

Market Concentrations and Credit Risk

The Company provides services and extends credit to a number of communications equipment customers, service providers, and a large number
of consumers, both in the United States and around the world. The Company monitors its exposure to credit losses and maintains, as necessary,
allowances for anticipated losses. No single customer accounted for more than 7% of total annual revenues in any of the periods presented.
Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents, and short-term
investments. Although the Company maintains cash balances at financial institutions that exceed federally insured limits, these balances are
placed with high credit quality financial institutions.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of the Financial Statements

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect amounts reported herein. Management bases its estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual
results reported in future periods may be affected by changes in those estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Revenue Recognition

Service revenues and hardware sales, excluding lease revenues described below, are recognized as services are rendered or products are installed
or shipped to third-party installers and as title passes to those customers. In situations where customer offerings represent a bundled arrangement
for both services and hardware, revenue elements are separated into their relevant components (services or hardware) for revenue recognition
purposes. The Company offers a rebate to qualifying new consumer subscribers and records a reduction in revenue in the same period the related
sale occurs based on an estimate of the number of rebates that will be redeemed. This estimate is based on historical experience and actual sales
during the promotion.

Hardware sales totaling $36.2 million, $19.2 million, $58.0 million, and $55.8 million in the period April 23, 2005 through December 31, 2005,
the period January 1, 2005 through April 22, 2005, and the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, represent annual revenues
under VSAT hardware operating leases with customers which are funded by third-party financial institutions and for which the Company has
retained a financial obligation to the financial institution. At the inception of the operating lease, the Company receives cash from the financial
institution for a substantial portion of the aggregate lease rentals and, for those transactions in which the Company has retained a continuing
obligation to the financing institution to indemnify it from losses it may incur (up to the original value of the hardware), recognizes a
corresponding liability to the financial institution for those transactions.

Hardware lease revenues are recognized over the term of the operating lease. The Company capitalizes the book value of the installed equipment
used to provide services to the customer as VSAT operating lease hardware and depreciates these costs over the term of the customer lease
agreement. For transactions in which the Company has not retained a continuing obligation to the financing institution, hardware revenues are
recognized at the inception of the transaction.

Revenues are also earned from long-term contracts for the sale of mobile satellite communications systems. Sales under these long-term
contracts are recognized using the percentage-of-completion (cost-to-cost) method of accounting. Under this method, sales are recorded
equivalent to costs incurred plus a portion of the profit expected to be realized, determined based on the ratio of costs incurred to estimated total
costs at completion. Profits expected to be realized on long-term contracts are based on estimates of total sales value and costs at completion.
These estimates are reviewed and revised periodically throughout the lives of the contracts, and adjustments to profits resulting from such
revisions are recorded in the accounting period in which the revisions are made. Estimated losses on contracts are recorded in the period in
which they are identified.

Income Taxes

HNS is a limited liability company, and as such, U.S. Federal and domestic state income taxes (in the states which tax limited liability
companies as partnerships) are the direct responsibility of its members. DTV Networks participates in the filing of consolidated U.S. Federal and
domestic state income tax returns with DTVG, and DTV Networks incurred operating losses in each of the last seven years. Under the terms of
the December 2004 Agreement, DTVG retained the tax benefits from these net operating losses and has responsibility for all of the pre-closing
domestic and international income tax liabilities of DTV Networks. Foreign income taxes for HNS consolidated foreign subsidiaries are
reflected in the financial statements in other income (expense), net.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of ninety days or less to be cash equivalents. While a component
of DTVG, DTV Networks participated in the centralized cash management system of DTVG, wherein cash receipts were transferred to and cash
disbursements were funded by DTVG on a
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daily basis. The amount of cash and cash equivalents presented on the Predecessor balance sheet represents amounts held outside of the DTVG
cash management system.

Short-term Investments

The Company considers all debt securities with original maturities of more than ninety days but less than one year as short-term investments and
determines the appropriate classification of such securities in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115,
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. All short-term investments at December 31, 2005 have been classified as
available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value with the related unrealized gains and losses reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). At December 31, 2005, the cost basis and fair value of available-for-sale securities was $13.5
million. The Company had no short-term investments at December 31, 2004.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash deposits expiring within one year are included in prepaid expenses and other, and deposits expiring beyond one year are included
in other assets in the accompanying balance sheets. At December 31, 2005, the Company had $4.9 million of restricted cash which secures
certain letters of credit. All of the underlying letters of credit expire in 2006. Restrictions on the cash will be removed as the letters of credit
expire. In connection with the April 2005 Transaction, restricted cash held at April 22, 2005 was distributed to DTV Networks. At

December 31, 2004, restricted cash of $10.5 million represented cash deposited to secure certain letters of credit and obligations of DTV
Networks and DTV Networks majority-owned foreign subsidiaries.

Receivables, Net

Receivables, net include contracts in process that are stated at costs incurred plus estimated profit, less amounts billed to customers and advances
and progress payments applied. Advances and progress billings are offset against contract-related receivables, as appropriate.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, principally using standard costs adjusted to reflect actual based on variance analyses
performed throughout the year. Cost of sales for services are based on actual costs incurred for service cost elements.

Prepaid Expenses and Other

Prepaid expenses and other includes subscriber acquisition costs ( SAC ) incurred to acquire new consumer subscribers. SAC consists of dealer
and customer service representative commissions on new installations, and, in certain cases, the cost of hardware and installation provided to
customers at the inception of service. SAC is deferred when a customer commits to a 12- to 15-month service agreement, and amounts deferred
are amortized to expense over the commitment period as the related service revenue is earned. Customers who receive hardware and installation
under these service agreements have a higher monthly service rate than is charged to customers who purchase their equipment outright at the
inception of service. The Company monitors the recoverability of subscriber acquisition costs and is entitled to an early termination fee (secured
by customer credit card information obtained up-front) if the subscriber cancels service prior to the end of the commitment period. The
recoverability of deferred subscriber acquisition costs is reasonably assured through the increased monthly service fee charged to customers, the
ability to recover the equipment, or the ability to charge an early termination fee.
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Property and Depreciation

Property is carried at cost, which includes construction costs and capitalized interest for qualifying projects. Depreciation is computed generally
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the life of
the asset or term of the lease. See Note 1 regarding an allocation to property of the Asset Impairment Provision in December 2004.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is recognized in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets . Goodwill resulting from business acquisitions represents the excess of the purchase price over the net assets of the acquired businesses.
Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to write-down, as needed, based upon an impairment analysis that occurs at least annually, or sooner if
an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not result in an impairment loss. HNS performs its annual impairment
analysis in the fourth quarter of each year. If an impairment loss results from the annual impairment test, the loss will be recorded as a charge to
operations. There was no goodwill balance as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 as goodwill was written-off as a result of allocating a portion of
the Asset Impairment Provision at December 31, 2004, described in Note 1.

Debt issuance costs are amortized based upon the lives of the associated debt obligations. Debt issuance cost amortization is included in interest
expense. Debt issuance costs at December 31, 2005, net of accumulated amortization of $1.0 million, relate to costs incurred in connection with
the term indebtedness issued in connection with the April 2005 Transaction and are included in other assets. There were no deferred debt
issuance costs at December 31, 2004.

Software Development Costs

Software development costs are capitalized in accordance with SFAS No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold,
Leased, or Otherwise Marketed. Capitalized software development costs are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives, not in excess of five years. Software program reviews are conducted at least annually to ensure that capitalized software development costs
are not impaired and that costs associated with programs that do not generate revenues are expensed. Accumulated amortization of software
development costs was $0.1 million at December 31, 2005. There was no accumulated amortization at December 31, 2004, as software
development costs as of that date were written off as a result of the Asset Impairment Provision and the SPACEWAY impairment provision
described in Notes 1 and 14, respectively.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used, other than goodwill, when events and circumstances warrant
such a review. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired when the carrying value of the asset exceeds the aggregate amount
of its separately identifiable undiscounted future cash flows. In that event, a loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value
exceeds the fair value of the long-lived asset. Fair value is determined primarily using the estimated future cash flows associated with the asset
under review, discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved and other valuation techniques. Losses on long-lived assets to be
disposed of are determined in a similar manner, except that fair values are reduced for the cost of disposal. Changes in estimates of future cash
flows could result in a write-down of the asset in a future period. See Note 1 regarding the Asset Impairment Provision recognized at

December 31, 2004.
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Foreign Currency

Some of HNS foreign operations have determined the local currency to be their functional currency. Accordingly, these foreign entities translate
assets and liabilities from their local currencies to U.S. dollars using year-end exchange rates while income and expense accounts are translated
at the average rates in effect during the year. The resulting translation adjustment is recorded as part of accumulated other comprehensive

income (loss) ( OCI ), a separate component of equity. Translation adjustments for foreign currency denominated equity investments are not
material and are recorded as part of OCIL.

The Company also has foreign operations where the U.S. dollar has been determined as the functional currency. Gains and losses resulting from
remeasurement of the foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities, and transactions into the U.S. dollar are recognized currently in the
statements of operations and were not material in each of the periods presented herein.

Investments and Financial Instruments

The Company maintains investments in equity securities of unaffiliated companies, and such investments are included in other assets in the
balance sheets. Nonmarketable equity securities are carried at cost. Marketable equity securities are considered available-for-sale and carried at
current fair value based on quoted market prices with unrealized gains or losses (excluding other-than-temporary losses), reported as part of
OCI. The Company continually reviews its investments to determine whether a decline in fair value below the cost basis is

other-than-temporary. The Company considers, among other factors: the magnitude and duration of the decline; the financial health and business
outlook of the investee, including industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flow factors; and
HNS intent and ability to hold the investment. If the decline in fair value is judged to be other-than-temporary, the cost basis of the security is
written down to fair value, and the amount is recognized in the statements of operations as part of Other income (expense), net and recorded as a
reclassification adjustment from OCIL.

Investments in which HNS owns at least 20% of the voting securities or has significant influence are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. Equity method investments are recorded at cost and adjusted for the appropriate share of the net earnings or losses of the investee.
The carrying value of investments may include a component of goodwill if the cost of HNS investment exceeds the fair value of the investment,
and any such goodwill is subject to an evaluation for impairment pursuant to Accounting Principles Board Opinion ( APB ) No. 18 The Equity
Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock. Investee losses are recorded up to the amount of the investment plus advances and
loans made to the investee, and financial guarantees made on behalf of the investee. In certain instances, this can result in HNS recognizing
investee earnings or losses in excess of its ownership percentage.

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents; short-term investments; receivables, net; other assets; accounts payable; and amounts included
in accrued liabilities and other liabilities meeting the definition of a financial instrument and debt approximated fair value at December 31, 2005
and 2004.

The Company carries all derivative financial instruments in the balance sheets at fair value based on quoted market prices. The Company uses
derivative contracts to minimize the financial impact of changes in the fair value of recognized assets, liabilities, and unrecognized firm
commitments, or the variability of cash flows associated with forecasted transactions in accordance with internal risk management policies.
Changes in fair value of designated, qualified, and effective fair value hedges are recognized in earnings as offsets to the changes in fair value of
the related hedged items. Changes in fair value of designated, qualified, and effective cash flow hedges are deferred and recorded as a
component of OCI until the hedged transactions occur and are recognized in earnings. Changes related to amounts excluded from the
effectiveness assessment of a hedging derivative s
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change in fair value and the ineffective portion of a hedge are immediately recognized in the statements of operations. Both at the inception of
the hedge and on an on-going basis, HNS assesses whether the derivatives are highly effective. Hedge accounting is prospectively discontinued
when hedge instruments are no longer highly effective. During each of the periods presented herein there were no material hedge transactions.

The Company s cash flows and earnings are subject to fluctuations resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, and
changes in the market value of its equity investments. HNS manages its exposure to these market risks through internally established policies
and procedures and, when deemed appropriate, through the use of derivative financial instruments. HNS enters into derivative instruments only
to the extent considered necessary to meet its risk management objectives and does not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes.

The Company generally conducts its business in U.S. dollars with some business conducted in a variety of foreign currencies and therefore is
exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. HNS objective in managing its exposure to foreign currency changes is to reduce
earnings and cash flow volatility associated with foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Accordingly, HNS enters into foreign exchange contracts to
mitigate risks associated with foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities, commitments, and anticipated foreign currency transactions. The
gains and losses on derivative foreign exchange contracts offset changes in value of the related exposures. As of December 31, 2005, the
Company had purchased foreign exchange contracts totaling $5.2 million to mitigate foreign currency fluctuation risks associated with
short-term U.S. dollar denominated obligations. The differences between the face amount of the foreign exchange contracts and their estimated
fair values were not material at December 31, 2005. All of the forward exchange contracts expire by June 30, 2006.

The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by the counterparties to its derivative financial instrument contracts.
While the Company believes this risk is remote, credit risk is managed through the periodic monitoring and approval of financially sound
counterparties.

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation of SFAS No. 123,

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and
Disclosure an Amendment of SFAS No. 123 ( SFAS No. 123 ). Under this method, compensation expense equal to the fair value of the
stock-based award at grant is recognized over the course of its vesting period. When SFAS No. 123 was initially adopted, the Company elected
to follow the prospective method of adoption, which resulted in the recognition of fair value based compensation cost in the statements of
operations for stock options and other stock-based awards granted to employees or modified on or after January 1, 2003. Subsequently, in
connection with the News Corporation transaction described in Note 17, vesting for substantially all unvested stock options outstanding at
December 22, 2003 was accelerated. All stock-based awards are accounted for under the fair value method subsequent to the completion of the
News Corporation transaction as a result of the modification of all stock-based compensation awards in connection therewith.
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The following table presents the effect on earnings of recognizing compensation cost as if the fair value based method had been applied to all
outstanding and unvested stock options and other stock-based awards for the periods shown:

Successor Predecessor
April 23,2005 January 1, 2005 Years ended December 31,

December 31, April 22,

2005 2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands)
Reported income (loss) $46,571 $(22,523) $(1,433,484) $ (157,026)
Add: Stock compensation cost, included above 3,020
Deduct: Total stock compensation cost, under the fair value based
method (47,944)
Pro Forma Net Income (Loss) $46,571 $(22,523) $(1,433,484) $ (201,950)

The pro forma amounts for compensation cost are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that will be reported in future periods.
New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ) issued Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities an interpretation of ARB No. 51 ( FIN 46R ). FIN 46R requires the consolidation of a variable interest entity ( VIE )
where a holder of variable interests achieves a controlling financial interest through arrangements other than voting interests, and it is

determined that the investor will absorb a majority of the expected losses and/or receive the majority of residual returns of the VIE. FIN 46R
became effective for the Company on January 1, 2005. The adoption of this standard had no impact on HNS results of operations or financial
position.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47 Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 143, ( FIN 47 ) which clarifies the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in SFAS No. 143 Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations. Specifically, FIN 47 provides that an asset retirement obligation is conditional when the timing and/or method of

settling the obligation is conditioned on a future event. Accordingly, an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a

conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Uncertainty about the timing and/or method

of settlement of a conditional asset retirement obligation should be factored into the measurement of the liability when sufficient information

exists. This interpretation also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset

retirement obligation. FIN 47 became effective for the Company on January 1, 2005. The adoption of this standard had no impact on HNS

results of operations or financial position.

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force ( EITF ) reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements
with Multiple Deliverables. EITF Issue No. 00-21 requires the allocation of revenues into separate units of accounting for transactions that
involve more than one deliverable and contain more than one unit of accounting. HNS elected to apply the accounting required by EITF Issue
No. 00-21 prospectively to transactions entered into after June 30, 2003. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on HNS
results of operations or financial position.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs an Amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43 ( ARB 43 ),
Chapter 4 , ( SFAS No. 151 ). SFAS No. 151 amends ARB 43, Chapter 4 to clarify the accounting for idle facility expense, freight, handling costs,
and wasted material. SFAS No. 151
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requires that these types of costs be recognized as current period expenses when incurred. SFAS No. 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred
during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant impact on HNS results of
operations or financial position.

HNS adopted SFAS No. 153 Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29 on July 1, 2005 ( SFAS No. 153 ). SFAS
No. 153 eliminates the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets of APB Opinion No. 29 and replaces it with a general
exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if

the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. The adoption of this standard had no impact

on HNS results of operations or financial position.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, Share Based Payment , a revision of SFAS No. 123, ( SFAS No. 123R ). SFAS No. 123R
requires entities to recognize compensation expense for all shared-based payments to employees, including stock options, based on the estimated
fair value of the instrument on the date it is granted. The expense will be recognized over the vesting period of the award. SFAS No. 123R is
effective for HNS for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005 and provides entities two transition methods. Under the modified

prospective method, compensation expense is recognized beginning with the effective date for all awards granted to employees prior to the

effective date that are unvested on the effective date. The modified retrospective method is a variation of the modified prospective method,

except entities can restate all prior periods presented or prior interim periods in the year of adoption using the amounts previously presented in

the pro forma disclosure required by SFAS No. 123. As HNS currently accounts for share-based payments using the fair value method under

SFAS No. 123, HNS does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 123R to have a material impact on its results of operations or financial position.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections , a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting
Changes and SFAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements ( SFAS No. 154 ). SFAS No. 154 applies to all
voluntary changes in accounting principle and changes the requirements for accounting for and reporting a change in accounting principle. SFAS
No. 154 requires the retrospective application to prior periods financial statements of the direct effect of a voluntary change in accounting
principle unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effective of the change. SFAS No. 154 is
effective for accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005, however the statement does not change the transition
provisions of any existing accounting pronouncements. HNS does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 154 to have a material impact on its

results of operations or financial position.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments an amendment of FASB Statements
No. 133 and 140 ( SFAS No. 155 ), an amendment to FASB Statements No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,
and No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. SFAS No. 155 permits fair value
remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation, clarifies
which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements of Statement 133, establishes a requirement to evaluate
interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that are freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain
an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation, clarifies that concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded
derivatives, and amends Statement 140 to eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative financial
instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another derivative financial instrument. SFAS No. 155 is effective for all financial
instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. HNS does not expect the
adoption of SFAS No. 155 to have a material impact on its results of operations or financial position.
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Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior periods financial statements to conform to the current year s presentation.
Note 5: Receivables, Net

The following table sets forth the amounts recorded for receivables as of the dates shown:

Successor Predecessor
At December 31,

2005 2004

(Dollars in thousands)
Trade receivables $ 181,585 $ 155,698
Contracts in process, net of advances and progress billings 29,086 34,516
Other receivables 2,845 2,652
Total 213,516 192,866

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (12,534) (19,853)

Total Receivables, Net $ 200,982 $ 173,013

There were no advances or progress billings offset against contracts in process at December 31, 2005. Advances and progress billings offset
against contracts in process amounted to $3.4 million at December 31, 2004. The Company expects to collect the $29.1 million recorded at
December 31, 2005 as contracts in process in the next twelve months except for $5.3 million, $4.4 million, $2.6 million and $1.9 million due in
the years ending December 31, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively.

Amounts due from affiliates totaling $0.7 million and $0.3 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, are included in trade
receivables.

At December 31, 2005, amounts due from customers under long-term VSAT operating lease agreements totaled $97.3 million, of which $43.4
million, $26.2 million, $16.5 million, $7.7 million, and $3.5 million are due in the years ending December 31, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010
and thereafter, respectively. Revenues and receivables from these customer contracts are not recorded until they are earned on a month-to-month
basis.

Note 6: Inventories

The following table sets forth the amounts recorded for inventories as of the dates shown:

Successor Predecessor
At December 31,

2005 2004

(Dollars in thousands)
Productive material and supplies $ 17,467 $ 19,808
Work in process 9,926 30,785
Finished goods 54,763 66,369
Total 82,156 116,962
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Total Inventories $73,526 $ 99,892
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Provisions for excess or obsolete inventories are provided using management s best estimates of future use or recovery of inventory. In making
its assessment of future use or recovery, management considers the aging and composition of inventory balances, the effects of technological
and/or design changes, forecasted future product demand based on firm or near-firm customer orders, and alternative means of disposition of
excess or obsolete items.

Note 7: Prepaid Expenses and Other

The following table sets forth the amounts recorded for prepaid expenses and other as of the dates shown:

Successor Predecessor
At December 31,
2005 2004
(Dollars in thousands)
Subscriber Acquisition Costs (SAC) $ 18,927 $ 20,209
Prepaid expenses 9,015 8,173
Prepaid taxes 13,878 9,678
Restricted cash 4,860 1,979
Deposits and other 1,992 2,153
Total Prepaid Expenses and Other $48,672 $ 42,192
Note 8: Property, Net
The following table sets forth the amounts recorded for net property as of the dates shown:
Successor Predecessor
Estimated Useful At December 31,
Lives (years) 2005 2004
(Dollars in thousands)

Land and improvements 10-30 $ 11,809 $ 11,823

Buildings and leasehold improvements 1-40 44,587 42,942

Machinery and equipment 3-23 57,261 6,776

Furniture, fixtures, and office machines 3-15 842

VSAT operating lease hardware 2-5 149,853 287,184

Construction in progress SPACEWAY 124,878 85,000

Other 10,762 15,710

Total 399,992 449,435
Less accumulated depreciation (140,414) (222,691)

Total Property, Net $ 259,578 $ 226,744

VSAT operating lease hardware represents VSAT equipment installed at customer facilities that is subject to an operating lease with the
customer and against which HNS has borrowed funds from third-party financial institutions. Title to the equipment has passed to the financial
institutions, and they will own the equipment at the end of the term of the customer contract; however, for the majority of the contracts HNS has
retained certain ongoing obligations relating to the equipment as described in Note 4. For those contracts, deferred VSAT operating lease
hardware costs are depreciated and such depreciation is recorded in cost of hardware products sold over the term of the operating lease.
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Depreciation expense for property amounted to $27.1 million for the period April 23, 2005 through December 31, 2005, $13.7 million for the
period January 1, 2005 through April 22, 2005, $80.9 million in 2004, and $80.0 million in 2003. In December 2004, $76.9 million of the Asset
Impairment Provision was allocated to property and the carrying value of the property was written down, on a pro rata basis, by the amount of
the Asset Impairment Provision, except for i) certain real estate assets with an appreciated market value, ii) VSAT operating lease assets that are
recoverable from customer leases, and iii) the remaining assets of SPACEWAY (carried in construction in progress).

Interest has been capitalized during the construction of the SPACEWAY 3 satellite on costs incurred subsequent to April 22, 2005, the date on
which the Company issued $325.0 million of term indebtedness as described in Note 11. Capitalized interest totaled $0.5 million for the period
April 23, 2005 through December 31, 2005.

Note 9: Other Assets

The following table sets forth the amounts recorded for other assets as of the dates shown:

Investments accounted for under the equity method
Investments classified as available-for-sale

Debt issuance costs, net
Restricted cash
Other

Total Other Assets

Note 10: Accrued Liabilities

The following table sets forth the amounts recorded for accrued liabilities as of the dates shown:

Accrued and other liabilities
Payroll and other compensation
Progress billings to customers
Taxes other than income taxes

Foreign income taxes

Employee severance costs

Provision for warranties

Total Accrued Liabilities

Successor Predecessor
At December 31,
2005 2004
(Dollars in thousands)
$ 8,795 $ 8,779
9,450 9,804
9,452
8,496
2,627 3,157
$ 30,324 $ 30,236
Successor Predecessor
At December 31,
2005 2004
(Dollars in thousands)
$ 53,195 $ 38750
29,151 32,254
31,687 30,827
7,089 4,780
5,425 6,753
10,993
4,054 3,833

$ 130,601 $ 128,190

In connection with entering into the December 2004 Agreement, the Company announced a staff reduction of 164 personnel, or 9% of its staff
effective as of February 1, 2005. All staff reduction activities were completed in 2005. See Note 15.
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Note 11: Short-Term Borrowings and Long-Term Debt

Short-Term Borrowings and Current Portion of Long-Term Debt

Successor Predecessor
Interest Rates at At December 31,
December 31, 2005 2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands)
Revolving bank borrowings 6.75% -16.0% $ 3,693 $ 6,439 $14,198
Term loans payable to banks, current portion 8.5% 752 1,943 2,282
VSAT hardware financing, current portion 4.0%-9.0% 25,171 44,375 52,152
Total Short Term Borrowings and Current Portion of Long-Term Debt $29.616  $52,757 $ 68,632

Outstanding revolving bank borrowings at December 31, 2005 consist of borrowings by a subsidiary in India under revolving lines of credit with
local banks. Borrowings at the Indian subsidiary are with several banks, and there is no requirement for compensating balances. $1.8 million of
the outstanding revolving borrowings are at variable rates tied to the Mumbai Inter Bank Offer Rate, and are adjusted monthly. The balance of
outstanding revolving borrowings are at fixed rates. The total available for borrowing by the Indian subsidiary under the revolving lines of credit
is $4.4 million.

Long-Term Debt

Successor Predecessor
Interest Rates at At December 31,
December 31, 2005 2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands)
Term loans payable to banks 8.19%-12.44% $ 325,360 $ 1,153 $ 3,145
VSAT hardware financing 4.0%-9.0% 17,046 36,312 63,355
Total Long-Term Debt $342,406 $37,465 $66,500

The April 2005 Transaction was financed with (i) a $250.0 million first lien term loan and a $50.0 million first lien revolving credit facility and
(ii) a $75.0 million second lien term loan. In June 2005, the above two facilities were syndicated with a larger number of financial institutions, at
which time the first lien loan was increased to $275.0 million and the second lien loan was reduced to $50.0 million. At the election of the
Company, which can be made monthly, the term indebtedness bears interest at either the ABR Rate as defined in the credit agreement (the ABR
Rate ) plus 2.75% for the first lien credit facility and the ABR Rate plus 7.0% for the second lien credit facility or for Eurocurrency borrowings at
the London Interbank Offered Rate ( LIBOR ) plus 3.75% for the first lien credit facility and LIBOR plus 8.0% for the second lien credit facility.
At December 31, 2005, the Company had elected the LIBOR (4.44% on December 31, 2005) option. As a result, outstanding borrowings under
the first lien credit facility are at 8.19% as of December 31, 2005 and outstanding borrowings under the second lien facility are at 12.44% as of
December 31, 2005. Principal repayment for both credit facilities starts on June 30, 2007, and the final payment is due on April 22, 2012 for the
first lien credit facility and April 22, 2013 for the second lien credit facility. With respect to Eurocurrency LIBOR loans, the Company elects
interest periods of one, two, three, or six months and interest is payable in arrears at the end of each interest period, and, in any event, at least
every three months. The $50.0 million revolving credit facility is available under the first lien credit agreement for borrowings and for issuance

of letters of credit. At December 31, 2005, the Company had issued letters of credit totaling $12.1 million under the revolving credit
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facility. As a result, the available borrowing capacity under the revolving credit facility at December 31, 2005 was $37.9 million. The interest
rate for borrowings, if any, under the revolving credit facility is, at the Company s option, either the ABR Rate plus 2% or LIBOR plus 3%. For
outstanding letters of credit issued under the revolving credit facility, the Company pays a commission fee of 3% per annum and an issuance fee
of 0.25% per annum. In addition, the Company is charged a commitment fee of 0.5% per annum for any unused portion of the revolving credit
facility. HCI has pledged its equity interests in the Company to secure the obligations of the Company under the term indebtedness and
revolving credit facility. The indebtedness is otherwise non-recourse to HCI.

The agreements governing the term indebtedness and revolving credit facility require the Company to comply with certain affirmative and
negative covenants, for as long as there is any debt balance outstanding and the credit agreements are in effect. Negative covenants include
limitations on additional indebtedness, liens, sale and lease back transactions, investments and loans and advances, mergers, consolidations, sale
of assets and acquisitions, payment of dividends and distributions, certain transactions with affiliates, and other covenants customary to credit
agreements. In addition, the Company is required to comply with certain financial covenants including leverage ratios (first lien leverage ratio
and debt to adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the agreements), interest coverage ratios (adjusted EBITDA to interest) and certain limits on capital
expenditure for the four quarter period up to an including the fiscal quarter being reported. HNS has been in compliance with all of its debt
covenants since the placement of the term indebtedness and through December 31, 2005.

In connection with certain commercial VSAT sales, the Company enters into long-term operating leases (generally three to five years) for the
use of the VSAT hardware installed at a customer s facilities. HNS has an arrangement with two financial institutions to borrow against the
future operating lease revenues at the inception of the operating lease. When amounts are funded under these arrangements, customer credit risk
for the operating lease passes to the financial institution. The financial institution receives title to the equipment and obtains the residual rights to
the equipment after the operating lease with the customer has expired. For the majority of the transactions with the financial institutions, the
Company has retained a continuing obligation to the financing institution to indemnify it from losses it may incur (up to the original value of the
hardware) from non-performance of the HNS system (a Non-Performance Event ). Since the inception of the borrowing program in 1997, the
Company has not been required to make any indemnification payments for a Non-Performance Event; however, the Company did incur nominal
costs in a period prior to 2002 to re-establish service for a group of customers who were impacted by the failure of a third-party satellite. The
Company has not provided a reserve for a Non-Performance Event because it believes that the possibility of an occurrence of a
Non-Performance Event due to a service outage is remote, given the ability to quickly re-establish customer service at relatively nominal costs.

The following table sets forth scheduled principal payments on long-term debt:

Total 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter
(Dollars in Thousands)

First lien credit facility $275,000 $2,063 $ 2,750 $2,750 $2,750 $ 264,687
Second lien credit facility 50,000 375 500 500 500 48,125
Other term loans 360 360
Total term loans payable to banks 325,360 2,798 3,250 3,250 3,250 312,812
VSAT hardware financing 17,046 4,727 8,099 3,141 1,079
Total Long-Term Debt $ 342,406 $7,525 $11,349 $6,391 $4,329 $ 312,812
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Note 12: Retirement Programs and Other Post-Retirement Benefits

Prior to the April 2005 Transaction, HNS employees participated in contributory and noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans
maintained by DTVG. These plans were available to substantially all domestic full-time employees. Benefits were based on years of service and
compensation earned during a specified period of time before retirement. The accumulated benefit obligation and net assets available for benefits
for employees were not separately determined and are not included in the Predecessor balance sheet. In addition to pension benefits, DTVG
charged HNS for the cost of certain other post-retirement benefits. The accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation related to employees was
not separately determined and was not included in the accompanying balance sheets. HNS portion of the cost of these benefit plans, allocated
from DTVG, amounted to $2.4 million, $13.6 million, and $13.0 million for the period January 1, 2005 through April 22, 2005, and the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The costs allocated from DTVG did not include pension curtailment and termination benefit
charges recorded by DTVG as a result of the fact that HNS employees no longer earned benefits in the DTVG plan subsequent to the completion
of the April 2005 Transaction. HNS employees also participated in the DTV 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan (the DTVG 401(k) Plan ) and in
other post-retirement health and welfare plans administered by DTVG for which HNS was billed directly by the provider. Subsequent to the
April 2005 Transaction, HNS implemented the HNS LLC 401(k) Plan (the HNS 401(k) Plan ) for qualified employees in the United States.
Eligible employees may contribute up to 20% of their eligible earnings, and the Company will match 100% of employee contributions on up to
3% of eligible earnings and 50% of employee contributions on up to an additional 6% of eligible earnings. Employer contributions to the HNS
401(k) Plan and to the DTVG 401 (k) Plan were $3.6 million, $1.7 million, $6.2 million, and $6.7 million for the periods April 23, 2005 though
December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 through April 22, 2005 and the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Note 13: Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to the April 2005 Transaction, HNS participated in the Hughes Incentive Plan (the Plan ) together with other DTVG business units. Under
the Plan, shares, rights, or options to acquire DTVG s common stock were authorized for grant subject to the approval of the Compensation
Committee of the DTVG Board of Directors. In connection with the News Corporation transactions on December 22, 2003 (see Note 17),

30.4 million outstanding options of DTVG s former parent company held by HNS employees were converted into options to acquire shares of
DTVG stock. The exercise price of the options granted under the Plan was equal to 100% of the fair market value of the underlying common
stock on the date the options were granted. These nonqualified options generally vested over two to five years, vested immediately in the event

of certain transactions, expired 10 years from date of grant, and were subject to earlier termination under certain conditions. DTVG allocated
compensation expense to HNS for its covered employees under the fair value method as described in Note 4.

DTVG s Compensation Committee also granted restricted stock units under the Plan that vested over two to three years. During the year ended
December 31, 2003, 1.2 million restricted stock units were granted with a weighted average grant-date fair value of approximately $11.53 per
share. Compensation expense charged to general and administrative expenses in the combined consolidated statement of operations related to
restricted stock unit awards amounted to $3.0 million in 2003. No restricted stock units were granted subsequent to December 31, 2003.

Following the completion of the April 2005 Transaction, HNS employees no longer receive stock option or restricted stock unit grants from
DTVG, and DTVG remains responsible for all of the outstanding DTVG options for HNS employees.
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In the second quarter of 2005, Class B equity interests were issued to certain members of HNS senior management and SkyTerra s Chief
Executive Officer and President. The holders of the Class B equity interests are entitled to receive their pro rata share of any distributions made
by the Company after the holders of Class A equity interests have received distributions equaling their capital contributions. However, holders of
the Class B equity interests are not entitled to distributions resulting from appreciation of the Company s assets or income earned by the
Company prior to the issuance of the Class B equity interests. As of December 31, 2005, the Class B equity interests represented approximately
4.8% of the combined outstanding Class A and Class B equity interests. These Class B equity interests are subject to certain vesting
requirements, with 50% of the Class B equity interests subject to time vesting over five years and the other 50% vesting based upon certain
performance milestones. One-half of the Class B equity interests subject to performance milestones will vest if, following the earlier of April 22,
2010 or a change of control of HNS, HCI has received a cumulative total return of at least 3.0 times on its investment in HNS. All Class B
equity interests subject to performance milestones will vest if, following the earlier of April 22, 2010 or a change of control of HNS, HCI has
received a cumulative total return of at least 5.0 times on its investment in HNS. In each such case, vesting of Class B equity interests subject to
performance milestones requires continued employment of the Class B equity holder through the earlier of April 22, 2010 or a change in control
of HNS. On January 1, 2007, at the holders election, vested Class B equity interests may be exchanged for common stock of HCI. The number
of shares of HCI common stock to be issued upon such exchange will be based upon the fair market value of such vested Class B membership
interest divided by the value of HCI common stock at the time of such exchange. Pursuant to SFAS No. 123, the Company determined that the
Class B equity interests had nominal value at the date of grant, and, accordingly, no compensation expense was recorded in connection with the
issuance of the Class B equity interests.

In July 2005, the Company adopted an incentive plan (the Bonus Unit Plan ) pursuant to which 4.4 million bonus units representing
approximately 4% of the increase in the value of the Company, as defined in the Bonus Unit Plan, were granted to its employees. The bonus
units provide for time vesting over five years subject to a participant s continued employment with the Company. Pursuant to the Bonus Unit
Plan, as a result of the January 2006 Transaction, if a participant in the Bonus Unit Plan is still employed by the Company on April 22, 2008,
then at such time, the participant s vested bonus units would be exchanged for HCI common stock. A second exchange will take place on

April 22, 2010 for participants in the Bonus Unit Plan still employed by the Company at such time. The number of shares of HCI common stock
to be issued upon each such exchange would be based upon the fair market value of such vested bonus unit divided by the value of HCI common
stock at the time of the exchange. Pursuant to SFAS No. 123, the Company determined that the fair value of the bonus units on the grant date
was approximately $1.2 million. This amount is being amortized over the five year vesting period beginning on the date of grant. The Company
recognized compensation expense of $0.1 million in the period April 23, 2005 through December 31, 2005.

Note 14: SPACEWAY Impairment Provision

The Company historically managed the Business and SPACEWAY as separate products. The Business includes established services and product
lines with their own distinct revenues and operating costs, whereas SPACEWAY is a system that is under construction and for which the
Company has not received or recognized any significant revenues. Prior to September 30, 2004, certain hardware costs relating to the
construction of three satellites and a network operating center and development costs relating to network infrastructure for the SPACEWAY
program had been capitalized as construction in progress over the period of construction through September 30, 2004.

During 2004, DTVG decided that it would offer the Business for sale, and it commenced a process for seeking buyers for this business. In the
third quarter of 2004, DTVG determined that it would no longer continue to pursue the business plan of the SPACEWAY program as it was
originally contemplated and that it would
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transfer two of the SPACEWAY satellites ( SW1 and SW2 ) and certain support equipment to DIRECTV Holdings LLC, an affiliated company,
for use in its direct-to-home satellite broadcasting business. DTVG also determined that it would include the remaining SPACEWAY assets as a
component of the Business offered for sale. These decisions by DTVG triggered the need to perform an asset impairment analysis on the

Company s investment in SPACEWAY since the ultimate disposition of this investment differed from its original intended purpose. As of
September 30, 2004, DTV Networks had a capitalized value of $1,552.7 million for SPACEWAY of which $11.2 million represented capitalized
software development costs, and the remainder was included in property as construction in progress. Based upon an independent valuation and
analysis, DTVG determined that the fair value of the satellites, support equipment, and other satellite related costs to be transferred to DIRECTV
was $308.0 million. DTVG determined that the fair value of the remaining SPACEWAY assets, including the third SPACEWAY satellite

( SW3 ), was $85.0 million, based upon an analysis of the alternative disposition opportunities available to DTVG. Previously capitalized costs in
excess of these fair value amounts totaling $1,217.7 million were recognized as a SPACEWAY impairment provision in the third quarter of

2004. DTVG also determined that, given the uncertainty of recovery of any additional capitalized costs relating to SPACEWAY in a potential

sale or other disposition, all subsequent spending on the SPACEWAY program would be expensed as incurred, other than costs directly related

to the construction and launch of SW3. DTVG also assumed responsibility for the satellite manufacturing contract with Boeing covering all

three of the satellites. The portion of the satellite manufacturing contract relating to SW3, including Boeing s obligation to complete construction
of SW3 for an additional $49.0 million, was assigned to HNS upon the closing of the April 2005 Transaction. Of this $49.0 million,

$17.0 million was paid during the year ended December 31, 2005, and the Company expects to pay $22.0 of the balance in 2006 and the

remainder in 2007. Additionally the Company has entered into commitments with two companies totaling $73.7 million related to launch and
launch operations services. Of this amount $22.2 million was paid in 2005 and based on the expected launch of SPACEWAY 3 in early 2007,

the Company expects to pay $47.5 million in 2006 and $4.0 million in 2007.

Note 15: Restructuring Costs

In the periods April 23, 2005 through December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 through April 22, 2005, and the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003, HNS recognized restructuring costs of $1.4 million, $1.6 million, $11.0 million, and $4.1 million, respectively, principally attributable
to employee headcount reductions; and in 2005, the decision to close one of the Company s network operations centers related to SPACEWAY
which resulted in charges for the cancellation of equipment leases. Restructuring costs recognized related principally to HNS domestic
operations and affected approximately 1%, 9%, and 7% of the then existing headcount in each of the period January 1, 2005 through April 22,
2005 and the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Severance costs per employee were greater in 2004 due to enhanced
severance benefit programs resulting from the News Corporation transaction described in Note 17. These restructuring activities were primarily
taken as cost reduction and downsizing actions intended to respond to market conditions in the principal markets served by the Company.
Additionally, in 2004, the realignment of the SPACEWAY program in the third quarter of 2004 contributed to the need for additional
downsizing adjustments. In connection with the April 2005 Transaction, the Company relocated certain employees and operations in order to
vacate certain leased facilities and the lease obligations on those facilities remained with DTVG following the closing of the April 2005
Transaction. Restructuring costs of $1.4 million in the period April 23, 2005 through December 31, 2005 $1.6 million in the period January 1,
2005 through April 22, 2005, $7.8 million in 2004, and $1.6 million in 2003 were charged to the VSAT Business segment, and the remainder,
$3.2 million in 2004 and $2.5 million in 2003, were charged to the Telecom Systems segment described in Note 18.
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Note 16: Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consisted of the following:

Equity in earnings (losses) of affiliates

Minority interests share of subsidiary losses (earnings)
Interest income

Gain on sale of real estate

Foreign income tax expense

Other

Total Other Income (Expense), Net

Note 17: Transactions with Related-Parties

Successor

April 23, 2005
December 31, 2005

$ 23
366
2,813

(693)
198

$ 2,707

Predecessor
January 1, 2005 Years ended
April 22, December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands)
$ 34 $ $ (1,298)
231 (64) (678)
102 772 1,000
5,805
(180) (32) 2,199)
$ 187 $6,481 $ (3,175)

In the ordinary course of its operations, the Company enters into transactions with related parties to purchase and/or sell telecommunications
services, advertising, equipment, and inventory. In addition, as further described below, the Company purchased certain management services
from SkyTerra. Related parties include News Corporation, who become a related party on December 23, 2003 when it purchased a minority
interest in DTVG from General Motors Corporation ( GM ) and its affiliates; DTVG and its affiliates; and subsequent to the April 2005
Transaction, SkyTerra, Apollo Management, L.P. (an affiliate of SkyTerra and HCI), and their affiliates. In addition, related parties include GM,
which through December 22, 2003, was the 100% owner of DTVG. In connection with the January 2006 Transaction, News Corporation and its
affiliates, including DTVG and its affiliates, cease to be related parties.
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As discussed in Note 4, DTV Networks participated in the cash management program of DTVG prior to the April 2005 Transaction. As such,
DTVG was responsible for funding the working capital and capital expenditures of DTV Networks, as well as providing certain corporate
services for which there were no analogous functions performed at DTV Networks. DTVG also administered and maintained certain employee
retirement and stock option programs in which DTV Networks employees participated and for which DTV Networks was charged its allocable
share of the related costs. Upon the closing of the April 2005 Transaction, the Company s participation in the programs administered by DTVG
ceased and the Company established its own cash management program, employee benefits program, and service organizations to provide for
the functions that DTVG provided prior to the closing. Amounts due to DTVG for providing the preceding services, including funding HNS
working capital and capital expenditures, were recorded as contributions within equity. The balances included in equity had no formal
repayment terms or interest requirements. Other net cash contributions from parent shown in the table below represent the net funding for
working capital and operational needs of the Company. It is not practical for the Company to calculate the average net cumulative cash
contributions from DTVG as a result of the daily nature of the transfers to and from DTVG under the cash management program. The following
represents an analysis of changes in Predecessor equity:

Predecessor
January 1, 2005 Years ended December 31,
April 22,
2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands)
Equity, beginning of period $ 267,044 $ 1,956,099 $1,913,619
Net loss before allocation of costs from parent (11,225) (1,397,619) (115,559)
Allocation of costs from parent (11,298) (35,865) (41,467)
Property transferred to parent (308,000)
Cash paid for intercompany purchases (15,740) (81,944) (99,970)
Cash received for intercompany revenues 1,198 3,611 6,408
Other net cash (distributions to) contributions from parent (94,326) 130,762 293,068
Equity, end of period $ 135,653 $ 267,044 $ 1,956,099

Transactions between the Company and DTVG other than those related to HNS  participation in the centralized cash management system of
DTVG as well as to DTVG s provision of certain corporate services to HNS are included in the amount due to related parties in the table below.
As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the balance due to DTVG of $25.0 million and $20.3 million, respectively, consisted of amounts due to
DTVG for restricted cash of HNS funded by DTVG which HNS must repay to DTVG, HNS investment in common stock of an unconsolidated
affiliate (see Note 19), and purchases of advertising sales from DTVG, partially offset by amounts due to HNS by DTVG for services performed
by HNS for DTVG.

Under the terms of the December 2004 Agreement, DTVG retained the responsibility for all pre-closing tax obligations of DTV Networks and
HNS, as well as obligations related to certain pending litigation and facilities leases for property that the Company had vacated. DTVG also
liquidated all capital lease debt and all foreign indebtedness outstanding at such time and remained liable for its indemnities to third parties
relating to the VSAT hardware financing borrowings. The Company has indemnified DTVG for any losses relating to the VSAT hardware
financings.

Pursuant to the LLC Agreement, during the three year period subsequent to the April 2005 Transaction, the Company will pay SkyTerra or its
successor a quarterly management fee of $0.3 million for services to be rendered by SkyTerra or its successor in its capacity as the Managing
Member.
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In connection with the closing of the January 2006 Transaction, the parties to the November 2005 Agreement entered into agreements governing
certain relationships between and among the parties after the closing. Such agreements include the modification and/or termination of certain

prior agreements between and among the parties, including:

amending certain provisions of the December 2004 Agreement to accelerate the expiration of certain representations and warranties

made by DTV Networks in connection with that agreement;

terminating an investor rights agreement in connection with the December 2004 Agreement pursuant to which, among other
covenants, SkyTerra and DTV Networks agreed to limit the transferability of the Class A membership interests and HNS granted
SkyTerra and DTV Networks public offering registration rights; and

amending the Advertising and Marketing Support Agreement, pursuant to which affiliates of DTV Networks provided HNS with

discounted advertising costs.

The following table summarizes sales and purchase transactions with related parties, including the allocation of the cost of employee benefits

from DTVG and its subsidiaries or affiliates:

Sales
DTVG and affiliates
SkyTerra, HCI, and affiliates

Total

Purchases
DTVG and affiliates
SkyTerra, HCI, and affiliates

Total

Successor Predecessor
Years Ended
January 1, 2005
April 23, 2005 April 22, December 31,
December 31, 2005 2005 2004 2003

(Dollars in Thousands)

$ 10,669 $ 1,198 $ 3,611 $ 5,936
1,795

$ 12,464 $ 1,198 $ 3,611 $ 5,936

$ 6,135 $ 16,049 $ 78,826 $ 103,485
15,451

$21,586 $ 16,049 $78,826 $ 103,485

The following table sets forth the amount of assets and liabilities resulting from transactions with related parties:

Due from related parties
DTVG and affiliates
SkyTerra, HCI, and affiliates

Successor Predecessor
At December 31,
2005 2004

(Dollars in Thousands)

$ 200 $ 255
508
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Total

Due to related parties
DTVG and affiliates
SkyTerra, HCI, and affiliates

Total

149

$ 714

$ 25,179
2,748

$27,927

$

$

255

20,562

20,562
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Note 18: Segment and Geographical Data

HNS operates in two business segments consisting of the VSAT segment (including SPACEWAY), which provides satellite-based private
business networks and broadband Internet access to consumers, and the Telecom Systems segment consisting of the Company s mobile satellite
communications business unit, its terrestrial carrier network services business unit, and the HNS corporate office.

Selected financial information for HNS operating segments follows:

VSAT
Telecom
Business Systems Total
(Dollars in Thousands)
April 23,2005 December 31, 2005
Successor
Revenues $ 538,622 $ 44,846 $ 583,468
Segment operating income 56,815 9,793 66,608
Depreciation and amortization 27,078 131 27,209
Segment assets 590,192 166,332 756,524
Capital expenditures 64,228 2,337 66,565
January 1, 2005 April 22, 2005

Predecessor
Revenues $ 199,698 $ 23,743 $ 223441
Segment operating (loss) income (23,526) 2,447 (21,079)
Depreciation and amortization 13,703 31 13,734
Segment assets 516,670 185,974 702,644
Capital expenditures 25,339 846 26,185

2004

Predecessor
Revenues $ 696,693 $ 92,657 $ 789,350
Segment operating (loss) income (1,407,574) (24,925) (1,432,499)
Depreciation and amortization 91,027 5,946 96,973
Segment assets 486,266 100,618 586,884
Capital expenditures 131,834 6,997 138,831

2003

Predecessor
Revenues $ 665,623 $ 85,525 $ 751,148
Segment operating (loss) income (123,189) (18,465) (141,654)
Depreciation and amortization 88,130 6,709 94,839
Segment assets 2,150,252 166,688 2,316,940
Capital expenditures 204,220 11,309 215,529
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Revenues by geographic area are summarized below based upon the location of the customer:

North America

Europe

South America and the Caribbean
Africa, Asia, and the Middle East

Total Revenues

Individual countries with significant revenues are as follows:

United States
India
Net property grouped by physical locations is as follows:

North America
United States
Canada and Mexico

Total North America

Europe
South America and the Caribbean
Africa, Asia, and the Middle East

Total Net Property
Note 19: Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

Successor Predecessor
January 1, 2005 Years ended
December 31,
April 23, 2005 April 22,
December 31, 2005 2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands)
$ 411,406 $ 163,953 $ 538,822 $ 506,823
78,731 17,212 106,577 89,503
14,239 4,133 16,052 16,354
79,092 38,143 127,899 138,468
$ 583,468 $ 223,441 $ 789,350 $ 751,148
Successor Predecessor
January 1, 2005 Years ended
April 23, 2005 December 31,
April 22,
December 31, 2005 2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands)
$ 385,706 $ 161,805 $ 526,054 $ 501,390
35,499 12,483 31,955 40,151
Successor Predecessor
At December 31,
2005 2004

(Dollars in thousands)

$245,412 $ 212,992

10
245,422 212,992
5,448 8,048

490
8,218 5,704

$259,578 $ 226,744
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Litigation is subject to uncertainties, and the outcome of individual litigated matters is not predictable with assurance. Various legal actions,
claims, and proceedings, including disputes with customers, are pending against HNS arising in the ordinary course of business. HNS has a
policy of establishing loss provisions for matters in which losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated. Some of the matters may involve
compensatory, punitive, or treble damage claims, or sanctions, that if granted, could require HNS to pay damages or make other expenditures in
amounts that could not be estimated at December 31, 2005.
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In 2002, the Department of Revenue Intelligence, or DRI, in India initiated an action against a former affiliate and customer of the Company,
Hughes Tele.com (India) Ltd., or HTIL, relating to alleged underpayment of customs duty and misclassification of import codes. The DRI action
was also directed against the Company and other HTIL suppliers whose shipments are the focus of that action. HTIL, renamed Tata Teleservices
(Maharashtra) Ltd., or TTML, after the Tata Group purchased HNS equity interest in December 2003, is the principal party of interest in this
action. The Company, together with the other named suppliers, are potentially liable for penalties in an amount of up to five times the
underpayment of duty if HNS is found to have aided HTIL in avoiding duty. In connection with HNS sale to the Tata Group, the Company did
not indemnify TTML in relation to its own potential liability in this matter. Currently, the parties have filed replies to the DRI s allegations and
are engaged in a series of hearings to resolve the matter before a forum known as the Settlement Commission.

Following a voluntary disclosure by DTVG and DTV Networks in June 2004, DTVG and DTV Networks entered into a consent agreement (the

Consent Agreement ) with the US Department of State in January 2005 regarding alleged violations of the International Traffic in Arms
regulations involving exports of technology related to the VSAT business primarily to China. As part of the Consent Agreement, which applies
to the Company, one of the Company s subsidiaries was debarred from conducting certain international business. The Company is now eligible to
seek reinstatement and intends to do so in the near future. In addition, the Company is required to enhance its export compliance program to
avoid future infractions. As a result of its voluntary disclosure and the Consent Agreement, the Company is currently unable to perform its
obligations under certain contracts with certain customers in China and Korea addressed by the Consent Agreement, and if ultimately unable to
perform, the Company may be liable for certain damages of up to $5.0 million as a result of its non-performance. In November 2005, the
Company received notice that one of these customers in China had filed a demand for arbitration with the International Center for Dispute
Resolution, a division of the American Arbitration Association. The arbitration is currently stayed pending non-binding mediation, which is
expected to be concluded in the first half of 2006.

On April 19, 2005, the Company settled a lawsuit with Helius, Inc. in which Helius had alleged patent infringement. As a result of the
settlement, the Company recognized a charge of $1.8 million in the period January 1, 2005 to April 22, 2005 and was granted a license under the
allegedly infringed patents. In addition, Helius released the Company from all claims relating thereto.

After discussion with counsel representing the Company in the actions described above, it is the opinion of management that such litigation is
not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company s results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

Product Warranties

The Company warrants its hardware products for up to fifteen months following the date of installation. A large portion of its enterprise
customers enter into maintenance agreements under which the company recognizes revenue for providing maintenance services that prolong the
life and effectiveness of the installed hardware, thus minimizing the potential for warranty claims or repairs. Warranty reserves are determined
based on historical warranty repair experience and an assessment of the number of units remaining under warranty coverage. Long-term
contracts for the sale of wireless communications systems may include contractual provisions relating to warranty coverage for fixed terms
generally not exceeding five years. Warranty provisions for these contracts are included in the determination of overall contract costs and
earnings, based on management s estimates of the cost of the related coverage. Accrued contract warranty costs are reviewed and adjusted, as
appropriate, over the term of the contractual warranty period.
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Changes in the accrued warranty costs were as follows:

Leases

The Company has noncancelable operating leases having lease terms in excess of one year, primarily for real property. Future minimum

Balance at beginning of period
Warranty cost accrual
Warranty costs incurred

Balance at end of period

Successor

April 23, 2005

December 31, 2005
$ 4,501

2,069
(2,516)

$ 4,054

Predecessor
January 1, 2005
April 22, Year ended
2005 December 31, 2004
(Dollars in thousands)
$ 3,833 $ 3,607
1,887 3,865
(1,219) (3,639)
$ 4,501 $ 3,833

payments under such leases consisted of the following at December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,
2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Thereafter

Total Minimum Lease Payments

$ 5,560
2,395
1,725
1,159

560
566

$ 11,965

Rental expenses under operating leases, net of sublease income, were $10.3 million for the period April 23, 2005 through December 31, 2005,
$6.2 million for the period January 1, 2005 through April 22, 2005, $33.5 million in 2004, and $38.8 million in 2003.

The Company has noncancelable vendor obligations for acquisition of space segment. Future minimum payments under such leases consisted of
the following at December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,
2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Thereafter

Total Minimum Lease Payments

$ 136,598
93,814
63,173
35,896
25,402
54,320

$409,203
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Rental expenses under operating leases for space segment were $94.0 million for the period April 23, 2005 through December 31, 2005, $42.0
million for the period January 1, 2005 through April 22, 2005, $133.3 million in 2004, and $122.0 million in 2003.

Other

The Company is contingently liable under standby letters of credit and bonds in the aggregate amount of $26.9 million that were undrawn at
December 31, 2005. Of this amount, $12.1 million were issued under the $50.0 million revolving credit facility (see Note 11), $4.9 million were
secured by restricted cash (see Note 4), and the balance was secured by letters of credit issued under credit arrangements available to the
Company s
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Indian subsidiaries. Certain of the letters of credit issued by the Company s Indian subsidiaries are secured by those entities assets. These
obligations expire as follows: $10.5 million in 2006, $2.0 million in 2007, $1.6 million in 2008, $6.6 million in 2009, and $6.2 million
thereafter.

In connection with the prior disposition by DTV Networks of a subsidiary that was an affiliate of the Company, the Company entered into a
services contract under which it agreed to procure a minimum amount of services from the former subsidiary over a two year period ending
March 31, 2007. The minimum total amount to be procured under the agreement is $23.8 million, of which $9.8 million has been incurred as of
December 31, 2005 and $14.0 million remains to be procured as of that date. The Company has determined that it will not purchase the level of
services contractually required and as of December 31, 2005 has recorded a liability of $2.8 million to satisfy this purchase commitment.

Pursuant to the terms of the December 2004 Agreement, HNS has limited rights with respect to its investment in common stock of an
unconsolidated affiliate carried in other assets in the balance sheets. Among other things, HNS may not pledge or otherwise encumber these
shares, and while it may sell the shares to an unaffiliated third party, it must deliver the net proceeds from such sale to DTVG. The shares must
be returned to DTVG within three years of the closing of the April 2005 Transaction unless a qualifying disposition of the shares has occurred.
Accordingly, at December 31, 2005, HNS has recorded a liability in due to affiliates long-term in the balance sheet for the amount of

$8.9 million for this investment.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
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Name: Jeffrey A. Leddy
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